University of New Hampshire University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

Doctoral Dissertations

Student Scholarship

Spring 2020

Effects of Rumen-protected Amino Acids and Levels and Sources of Energy on Milk Production and Nutrient Utilization in Dairy **Cattle Fed Metabolizable Protein-deficient Diets**

Yu Zang University of New Hampshire, Durham

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation

Recommended Citation

Zang, Yu, "Effects of Rumen-protected Amino Acids and Levels and Sources of Energy on Milk Production and Nutrient Utilization in Dairy Cattle Fed Metabolizable Protein-deficient Diets" (2020). Doctoral Dissertations. 2523.

https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation/2523

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact nicole.hentz@unh.edu.

Effects of Rumen-protected Amino Acids and Levels and Sources of Energy on Milk Production and Nutrient Utilization in Dairy Cattle Fed Metabolizable Protein-deficient Diets

By

Yu (Patrick) Zang

Bachelor's Degree, University of Kentucky, 2014

Master's Degree, West Virginia University, 2016

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the University of New Hampshire

in Partial Fulfillment of

the Requirements of the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Agricultural Sciences

May, 2020

This dissertation was examined and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy in Agricultural Sciences by:

Dissertation Director, André F. Brito, Associate Professor (Dairy Cattle Nutrition & Management)

Peter S. Erickson, Professor (Dairy Calf and Heifer Nutrition)
Paul J. Kononoff, Professor (Dairy Nutrition), University of Nebraska-Lincoln
Chanhee Lee, Assistant Professor (Dairy Nutrition), The Ohio State University
Nancy L. Whitehouse, Research Assistant Professor (Protein & Amino Acids)

On [April 17, 2020]

Approval signatures are on file with the University of New Hampshire Graduate School.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. André F. Brito for the opportunity to conduct dairy experiments in his laboratory and his guidance throughout my PhD program at the University of New Hampshire. The experiences that Dr. Brito has provided me are crucial for the development of my abilities as a scientific researcher. His patience and kindness provided me a relaxed environment to learn and explore knowledge over the last four years.

Second, I want to thank Dr. Nancy L. Whitehouse for all her guidance in the laboratory and at the farm. Thank you, Dr. Peter S. Erickson, Dr. Chanhee Lee, and Dr. Paul J. Kononoff for serving on my graduate guidance and dissertation committees and providing me with valuable advice for current and future work.

Third, I would like to thank all the members of the Brito lab: Dr. Luiz Silva, Dr. Yucong Geng, Maichel Lange, Rodrigo Tinini, and Jessica Gabi. Their friendship, support, and teamwork have helped me greatly at the UNH. The memories created with them are enjoyable and will be remembered forever. I am grateful to all the undergraduate students Ashley Bonnette, Marissa Prizio, Bronte Elias, Jiyoon Park, Alexia Gianoulis, Alyssa Body, Amanda Patev, Cassandra Sleboda, Nicole Dattolico for their assistance during the experiments. I thank the staff members, especially Jon Whitehouse at UNH Fairchild Dairy Teaching and Research Center for their personal help, as well as their technical support.

Lastly, my appreciation goes to my families include my wife Wei Jiang, my parents-inlaw, and parents. Without their great support and understanding, I would not have enjoyed these four years' experience at the UNH.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
ABSTRACT	xii

CHAPTER PAGE CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW......1

CHAPTER II: INCREMENTAL AMOUNTS OF RUMEN PROTECTED-HISTIDINE INCREASE PLASMA AND MUSCLE HISTIDINE CONCENTRATIONS AND MILK PROTEIN YIELD IN DAIRY COWS FED A METABOLIZABLE PROTEIN-DEFICIENT	
DIET	33
ABSTRACT	34
INTRODUCTION	36
MATERIALS AND METHODS	38
Cows, Experimental Design, and Treatments	38
Feed Sampling and Analyses	40
Blood and Muscle Sampling and Analyses	41
Fecal and Urinary Sampling and Analyses	42
Milk Sampling and Analyses	44
Statistical Analyses	44
RESULTS	46
Plasma AA and His-Containing Metabolites	46
Muscle AA Profile and His-containing Dipeptides	47
Nutrient Digestibility and Urinary N Excretion	47
Intake and Milk Yield and Composition	48
Temporal Changes of Plasma and Muscle His and His-containing Metabolites	49
DISCUSSION	49
CONCLUSIONS	58
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	59
REFERENCES	59
CHAPTER III: INTERRELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN DIETARY STARCH LEVEL AND RUMEN-PROTECTED METHIONINE, LYSINE AND HISTIDINE ON MILK PRODUCTION AND NUTRIENT UTILIZATION IN DAIRY COWS FED	07
A DETD A CT	8/
	88
	90
MATERIALS AND METHODS	92
Cows, Experimental Design, and Treatments	92
Feed Sampling and Analyses	94
Milk and Blood Sampling and Analyses	95
Fecal and Urinary Sampling and Analyses	96

	Measurements of Gaseous Fluxes	
	Calculations and Statistical Analyses	
	RESULTS	
	Intake and Milk Yield and Composition	100
	Plasma AA and His-containing Metabolites	101
	Nutrient Digestibility and Urinary N Excretion	
	Gaseous Emissions	103
	Dietary Energy Utilization	103
	DISCUSSION	104
	Intake, Milk Yield, and PUN	105
	Plasma Concentration of AA	108
	Nutrient Digestibility and Urine Excretion of Nitrogenous Metabolites	109
	Gaseous Production and Energy Utilization	110
	CONCLUSIONS	111
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
	REFERENCES	113
(CHAPTER IV: DIETARY ENERGY SOURCE AND RUMEN-PROTECTED AM	INO ACIDS:
]	EFFECT ON MILK YIELD AND NUTRIENT UTILIZATION IN LACTATING	DAIRY
		12)
	INTRODUCTION	130
	MATERIALS AND METHODS	134
	Animals Experimental Design and Treatments	134
	Feed Sampling and Analyses	136
	Milk and Blood Sampling and Analyses	130
	Fecal and Urinary Sampling and Analyses	138
	Measurements of Gaseous Fluxes	139
	Calculations and Statistical Analyses	140
	RESULTS	141
	Intake and Milk Yield and Composition	142
	Plasma AA and Carnosine	143
	Nutrient Digestibility and Urinary N Excretion	
	Gaseous Emissions	

DISCUSSION	145
Intake, Milk Yield, and PUN	146
Plasma Concentration of AA	
Digestibility of Nutrients and Urinary Excretion of Nitrogenous Metabolites	150
Gaseous Fluxes	151
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	153
APPENDIX I: THE IACUC APPROVAL FOR CHAPTER II	
APPENDIX II: THE IACUC APPROVAL FOR CHAPTER III	
APPENDIX III: THE IACUC APPROVAL FOR CHAPTER IV	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Nutrient composition of dietary ingredients (mean ± SD) used in the experimentaldiets (% of DM, unless otherwise noted)
Table 2.2. Amino acid composition of dietary ingredients used in the experimental diets (n = 1 composited sample/feedstuff) 65
Table 2.3. Ingredient and nutrient composition (% of DM, unless otherwise noted) of the basal diet used in the experimental treatments
Table 2.4. NRC (2001) evaluation of the experimental diets containing incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹
Table 2.5. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid-lactation dairycows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 4 of eachexperimental period ² 68
Table 2.6. Muscle concentrations of AA and His-containing dipeptides in mid-lactation dairycows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 4 of eachexperimental period ² 70
Table 2.7. Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous compounds in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amount of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 4 of each experimental period ²
Table 2.8. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 4 of each experimental period ²
Supplemental Table S2.1. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid- lactation dairy cows in fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 1 of each experimental period ²
Supplemental Table S2.2. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid- lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 2 of each experimental period ²
Supplemental Table S2.3. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid- lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 3 of each experimental period ²
Supplemental Table S2.4. Muscle concentrations of AA and His-containing dipeptides in mid- lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 2 of each experimental period ²
Supplemental Table S2.5. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid- lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 1 of each experimental period ²

Supplemental Table S2.6. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 2 of each experimental period ²
Supplemental Table S2.7. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid- lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His) ¹ during wk 3 of each experimental period ²
Table 3.1. Nutrient composition of dietary ingredients (mean ± SD) used in the experimentaldiets (% of DM, unless otherwise noted)
Table 3.2. Amino acid composition of dietary ingredients used in the experimental diets (n = 1composited sample per feedstuff)118
Table 3.3. Ingredient and nutritional composition (% of DM, unless otherwise noted) of the experimental diets 119
Table 3.4. NRC (2001) evaluation of experimental diets with high versus reduced starch levels supplemented with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH ¹) 120
Table 3.5. Dry matter intake, milk yield and composition, plasma urea N (PUN), blood hemoglobin (Hb), BCS, and BW in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH ¹)
Table 3.6. Concentrations of plasma AA and His-containing metabolites in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH ¹)
Table 3.7. Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous compounds in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH ¹)
Table 3.8. Emissions of carbon dioxide (CO2) and methane (CH4) ¹ in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH ²)
Table 3.9. Dietary energy estimations and milk energy efficiencies in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH ¹)
Table 4.1. Nutrient composition of dietary ingredients (mean ± SD) used in the experimentaldiets (% of DM, unless otherwise noted)
Table 4.2. Amino acid composition of dietary ingredients used in the experimental diets (n = 1composited sample per feedstuff)158
Table 4.3. Ingredient and nutrient composition (% of DM, unless otherwise noted) of theexperimental diets159

LIST OF FIGURES

ABSTRACT

Lactating dairy cows are characterized by poor N efficiency and dietary N not captured in milk protein is excreted in urine and feces, which then contribute to environmental N pollution. Nitrogen losses also shrink profit margins for dairy producers due to costly protein sources. Additionally, the dairy industry is an important anthropogenic source of greenhouse gases such as CO₂ and CH₄, with CH₄ representing a potent greenhouse gas and non-negligible energy losses in dairy cattle. Thus, my PhD program has focused on developing nutrition-based approaches to improve milk production efficiency (e.g., milk yield/dry matter intake) and reduce N excretion and greenhouse gas emissions from dairy cattle. Three experiments were conducted on lactating Holstein cows to investigate the effects of rumen protected AA and levels and sources of energy on milk production and nutrient utilization in dairy cows fed low protein diets. Dairy rations with high energy (≥ 1.60 Mcal of net energy of lactation/kg) and low protein (\leq 16% crude protein) concentrations have been shown to increase milk production and feed efficiency and decrease urinary N excretion and CH₄ emissions. We also discovered that feeding low protein dairy diets ($\leq 16\%$ crude protein) with fibrous byproducts and RP-fat as replacements for ground corn further enhanced milk production efficiency and milk fat yield without contributing more CO₂ and CH₄ to the environment. Furthermore, supplementation with rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His had limited effects on milk production and nutrient utilization in dairy cows fed low protein diets. These findings mean that farmers may feed cows diets high in fat and low in protein to achieve gains in profit margin and production efficiency. Further research is still needed to compare high protein ($\geq 17\%$ crude protein) diets and high fat, low protein diets on production performance and balance of N and energy in lactating dairy cows.

xii

CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW

Utilization of Nitrogen in Dairy Cattle

Dietary protein (N) can be classified into RDP and RUP: RDP is utilized by ruminal microorganisms to synthesize microbial protein, whereas RUP pass through without ruminal degradation (NRC, 2001). Ruminal synthesized microbial protein, RUP and endogenous N contribute to duodenal N flow, and are then digested and absorbed by the small intestine (NRC, 2001). Free AA and ammonia not utilized by gut tissues enter the circulatory system and go to the liver via hepatic portal vein (Lapierre et al., 2005, 2006). In the liver, AA are either used for production of glucose and protein or pass through the liver without any modifications (Lapierre et al., 2005). After leaving the liver, AA are transported to peripheral tissues including the mammary gland for milk protein synthesis and muscle tissues for muscle replenishment (Wang et al., 2019).

Nitrogen Sources in Diets

Dietary protein is often expressed as CP, which includes true protein and NPN. Dietary CP concentration is determined by multiplying the N content of feeds by 6.25 because the average N content of protein is 16% (NRC, 2001). True protein based on solubility has been classified into globular proteins (e.g., albumins, globulins, glutelins, prolamines, and histones) and fibrous proteins (e.g., collagens, elastins, and keratins), and some examples of NPN are peptides, free AA, nucleic acids, nitrates, amines, and ammonia (NRC, 2001). According to NRC (2001), the main protein sources are plant-based products including soybean meal (~44 or 48% CP), canola meal (~38% CP), corn gluten meal (~40 or 60% CP), corn distillers grains with solubles (~30% CP), and brewers' grain (~29% CP). High quality forages contain high concentrations of CP: alfalfa silages provide more than 20% CP and grass silages supply approximately 17% CP on a DM basis (NRC, 2001; Schwab and Broderick, 2017), and the CP

content of pastures ranges from 12 to 18% CP on a DM basis depending on pasture forages, grazing time and rainfall (Pembleton et al., 2016). The NRC (2001) demonstrates that animal-based protein feeds contain high levels of CP (DM basis): fish meal (~71% CP), feather meal (~92% CP), and blood meal (~95% CP); however, only small amounts of them (< 1 kg per cow per day) can be included in dairy diets (Shaver, 2005).

Microbial Protein Synthesis in the Rumen

Rumen degradable protein such as peptides, free AA, and ammonia can be utilized by ruminal microorganisms to synthesize microbial protein, which represents 50 to 80% of the protein flowing to the small intestine (Storm and Ørskov, 1983). The remaining protein sources leaving the rumen are RUP and endogenous protein (NRC, 2001). Moreover, ruminally synthesized microbial protein is known as a good quality protein due to its high apparent digestibility and balanced AA profile, and the EAA composition of microbial protein is similar to that of milk and lean body tissue (Schwab and Broderick, 2017). As mentioned by Schwab and Broderick (2017), at least 200 species of bacteria, more than 20 species of protozoa, and over 12 species of fungi have been established in the rumen.

Bacteria are the most abundant microorganisms in the rumen (10¹⁰⁻¹¹/mL) and more than 40% of isolated species are capable of synthesizing proteases (Wallace, 1996; Schwab and Broderick, 2017). Approximately 10% of ruminal bacteria exhibiting proteolytic activity can release proteases into the rumen (Broderick, 1998), and the remainder are associated with cell-bound microbial proteases (Kopecny and Wallace, 1982). Thus, ruminal bacteria are first attached to feed particles and then degrade dietary protein into peptides and AA (Brock et al., 1982). Peptides and AA derived from bacterial-surface proteolysis activity are transported inside

bacteria where peptides can be further degraded by peptidases into AA. Next, AA inside bacteria are either used to synthesize microbial protein or deaminated to VFA, CO₂, and ammonia (Tamminga, 1979), whose fates are influenced by availability of ruminally fermentable energy. Compared to bacteria, protozoa are less abundant ruminal microorganisms (10⁵⁻⁶/mL) and represent about 40% of ruminal microbial biomass by utilization of dietary fibrous and nonfibrous carbohydrates and protein (Russell and Rychlik, 2001; Schwab and Broderick, 2017). The substrates ingested by protozoa include bacteria, fungi, and small feed particles, and are degraded into peptides and AA, which are used for synthesis of protozoal protein (NRC, 2001). However, over 65% of protozoal protein remains in the rumen (Punia et al., 1992) so that protozoal protein only accounts for 10 to 30% of microbial protein in the small intestine (Shabi et al., 2000; Sylvester et al., 2005). Ruminal fungi (10³⁻⁴/mL) play a limited role in microbial protein synthesis partly due to their low concentrations (Schwab and Broderick, 2017). According to Faichney et al. (1997), the anaerobic fungi only accounts for 1.1 to 3.5% of microbial protein in the small intestine.

Microbial protein synthesis in the rumen can be impacted by types and amounts of carbohydrates (Sannes et al., 2002; Zhu et al., 2013). Carbohydrates are sources of carbon skeletons and energy, and nonfibrous carbohydrates such as starch and sugars are more effective in stimulating microbial protein synthesis than fibrous carbohydrates such as cellulose and hemicellulose (Voelker and Allen, 2003). It is widely recognized that ruminal fermentation rate of nonstructural carbohydrates is faster than that of structural carbohydrates (NRC, 2001). Amylolytic microbes degrading starch can utilize ammonia, peptides, and AA as N sources to synthesize microbial protein whereas cellulolytic bacteria that degrade structural carbohydrates mainly use ammonia as their N source (Russell et al., 1992). Additionally, compared with

ammonia, preformed AA such as free AA and peptides can promote microbial protein synthesis and fiber digestion in the rumen (Carro and Miller, 1999; Brito et al., 2007). Optimal microbial growth in pH-controlled culture fermenters was obtained when dietary NFC to RDP ratio was equal to 2:1 (Hoover and Stokes, 1991); however, the optimum ratio between NFC and ammonia N has not been identified in vivo. Moreover, synchronization of ruminal degradation between carbohydrates and protein is an important factor to determine efficiency of microbial protein synthesis (Cabrita et al., 2006). Conversely, Reynolds and Kristensen (2008) has concluded that urea recycling to the rumen alleviates the effect of asynchronous N and energy supply on microbial protein synthesis. Overall, ruminal microbial protein synthesis can be impacted by many factors including solubility and structure of protein, passage rate, ruminal pH and substrate, and nutrient interaction (Bach et al., 2015).

Protein Digestion and Absorption in the Gastrointestinal Tract

Rumen microbial protein, RUP and endogenous protein are the 3 protein sources flowing to the small intestine (NRC, 2001). Endogenous protein consists of saliva, sloughed epithelial cells and the remains of lysed ruminal microorganisms (NRC, 2001). Microbial protein accounts for from 50 to 80% of the protein entering the small intestine and is characterized by high intestinal digestibility and decent EAA profile that is similar to that of milk (Schwab and Broderick, 2017). The contribution of dietary RUP to protein in the small intestine can be impacted by the ingredient composition of the diet (NRC, 2001). Endogenous protein represents from 8 to 16% of the protein in the duodenum (Reynolds, 2005; Lapierre et al., 2006). Overall, the proportion of each fraction is dependent on the nutrition and ingredient composition of diets, ruminal environment and feed intake, and can be varied greatly.

According to NRC (2001), microbial protein yield can be calculated as 0.13 × TDN when RDP intake is more than 1.18 × microbial protein yield and as 0.85 × RDP when RDP intake is less than 1.18 × TDN-estimated microbial protein yield. Approximately 80% of microbial protein is true protein that is assumed to have 80% intestinal digestibility, with the remaining 20% of microbial protein composed of nucleic acid (NRC, 2001). Therefore, approximately 64% of microbial protein can be converted to MP in the small intestine. The intestinal digestibility of RUP has been measured using the mobile bag technique and can range from 50 to 100% depending on individual feeds (NRC, 2001). The proportion of RUP converted to MP is influenced by dietary ingredients. Moreover, 50% of endogenous N (g/d) calculated by multiplying DMI (kg/d) by 1.9 is considered as true protein and the intestinal digestibility of endogenous true protein is 80% (NRC, 2001). Thus, approximately 40% of endogenous protein is converted to MP in the duodenum.

Around 65% of AA derived from MP is transported to the blood mainly due to oxidation of AA in epithelial cells of the small intestine (Lapierre et al., 2005). Large variations in intestinal utilization exist among AA, with higher values for Leu, Thr, and some NEAA including Glu and Asp (Berthiaume et al., 2001). For instance, about 16-24% of intestinal Leu was oxidized in cells of gut tissues (Lapierre et al., 1999).

Metabolism of AA in the Liver

After being absorbed by the small intestine and transported to the portal vein, AA are extracted by the liver and then transported to peripheral tissues. The liver plays an central role in homeostasis of AA, and there are up to 2,000 L of blood passing through the liver each hour in dairy cows (Reynolds et al., 1988). Approximately 45% of portal absorbed AA were removed by

the liver, ranging from 16 to 69% among individual AA (Lapierre et al., 2005). There are 2 pathways for AA cleared by the liver: 1) being utilized to synthesize glucose (mainly from NEAA) and proteins (e.g., plasma export proteins), and 2) being deaminated to produce urea. The remaining AA pass through the liver without any modifications and are transported to peripheral tissues. Lapierre et al. (2005) demonstrated that the hepatic removal was low for Leu, Ile, Val and Lys, high for His (~36%), Met (~38%), and Phe (49%), and moderate for Thr (~25%). These variations in hepatic removal of EAA may be a result of differential hepatic affinities for EAA in dairy cows (Hanigan, 2005). Furthermore, hepatic removal was higher for total NEAA compared with total EAA, which may be explained by the theory that EAA would be prioritized to be used by the mammary gland (Doepel et al., 2009).

Hepatic AA removal has been shown to be associated with total liver input of AA determined by both blood AA concentrations and blood flow (Hanigan, 2005). Specifically, Hanigan et al. (2004) reported that the amounts of AA removed by hepatic tissue are largely impacted by blood supply, except for some NEAA including Ala, Asn, Asp, Gln, and Glu. Greater energy supply has been shown to improve hepatic blood flow (Reynolds, 1995); however, changes in MP supply did not modify blood flow in the liver (Blouin et al., 2002; Raggio et al., 2004). Nevertheless, hepatic removal of His, Met, Phe, and Thr and utilization of branched-chain AA, Lys, and Thr in peripheral tissues were decreased for reduced dietary protein content (12.7 vs. 16.6% CP; Raggio et al., 2004), suggesting that hepatic AA removal may be mainly regulated by blood AA concentrations in this study.

As mentioned above, one of the fates of AA removed by the liver is for urea synthesis and 40-80% of hepatic urea N is recycled back to the gastrointestinal tract, in particular the rumen (Harmeyer and Martens, 1980). Recycling of urea N entering the rumen could be

hydrolyzed into ammonia, which is then utilized for microbial protein synthesis and has a major effect on N metabolism of dairy cows (Lapierre and Lobley, 2001).

Metabolism of AA in the Mammary Gland

The mammary gland represents the primary user of the splanchnic flux of AA in lactating dairy cows. Approximately 90% of AA extracted by the mammary gland was utilized to synthesize milk protein (Cant et al., 1993) and the remaining AA is either used for tissue replenishment or for catabolism (Cant et al., 2018). According to Lapierre et al. (2005), the milk output to post-liver supply ratios for His, Met, and Phe were 98, 101, and 97%, respectively. Additionally, the ratios of milk output to splanchnic flux were 58, 61, 65, and 61% for Ile, Leu, Lys, and Val, respectively (Lapierre et al., 2005). Milk NEAA output is more than mammary NEAA uptake and thus de novo synthesis must occur, possibly through transamination of branched-chain AA and Lys (Guinard and Rulquin, 1994; Lapierre et al., 2003).

Mammary extraction for individual AA can be impacted by blood AA supply (Bequette et al., 2000), lactation stage (Schwab et al., 1992), and levels of hormones (Mackle et al., 2000). For instance, mammary clearance rate of His and other AA increased by 43 fold and decreased by 2-3 fold, respectively, and mammary blood flow improved by approximately 33% in lactating goats with His deficiency (Bequette et al., 2000). According to Mackle et al. (2000), there was a linear relationship between arterial concentration of EAA and arteriovenous difference of EAA. Infusion of insulin improved both mammary blood flow and mammary extraction rate of EAA (Mackle et al., 2000). Furthermore, short-term changes in mammary removal of AA may result from rearrangement of AA transporters between intracellular compartments and the plasma

membrane, and long-term modifications may be caused by differential gene expression of AA transport systems (Mackenzie and Erickson, 2004).

Regarding the pathways of individual AA in the mammary gland, branched-chain AA are often catabolized to provide carbon skeletons to synthesize NEAA (Bequette et al., 2003). Although Lys is considered the first or second limiting AA for milk protein synthesis, some Lys has been observed to be oxidized in lactating goats (Mabjeeshet et al., 2000). Methionine is another limiting AA, which is also involved in multiple metabolic functions such as synthesis of phospholipids, choline, and cysteine, and regulation of DNA (Bequette et al., 2003). Arginine also participates in several physiological functions such as nutrient perfusion and urea synthesis in mammary tissues (Bequette et al., 2003). Ultimately, EAA and NEAA extracted from bloodstream and NEAA synthesized by mammary epithelial cells are used to synthesize milk-specific proteins including caseins (α , β , κ , and γ) and whey proteins (e.g., α -lactalbumin and β -lactoglobulin), with caseins representing most milk proteins (~80%; NRC, 1988).

Environmental N Excretion

Lactating dairy cows are known to have poor N efficiency, and in North America, on average, only 24.7% of dietary N was utilized for milk protein synthesis (Huhtanen and Hristov, 2009). Dietary N not captured in milk protein is excreted in urine and feces. As indicated by Lapierre et al. (2005), approximately 34% (range, 17 to 46%) and 35% (range, 29 to 47%) of dietary N intake is excreted in urine and feces respectively. Urea is the major N metabolite in urine and hydrolyzed into ammonia rapidly after excretion. Aerobic microorganisms can use ammonia N as substrate to produce nitrite (NO_2^-), nitrate (NO_3^-), and nitrous oxide (N_2O). Subsequently, Some NO_2^- and NO_3^- can then be converted by anaerobic microorganisms to N_2

and N₂O. Regarding fecal N excretion, ammonia N represents a small fraction of N in feces and the main fecal N is organically bound N. Taken together, the environmental N pollution from dairy cows includes ammonia, N₂O, and N oxides in the atmosphere and NO₃ in soil and ground water (Tamminga, 1992; Castillo et al., 2000). Approximately 23 tons of wet manure and 109 kg of N can be produced by an average dairy cow with 8,182 kg of milk per lactation (Van Horn et al., 1991). Unfortunately, only 30% of manure N produced by US dairy industry is recovered and applied to cropland (Kellogg et al., 2000). It has been widely recognized that dairy practices contribute to more N pollution than any other livestock operations (Rotz, 2004).

Strategies to Improve N Utilization

Poor N efficiency of dairy cows not only contributes to increased amounts of N excretion to the environment, but also reduces the profit margin for dairy producers. According to a recent survey done by Ishler (2017), feed costs account for approximately 58% of milk income with supplemental protein sources considered the most expensive feedstuffs. Thus, it is crucial to enhance milk N efficiency and reduce manure N excretion. There have been many management and nutritional strategies examined to improve efficiency of N utilization of dairy cows (Arriaga et al., 2009; Dijkstra et al., 2011). Animal grouping (St-Pierre and Thraen, 1999), increased frequency of ration balancing depending on forage availability and feedstuffs price (Arriaga et al., 2009), and feeding TMR instead of component feeding (Jonker et al., 2002) have all showed to reduce N waste and enhance efficiency of N utilization in dairy cows. Specifically, reducing dietary CP concentration and/or improving dietary energy level are often applied to improve milk N efficiency and reduce urinary N excretion (Broderick, 2003; Rius et al., 2010b). Feeding forages with higher RUP (birdsfoot trefoil vs. alfalfa) have been shown to improve milk

production and N utilization in lactating dairy cows (Hymes-Fecht et al., 2013). Condensed tannins of birdsfoot trefoil, natural polyphenolic compounds, can protect forage protein from being degraded by ruminal microorganisms into ammonia (Mueller-Harvey, 2006). Additionally, diets with forages harvested at the afternoon improve efficiency of N utilization of dairy cows, because afternoon-harvested forages contain higher levels of nonstructural carbohydrates, which promotes microbial protein synthesis in the rumen and milk protein synthesis in the mammary gland (Brito et al., 2008).

Maximization of Microbial Protein Synthesis

The synchronization of ruminal fermentable carbohydrates and RDP has been proposed to maximize microbial protein synthesis, improve efficiency of N utilization, and reduce environmental N excretion (Stokes et al., 1991; Aldrich et al., 1993). For instance, Hristov et al. (2005) compared different sources of carbohydrates (i.e., corn dextrose, corn starch, white oat fiber, and a combination of them) on the utilization of ruminal ammonia and demonstrated that corn starch improved uptake of ammonia for microbial protein synthesis compared with other carbohydrate sources. According to Castillo et al. (2001), the efficiency of N utilization increased, and urinary N excretion decreased with feeding the diet with low degradable starch (i.e., corn) compared with other carbohydrate sources including fiber, soluble sugars, and barley. As reported by Aguerre et al. (2011), the ratio of milk N to N intake and manure N to milk N increased linearly and tended to decrease linearly, respectively, as the forage-to-concentrate ratio decreased from 68:32 to 47:53. Furthermore, microbial N flow was elevated by 23 g/d with ruminal infusion of 1 kg of sucrose (Kim et al., 1999). Nevertheless, Cabrita et al. (2006) and Reynolds and Kristensen (2008) have pointed out that synchronizing dietary RUP and energy

supply has limited effects on microbial protein synthesis and production performance of lactating dairy cows.

Feeding Low Protein Diets to Dairy Cows

To maximize milk production, high CP diets have been widely fed to lactating dairy cows. For instance, dietary CP level averaged 17.6% for high-producing dairy cows in the western US (Hristov et al., 2006). However, feeding diets with high CP is often associated with decreased milk N efficiency and increased manure N excretion (Broderick, 2003; Olmos Colmenero and Broderick, 2006). Moreover, Yan et al. (2010) observed a strong positive relationship between manure N excretion and intake of dietary protein ($R^2 = 0.90$). High CP (18.4%) diets have also been observed to elevate ruminal degradation of protein and lower the efficiency of N utilization compared with low CP (15.1%) diets (Broderick, 2003). Thus, nutritional modifications are required to improve efficiency of N utilization and reduce N excretion to the environment.

Compared with non-ruminant animals, ruminant animals including dairy cows have better ability to recycle urea N synthesized in the liver (Lapierre and Lobley, 2001). In addition, greater proportions of urea N produced by the liver recycle back to the rumen when dietary CP level decreases (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008). Chibisa and Mutsvangwa (2013) reported that higher proportion of hepatic urea N entered the rumen for microbial protein synthesis in dairy cows fed low protein versus high protein diets (15.2 vs. 17.3% CP). These results reveal that feeding low protein diets may have the potential to improve N utilization and reduce N excretion by promoting the transformation of hepatic urea N into microbial protein.

Consequently, low protein diets have been studied intensively by dairy researchers in recent years (Hristov, 2016). For instance, reducing dietary CP (16.1 vs. 18.8%) lowered urinary N and fecal N outputs without modifying milk and milk protein yields of mid-lactation cows (Leonardi et al., 2003). Urinary N excretion was reduced but milk production was not altered for 13.7 versus 15.5% CP of dairy diets (Lee et al., 2015). Likewise, milk production was not modified but urinary N excretion was decreased for 7.1% vs. 10.3% dietary RDP concentration (Agle et al., 2010). Reducing dietary CP concentration from 17.3% to 14.4% had no impact on milk and milk protein yields of dairy cows during mid to late lactation (151 to 305 DIM); however, reductions in milk and milk protein yields were observed during early to mid lactation (1 to 150 DIM; Lawrence, 2009). Moreover, when feeding diets with different CP levels ranging from 13.5 to 19.4%, obtained by replacing rolled high-moisture shelled corn with solvent extracted soybean meal, the highest milk N efficiency and lowest urinary N excretion were observed with feeding 13.5% CP, but maximal milk and milk protein yields were obtained for the treatment with 16.5% CP (Olmos Colmenero and Broderick, 2006). Taken together, relative to high CP diets, feeding low CP diets is an effective strategy to enhance efficiency of N use but may reduce production performance of lactating dairy cows.

The negative responses of milk production with feeding low protein diets may result from deficiencies of some limiting AA including Met, Lys, and His. In support, supplementation of MP-deficient diets with rumen protected (**RP**) -Met, Lys, and His elevated milk and milk true protein yields, while having similar milk N efficiency and manure N excretion (Lee et al., 2012). Similarly, RP-Met, Lys, and His improved milk true protein yield in lactating dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets without reduction in milk N efficiency (Giallongo et al., 2016). However, no response in milk yield was detected when adding RP-Met, Lys, and His to MP-deficient diets

(Giallongo et al., 2016). These inconsistent responses with RP-Met, Lys, and His may be related to amounts and bioavailability of RP-AA products, level of MP deficiency, dietary composition, and lactation stage. Thus, further research is required to better understand the interactions between level of dietary MP deficiency and RP-AA supplementation on milk production and efficiency of N utilization in lactating dairy cows.

Energy Supplementation

Increased supply of ruminally fermentable energy (e.g., corn starch) can capture more ammonia N to synthesize microbial protein in the rumen, which is then utilized for milk protein synthesis (Voelker and Allen, 2003; Hristov et al., 2005). Broderick (2003) demonstrated that milk yield, milk protein yield, and milk N efficiency were elevated, and urinary urea N and total N were reduced in response to increasing amounts of energy obtained by decreasing dietary forage to concentrate ratio (75:25, 63:37, and 50:50). Niu et al. (2016) reported that milk true protein N and milk N efficiency were increased, and total urine N and the proportion of N intake as urinary N decreased with feeding a low forage diet (37.4% forage of DM) compared with a high forage diet (53.3% forage of DM).

On the other hand, addition of ruminally fermentable energy can improve mammary uptake of AA and milk protein yield in dairy cows (Lemosquet et al., 2009; Omphalius et al., 2019). Mammary arterial fluxes of EAA and mammary uptake of all EAA except Arg and Val increased linearly with duodenal infusion of increasing amounts of glucose (0, 443, 963, and 2398 g/d; Rulquin et al., 2004). Moreover, the ratios of mammary uptake to milk output for His, Met, and Leu showed linear increases to duodenal infusions of glucose (Rulquin et al., 2004). Mammary net uptakes of most of EAA (i.e., Arg, Ile, Lys, Phe, and Trp) and milk and milk

protein yields were higher for abomasal infusion of starch (Rius et al., 2010a). Furthermore, milk protein output was elevated with ruminal infusions of propionate (Raggio et al., 2006) and postruminal infusions of starch (Reynolds et al., 2001). However, when supplemental energy was provided as RP-fat (e.g., palmitic acid), no change was observed for milk protein production (Lock et al., 2013; Mathews et al., 2016).

A combination of reducing dietary protein and increasing energy has been examined to improve efficiency of N use and reduce N excretion from dairy cows. Rius et al. (2010b) indicated that elevated dietary energy (forage-to-concentrate ratio: 39:61 vs. 50:50) or protein (RUP: 6.6 vs. 4.6% DM; constant RDP at 10.1% DM) elevated milk and milk protein yields independently; however, the maximal efficiency of N utilization was obtained when feeding the diet with high energy and low protein. Thus, further studies are needed to explore nutritional strategies to improve production performance, while improving great milk N efficiency in dairy cows fed low protein and high energy diets.

Energy Utilization in Dairy Cattle

Energy Sources in Diets

Energy mainly comes from carbohydrates, protein, and fat derived from grasses, legumes, crop residues, industrial byproducts, cereal grains, crop plants, animal protein meals, oilseeds, fat supplements, etc (NRC, 2001). Several approaches have been used to express energy values of feeds, including TDN, digestible energy (**DE**), ME, and net energy (**NE**). First, TDN is calculated by summing up truly digestible NFC, CP, $2.25 \times$ fatty acid (**FA**), and NDF and then subtracting metabolic fecal TDN (assumed to be 7; NRC, 2001). Processing adjustment factors are applied to account for increased digestibility of NFC due to physical processing, and

heat and steam treatment (NRC, 2001). Digestible energy of a feed is calculated by multiplying the truly digestible nutrients by their heats of combustion (e.g., 4.2, 5.6, 9.4, and 4.3 Mcal/kg for carbohydrates, protein, long chain fatty acids (**FA**), and glycerol, respectively; NRC, 2001). Dietary DE at maintenance is calculated by adding DE of feeds in the diet (NRC, 2001). When calculating dietary DE at actual intake, a discount factor is applied to account for decline in digestibility resulted from increased feed intake (NRC, 2001). The ME and NE of the diet or individual feed are calculated using the equation: $(1.01 \times DE - 0.45) + 0.0046 \times (EE - 3)$, and $0.703 \times ME - 0.19 + (0.097 \times ME + 0.19)/97 \times$ (ether extract - 3), as described by NRC (2001).

Energy Utilization in the Rumen

Carbohydrates including fibrous carbohydrates (e.g., cellulose and hemicellulose) and non-fibrous carbohydrates (e.g., sugars and starch) are the most important energy yielding nutrients for dairy cows (NRC, 2001). Non-structural carbohydrates have higher ruminal degradation rates than structural carbohydrates and thus can supply more energy per unit of DM basis (Sniffen et al., 1992). However, fibrous carbohydrates can stimulate rumination, ruminal contraction, and saliva production (NRC, 2001). Therefore, both types of carbohydrates are very important for milk production and health of dairy cows.

Ruminal bacterial species, particularly, *Ruminococcus flavefaciens, Rumincoccus albus,* and *Fibrobacter succinogenes* play an important role in hydrolyzing cellulose via cellulase enzyme complexes, as extracellular enzymes (Schwartz and Gilchrist, 1975). A few fungi and protozoa also showed the ability to have cellulolytic activities (NRC, 2001). Cellulose is first broken down to oligosaccharides, and then cellobiose, which is finally hydrolyzed to glucose (Lynd et al., 2002). Hemicellulose is degraded mainly by hemicellulolytic bacterial species (e.g., *Prevotella ruminicola* and *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens*) and to lesser degree by certain protozoal species to xylose and other pentoses, which are then converted to fructose and trioses (Baldwin, 1965; Hungate, 1966). Starch is hydrolyzed into maltose and glucose via amylases and carbohydrases derived from amylolytic bacterial species such as *Succinomonas amylolytica and Streptococcus bovis* (Prins, 1977). Eventually, all carbohydrate monomers (mainly glucose and fructose) are catabolized into pyruvate, which is a central intermediate in ruminal carbohydrate metabolism. Pyruvate is converted to VFA mainly including acetate, propionate, and butyrate through a variety of pathways (Moss et al., 2000). Most of the energy requirement of a dairy cow is met by ruminal VFA production (NRC, 2001). During this process, CO₂, H₂, and CH₄ are also formed and released through eructation and respiration (Moss et al., 2000). Ruminal CH₄ production also represents 2-12% energetic losses (Johnson and Johnson, 1995).

As mentioned above, dietary N sources can be categorized into RDP and RUP with RDP including NPN, AA, peptides, and some true protein (NRC, 2001). When feeding adequate fermentable energy mainly provided by carbohydrates, RDP can be utilized by ruminal microorganisms to synthesize microbial protein, and microbial protein synthesis is an energy-requiring process. On the other hand, when energy supply is limiting in the rumen, microorganisms tend to deaminate AA or peptides into VFA, CO₂, and ammonia in order to provide energy (Bach et al., 2005).

Dairy diets generally contain 2-7% of lipids and 1-3% of supplemental fat can be added without adverse effects (Mosley et al., 2007; Piantoni et al., 2013). Various sources of fat are available to dairy cows, including oilseeds, dry-granular fat, animal and animal-vegetable blends, and RP-fat (NRC, 2001). These fat supplements mainly provide triglycerides, UFA, and SFA. Ruminal metabolism of these fat metabolites involves 2 major processes: lipolysis and

biohydrogenation. Hydrolysis of triglycerdies by lipolytic microorganisms (e.g., *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* and *Anaerovibrio lipolytica*) results in free FA, glycerol and small amounts of monoand di-glycerides, and UFA can be hydrogenated to some degree during the biohydrogenation process (Jenkins, 1993; Buccioni et al., 2012). Glycerol is degraded rapidly, yielding propionate as a major end product (Garton et al., 1961). Small amounts of dietary FA are catabolized to CO₂ and VFA, which are then absorbed by the rumen wall (Jenkins, 1993). Taken together, free FA, mainly including C16 and C18, account for 85-90% of lipid leaving the rumen, and the remaining 10-15% of lipids are derived from ruminal de novo synthesis, mainly existing as phospholipids (NRC, 2001).

Digestion and Absorption of Energy Substrates in the Gastrointestinal Tract

In dairy cows, VFA (C2 to C6) produced by ruminal fermentation of carbohydrates are mainly absorbed by the ruminal epithelium and to a lesser degree, by the abomasal epithelial cells (Storm et al., 2012). According to Kristensen (2005), a slight amount of ruminal acetate, a small amount (5-10%) of propionate, and an extensive amount of butyrate are metabolized by the ruminal wall during absorption. Most of the absorbed butyrate by the ruminal wall is converted to ketones (i.e., β -hydroxybutyrate) that are later found in the portal vein. Notably, the liver releases more acetate than its uptake because the liver is able to synthesize acetate (Kristensen, 2005). The majority of the portal flux of VFA except acetate are extracted by the liver, and hepatic extraction for propionate is greater than that for butyrate (93 vs. 80%; Kristensen, 2005). Furthermore, propionate is the main precursor for gluconeogenesis in the liver.

Small amounts of FA, mainly medium chain FA can be absorbed or metabolized by ruminal epithelial cells (Doreau and Ferlay, 1994; Kristensen, 2005). Thus, most of the FA

attached to feeds and microbial particles flow out of the rumen and exist as salts of sodium, potassium, or calcium (Loften et al., 2014). These salts are dissociated and protonated in acidic abomasum and transformed into nonionized free FA in the duodenum (Loften et al., 2014). Within the duodenum, micelles are formed after dissociation of free FA by pancreatic secretions (lipases and bicarbonate) and bile, and then transported across intestinal epithelial cells. Average intestinal digestibility of total C16 and total C18 were 74.6 and 73.4%, respectively, and tended to increase with the chain length (Schmidely et al., 2008). Furthermore, FA absorbed are reesterified into triglycerides and newly formed triglycerides and phospholipids are incorporated into chylomicrons and very-low density lipoproteins, which are then transported mainly via the lymphatic system to peripheral tissues including the mammary gland (Tso and Balint, 1986).

Utilization of Energy Substrates in the Mammary Gland

In addition to milk protein, milk fat is the other important component in dairy milk and determines its economic value (Jesse and Cropp, 2008). Milk fat is predominantly composed of triglycerides (~95%) containing more than 400 different FA (Jensen and Clark, 1988). Milk fat content and milk FA profile can be significantly impacted by dairy species and diets (Morales et al., 2000). There are two main sources for milk FA production: de novo synthesis within the mammary epithelial cells and preformed FA from the blood circulation (Dils, 1986).

Ruminal acetate and β -hydroxybutyrate are the major substrates for de novo FA synthesis in the mammary gland (Urrutia and Harvatine, 2017). Fatty acids derived from mammary de novo synthesis include all the C4 to C12 FA, around 95% of C14:0, and about 50% of C16:0 (Shingfield et al., 2010), and account for about 40% of milk FA (Chilliard et al., 2000). Acetate is converted to acetyl-CoA under the catalysis of acetyl CoA carboxylase, and β -hydroxybutyrate is activated to butyryl-CoA (Bauman and Davis, 2013). Then, FA synthetase catalyzes the condensation cycles of malonyl-CoA derived from acetyl-CoA by using either acetyl-CoA or butyryl-CoA (Bauman and Davis, 2013).

The other 50% of C16:0 and long-chain FA are derived from circulating FA that are extracted by the mammary gland via very-low density lipoproteins, chylomicrons, and nonesterified FA (Shingfield et al., 2010) and represents approximately 60% of milk fat (Chilliard et al., 2000). Notably, nonesterified FA are originated from either intestinal absorption of lipids or from lipolysis in adipose tissues. Generally, the mobilization of body fat reserves contributes to less than 10% of milk FA except for postpartum dairy cows (Shingfield and Griinari, 2007). Preformed FA cannot be elongated but can be desaturated by adding a *cis*-9 double bond on the FA under the catalysis of Δ -9 desaturase (Shingfield et al., 2008). For instance, C18:0 is transformed to *cis*-9 C18:1, which accounts for 60-80% of total C18:1 in milk (Shingfield et al., 2013). Other FA such as C10:0, 12:0, 14:0, 15:0, 16:0, and 17:0 can also be catalyzed by Δ -9 desaturase to form *cis*-9 unsaturated FA (Shingfield et al., 2010).

Energy Efficiency in Dairy Cows

Gross energy of the diet is the sum of combustion energy of individual feeds. Digestible energy is calculated by subtracting fecal energy from gross energy. Urinary energy loss and gaseous energy losses (primarily CH₄) are subtracted from DE to calculate ME. Metabolizable energy is either lost as heat production or used for animal growth (NE_G) and milk production (NE_L). Fecal energy loss is the most variable portion, ranging from 10 to 60% of GE (Reid et al., 1980). Digestible energy contributes to the majority of the variation in NE (~86%), thus suggesting that feed digestibility plays an important role in improving the efficiency of energy

utilization in dairy cows (Moe et al., 1972). Digestibility of forages is mainly affected by maturity, followed by physical processing, feed intake, and dietary CP level (Buxton, 1996). There is less variation in the conversions of DE to ME or ME to NE compared with that from gross energy to DE (Reynolds et al., 2011). Approximately 50% of heat production is attributed to gastrointestinal tracts and the liver in ruminants (Reynolds et al., 2011).

For energy efficiency expressed as milk energy/DE, energy efficiency was reduced by 1.6% for each 10% increase in dietary ADF level and showed a quadratic response to proportion of dietary concentrate; whereas digestible CP, BW, and DIM did not alter energy efficiency (Phuong et al., 2013). It may be because that diets with high ADF level could fill up the rumen quickly and limit DMI, and also ADF could be less digestible and provide less energy to support the growth of microorganisms (Moore and Coleman, 2001). Increased dietary proportion of concentrates may supply more available fermentable energy to stimulate ruminal fermentation (Broderick, 2003); however feeding too much concentrate could result in ruminal acidosis, which in turn impairs production performance and energy efficiency (Beauchemin, 2007). In addition to dietary factors, energy efficiency was influenced by animal-related factors such as breeds, lactation stage, and parity (Britt et al., 2003; Prendiville et al., 2009). However, no significant effects of BW and DIM on energy efficiency were observed in the meta-analysis by Phuong et al. (2013).

Technologies to Measure Gas Fluxes

Global climate change has been a defining issue since the mid-20th century due to continued population growth and advancing economies. Global warming is attributed to greenhouse gas emissions from anthropogenic activities such as CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, and fluorinated gases (FAO, 2019). The dairy industry contributes ~4% of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions with CH₄, N₂O, and CO₂ representing 63, 25, and 12% of total emissions from dairy systems, respectively (FAO, 2019). Additionally, CH₄ is a potent greenhouse gas that has 28-36 times more global warming potential than CO₂ (USEPA, 2020). Several approaches have been developed to accurately quantify greenhouse gase missions from dairy cattle such as the opencircuit respiration chamber, the sulphur hexafluoride (**SF**₆) tracer gas technique, and the GreenFeed system (Hristov et al., 2015; Hammond et al., 2016).

Respiration Chambers

Whole animal open-circuit respiration chambers have been used for more than 100 years to measure CO₂ and CH₄ (Kellner, 1913). Inflowing air is constantly circulated through the chamber and mixes with incoming air and emitted gases from animals, and incoming air and exhaust air are sampling regularly for analyses of CH₄ and CO₂ (Hammond et al., 2016). Emissions of CO₂ and CH₄ are calculated by multiplying the airflow by the differences in the concentrations between inflowing and outflowing gases, respectively (Hammond et al., 2016). To avoid air loss, it is important for respiration chambers to be adequately air tight. It is also critical to calibrate the measured concentrations of gases and air flow to account for changes in temperature, air pressure and humidity (Hammond et al., 2016). Generally, experiment periods for measurements of CO₂ and CH₄ using respiration chambers ranged from 1 to 7 consecutive days (Van Zijderveld et al., 2010; Olijhoek et al., 2016).

The GreenFeed System

The GreenFeed system (C-Lock Inc., Rapid City, South Dakota, USA) has been recently used to measure short-term gas fluxes of CO₂ and CH₄ from individual animals (Pereira et al.,

2015; Harper et al., 2017). The animal is trained to voluntarily put its head in the chamber with regular delivery of pelleted feeds, and thus there is minimal disruption of daily routine and minimal stress to the cow (Hristov et al., 2015). Measurements of gases are typically completed over a 7-min period (5 min for sampling of emitted gases and 2 min for sampling of background gases) and multiple times over several days per period (Hristov et al., 2015). In contrast to respiration chambers, the GreenFeed system is able to measure gases from a large number of animals and uses radio frequency identification tags to identify individual animals (Hammond et al., 2015).

Sulphur Hexafluoride Tracer Technique

The SF₆ technique developed by Zimmerman (1993) relies on the installment of a permeation tube into the reticulorumen of the animal for the release of a known quantity of SF₆, the placement of a tube with in-line flow restrictors near the nose of the cow for collection of exhaled air, and a pre-evacuated collection vessel connected to tubing with in-line flow restrictors (Hammond et al., 2016). Samples are typically collected over at least 5 consecutive days to account for diurnal variation in gaseous fluxes, with background gas samples collected simultaneously (Hammond et al., 2016).

Comparison of Techniques for Measurement of Gases

Studies with ruminants have been done to compare emissions of CH_4 and CO_2 measured using respiration chambers, SF_6 tracer techniques, and the GreenFeed system (Jonker et al., 2016; Doreau et al., 2018). Specifically, a study with 8 nonlactating Holstein cows in a 15 week experiment showed that CH_4 production was higher with using the respiration chamber (367 g/d)
relative to the SF₆ technique (310 g/d) and GreenFeed system (319 g/d), and CO₂ emission (g/d) was similar between the respiration chamber (9.89 kg/d) and GreenFeed system (10 kg/d) and lower for the SF₆ technique (7.72 kg/d) relative to the other two approaches (Doreau et al., 2018). For CH₄ production, the correlation coefficient was 0.78 between the respiration chamber and SF₆ technique and not significant between the respiration chamber and GreenFeed system or between the SF₆ technique and GreenFeed system and for CO₂ emission, the correlation coefficient was not significant between the respiration chamber and the GreenFeed system (Doreau et al., 2018). Furthermore, Huhtanen et al. (2013) has demonstrated that CH₄ emission was similar between the GreenFeed system and the respiration chamber in dairy cows and repeatability for both CH₄ and CO₂ measurements was high during 1-2 week experimental periods. Collectively, respiration chambers, SF₆ techniques, and the GreenFeed system all can provide reliable measurements of CH₄ and CO₂ and the differences among the 3 approaches are moderate.

REFERENCES

- Agle, M., A. N. Hristov, S. Zaman, C. Schneider, P. Ndegwa, and V. Vaddella. 2010. The effects of ruminally degraded protein on rumen fermentation and ammonia losses from manure in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93:1625-1637.
- Aguerre, M. J., M. A. Wattiaux, J. Powell, G. A. Broderick, and C. Arndt. 2011. Effect of forage-to-concentrate ratio in dairy cow diets on emission of methane, carbon dioxide, and ammonia, lactation performance, and manure excretion. J. Dairy Sci. 94:3081-3093.
- Aldrich, J., L. Muller, G. Varga, and L. C. Griel Jr. 1993. Nonstructural carbohydrate and protein effects on rumen fermentation, nutrient flow, and performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 76:1091-1105.
- Arriaga, H., M. Pinto, S. Calsamiglia, and P. Merino. 2009. Nutritional and management strategies on nitrogen and phosphorus use efficiency of lactating dairy cattle on commercial farms: An environmental perspective. J. Dairy Sci. 92:204-215.
- Bach, A., S. Calsamiglia, and M. D. Stern. 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 88:E9-E21.
- Bauman, D. and C. Davis. 2013. Biosynthesis of milk fat. Lactation: a comprehensive treatise 2:31-75.

- Beauchemin, K. A. 2007. Ruminal acidosis in dairy cows: Balancing physically effective fiber with starch availability. Pages 30-31 in Proc. Florida Ruminant Nutrition Symposium, January.
- Bequette, B., M. Hanigan, A. G. Calder, C. Reynolds, G. Lobley, and J. MacRae. 2000. Amino acid exchange by the mammary gland of lactating goats when histidine limits milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 83:765-775.
- Bequette, B., M. Hanigan, and H. Lapierre. 2003. Mammary uptake and metabolism of amino acids by lactating ruminants. Amino Acids in Animal Nutrition 347.
- Berthiaume, R., P. Dubreuil, M. Stevenson, B. McBride, and H. Lapierre. 2001. Intestinal disappearance and mesenteric and portal appearance of amino acids in dairy cows fed ruminally protected methionine1. J. Dairy Sci. 84:194-203.
- Blouin, J., J. Bernier, C. Reynolds, G. Lobley, P. Dubreuil, and H. Lapierre. 2002. Effect of supply of metabolizable protein on splanchnic fluxes of nutrients and hormones in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85:2618-2630.
- Brito, A., G. Broderick, and S. Reynal. 2007. Effects of different protein supplements on omasal nutrient flow and microbial protein synthesis in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90:1828-1841.
- Brito, A., G. Tremblay, A. Bertrand, Y. Castonguay, G. Bélanger, R. Michaud, H. Lapierre, C. Benchaar, H. Petit, and D. Ouellet. 2008. Alfalfa cut at sundown and harvested as baleage improves milk yield of late-lactation dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91:3968-3982.
- Britt, J., R. Thomas, N. Speer, and M. Hall. 2003. Efficiency of converting nutrient dry matter to milk in Holstein herds. J. Dairy Sci. 86:3796-3801.
- Brock, F., C. Forsberg, and J. Buchanan-Smith. 1982. Proteolytic activity of rumen microorganisms and effects of proteinase inhibitors. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 44:561-569.
- Broderick, G. 1998. Can cell-free enzymes replace rumen micro-organisms to model energy and protein suppty? BSAP Occas. Publ. 22:99-114.
- Broderick, G. 2003. Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1370-1381.
- Buccioni, A., M. Decandia, S. Minieri, G. Molle, and A. Cabiddu. 2012. Lipid metabolism in the rumen: New insights on lipolysis and biohydrogenation with an emphasis on the role of endogenous plant factors. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 174:1-25.
- Buxton, D. R. 1996. Quality-related characteristics of forages as influenced by plant environment and agronomic factors. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 59:37-49.
- Cabrita, A. R. J., R. J. Dewhurst, J. M. F. Abreu, and A. J. M. Fonseca. 2006. Evaluation of the effects of synchronising the availability of N and energy on rumen function and production responses of dairy cows–a review. Anim. Res. 55:1-24.
- Cant, J., E. DePeters, and R. Baldwin. 1993. Mammary uptake of energy metabolites in dairy cows fed fat and its relationship to milk protein depression. J. Dairy Sci. 76:2254-2265.
- Cant, J. P., J. J. Kim, S. R. Cieslar, and J. Doelman. 2018. Symposium review: Amino acid uptake by the mammary glands: Where does the control lie? J. Dairy Sci. 101:5655-5666.
- Carro, M. and E. Miller. 1999. Effect of supplementing a fibre basal diet with different nitrogen forms on ruminal fermentation and microbial growth in an in vitro semi-continuous culture system (RUSITEC). Br. J. Nutr. 82:149-157.

- Castillo, A., E. Kebreab, D. Beever, J. Barbi, J. Sutton, H. Kirby, and J. France. 2001. The effect of energy supplementation on nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows fed grass silage diets. J. Anim. Sci. 79:240-246.
- Castillo, A., E. Kebreab, D. Beever, and J. France. 2000. A review of efficiency of nitrogen utilisation in lactating dairy cows and its relationship with environmental pollution. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 9:1-32.
- Chilliard, Y., A. Ferlay, R. M. Mansbridge, and M. Doreau. 2000. Ruminant milk fat plasticity: nutritional control of saturated, polyunsaturated, trans and conjugated fatty acids. Pages 181-205 in Proc. Annales de zootechnie. EDP Sciences.
- Council, N. R. 1988. Factors affecting the composition of milk from dairy cows. in Designing foods: animal product options in the marketplace. NAP.
- Dijkstra, J., O. Oenema, and A. Bannink. 2011. Dietary strategies to reducing N excretion from cattle: implications for methane emissions. Curr. Opin. Env. Sust. 3:414-422.
- Dils, R. R. 1986. Comparative aspects of milk fat synthesis. J. Dairy Sci. 69:904-910.
- Doepel, L., G. Lobley, J. Bernier, P. Dubreuil, and H. Lapierre. 2009. Differences in splanchnic metabolism between late gestation and early lactation dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:3233-3243.
- Doreau, M., M. Arbre, Y. Rochette, C. Lascoux, M. Eugène, and C. Martin. 2018. Comparison of 3 methods for estimating enteric methane and carbon dioxide emission in nonlactating cows. J. Anim. Sci. 96:1559-1569.
- Doreau, M. and A. Ferlay. 1994. Digestion and utilisation of fatty acids by ruminants. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 45:379-396.
- Faichney, G., C. Poncet, B. Lassalas, J. Jouany, L. Millet, J. Doré, and A. Brownlee. 1997. Effect of concentrates in a hay diet on the contribution of anaerobic fungi, protozoa and bacteria to nitrogen in rumen and duodenal digesta in sheep. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 64:193-213.
- FAO. 2019. Climate change and the global dairy cattle sector: the role of the dairy sector in a low-carbon future. FAO of the UN and Global Dairy Platform Inc., Rome.
- Garton, G., A. Lough, and E. Vioque. 1961. Glyceride hydrolysis and glycerol fermentation by sheep rumen contents. Microbiology 25:215-225.
- Giallongo, F., M. Harper, J. Oh, J. Lopes, H. Lapierre, R. Patton, C. Parys, I. Shinzato, and A. Hristov. 2016. Effects of rumen-protected methionine, lysine, and histidine on lactation performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:4437-4452.
- Guinard, J. and H. Rulquin. 1994. Effect of graded levels of duodenal infusions of casein on mammary uptake in lactating cows. 2. Individual amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 77:3304-3315.
- Hammond, K., D. Humphries, L. Crompton, C. Green, and C. Reynolds. 2015. Methane emissions from cattle: estimates from short-term measurements using a GreenFeed system compared with measurements obtained using respiration chambers or sulphur hexafluoride tracer. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 203:41-52.
- Hammond, K. J., L. A. Crompton, A. Bannink, J. Dijkstra, D. R. Yáñez-Ruiz, P. O'Kiely, E. Kebreab, M. Eugène, Z. Yu, and K. Shingfield. 2016. Review of current in vivo measurement techniques for quantifying enteric methane emission from ruminants. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 219:13-30.
- Hanigan, M. 2005. Quantitative aspects of ruminant predicting animal performance. Anim. Sci. 80:23-32.

- Hanigan, M., L. Crompton, C. Reynolds, D. Wray-Cahen, M. Lomax, and J. France. 2004. An integrative model of amino acid metabolism in the liver of the lactating dairy cow. J. Theor. Biol. 228:271-289.
- Harmeyer, J. and H. Martens. 1980. Aspects of urea metabolism in ruminants with reference to the goat. J. Dairy Sci. 63:1707-1728.
- Harper, M., J. Oh, F. Giallongo, G. W. Roth, and A. N. Hristov. 2017. Inclusion of wheat and triticale silage in the diet of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100:6151-6163.
- Hoover, W. and S. Stokes. 1991. Balancing carbohydrates and proteins for optimum rumen microbial yield. J. Dairy Sci. 74:3630-3644.
- Hristov, A., J. Ropp, K. Grandeen, S. Abedi, R. Etter, A. Melgar, and A. Foley. 2005. Effect of carbohydrate source on ammonia utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Anim. Sci. 83:408-421.
- Hristov, A. N. 2016. Feeding low protein diets to dairy cows. Accessed May 1, 2020. https://extension.psu.edu/feeding-low-protein-diets-to-dairy-cows
- Hristov, A. N., W. Hazen, and J. Ellsworth. 2006. Efficiency of use of imported nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium and potential for reducing phosphorus imports on Idaho dairy farms. J. Dairy Sci. 89:3702-3712.
- Hristov, A. N., J. Oh, F. Giallongo, T. Frederick, H. Weeks, P. R. Zimmerman, M. T. Harper, R. A. Hristova, R. S. Zimmerman, and A. F. Branco. 2015. The use of an automated system (GreenFeed) to monitor enteric methane and carbon dioxide emissions from ruminant animals. JoVE e52904.
- Huhtanen, P. and A. Hristov. 2009. A meta-analysis of the effects of dietary protein concentration and degradability on milk protein yield and milk N efficiency in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:3222-3232.
- Huhtanen, P., S. Krizsan, M. Hetta, H. Gidlund, and E. C. Garcia. 2013. Repeatability and between cow variability of enteric CH4 and total CO2 emissions. Adv. Anim. Biosci. 4:588.
- Hymes-Fecht, U., G. Broderick, R. Muck, and J. Grabber. 2013. Replacing alfalfa or red clover silage with birdsfoot trefoil silage in total mixed rations increases production of lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 96:460-469.
- Ishler, V. A. 2017. Dairy sense: know your herd's feed costs? Accessed Oct. 6, 2018. https://extension.psu.edu/dairy-sense-know-your-herds-feed-costs
- Jenkins, T. 1993. Lipid metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 76:3851-3863.
- Jensen, R. G. and R. W. Clark. 1988. Lipid composition and properties. Pages 171-213 in Fundamentals of dairy chemistry. Springer.
- Jesse, E. and B. Cropp. 2008. Basic milk pricing concepts for dairy farmers. J. Econ. Res. 180:200.
- Johnson, K. A. and D. E. Johnson. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73:2483-2492.
- Jonker, A., G. Molano, C. Antwi, and G. Waghorn. 2016. Enteric methane and carbon dioxide emissions measured using respiration chambers, the sulfur hexafluoride tracer technique, and a GreenFeed head-chamber system from beef heifers fed alfalfa silage at three allowances and four feeding frequencies. J. Anim. Sci. 94:4326-4337.
- Jonker, J., R. Kohn, and J. High. 2002. Dairy herd management practices that impact nitrogen utilization efficiency. J. Dairy Sci. 85:1218-1226.
- Kellner, O. J. 1913. The scientific feeding of animals. Duckworth, London.

- Kellogg, R. L., C. H. Lander, D. Moffitt, and N. Gollehon. 2000. Manure nutrients relative to the capacity of cropland and pastureland to assimilate nutrients. NRCS-USDA.
- Kim, K. H., Y. G. Oh, J. J. Choung, and D. G. Chamberlain. 1999. Effects of varying degrees of synchrony of energy and nitrogen release in the rumen on the synthesis of microbial protein in cattle consuming grass silage. J. Sci. Food Agric. 79:833-838.
- Kopecny, J. and R. J. Wallace. 1982. Cellular location and some properties of proteolytic enzymes of rumen bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 43:1026-1033.
- Kristensen, N. B. 2005. Splanchnic metabolism of volatile fatty acids in the dairy cow. Anim. Sci. 80:3-10.
- Lapierre, H., J. Bernier, P. Dubreuil, C. Reynolds, C. Farmer, D. Ouellet, and G. Lobley. 1999. The effect of intake on protein metabolism across splanchnic tissues in growing beef steers. Br. J. Nutr. 81:457-466.
- Lapierre, H., R. Berthiaume, G. Raggio, M. Thivierge, L. Doepel, D. Pacheco, P. Dubreuil, and G. Lobley. 2005. The route of absorbed nitrogen into milk protein. Anim. Sci. 80:11-22.
- Lapierre, H. and G. Lobley. 2001. Nitrogen recycling in the ruminant: a review. J. Dairy Sci. 84:E223-E236.
- Lapierre, H., E. Milne, J. Renaud, and G. Lobley. 2003. Lysine utilisation by the mammary gland. Animal 109:777-780.
- Lapierre, H., D. Pacheco, R. Berthiaume, D. Ouellet, C. Schwab, P. Dubreuil, G. Holtrop, and G. Lobley. 2006. What is the true supply of amino acids for a dairy cow? J. Dairy Sci. 89:E1-E14.
- Lawrence, T. 2009. Cold spring harbor perspectives in biology. Accessed 24 November, 2018. https://cshperspectives.cshlp.org/content/early/2009/10/04/cshperspect.a001651.abstract
- Lee, C., F. Giallongo, A. Hristov, H. Lapierre, T. Cassidy, K. Heyler, G. Varga, and C. Parys. 2015. Effect of dietary protein level and rumen-protected amino acid supplementation on amino acid utilization for milk protein in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:1885-1902.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, T. Cassidy, K. Heyler, H. Lapierre, G. Varga, M. De Veth, R. Patton, and C. Parys. 2012. Rumen-protected lysine, methionine, and histidine increase milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6042-6056.
- Lemosquet, S., G. Raggio, G. Lobley, H. Rulquin, J. Guinard-Flament, and H. Lapierre. 2009. Whole-body glucose metabolism and mammary energetic nutrient metabolism in lactating dairy cows receiving digestive infusions of casein and propionic acid. J. Dairy Sci. 92:6068-6082.
- Leonardi, C., M. Stevenson, and L. Armentano. 2003. Effect of two levels of crude protein and methionine supplementation on performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:4033-4042.
- Lock, A., C. Preseault, J. Rico, K. DeLand, and M. Allen. 2013. Feeding a C16: 0-enriched fat supplement increased the yield of milk fat and improved conversion of feed to milk. J. Dairy Sci. 96:6650-6659.
- Loften, J., J. Linn, J. K. Drackley, T. Jenkins, C. Soderholm, and A. Kertz. 2014. Invited review: Palmitic and stearic acid metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:4661-4674.
- Lynd, L. R., P. J. Weimer, W. H. Van Zyl, and I. S. Pretorius. 2002. Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 66:506-577.
- Mackenzie, B. and J. D. Erickson. 2004. Sodium-coupled neutral amino acid (System N/A) transporters of the SLC38 gene family. Pflügers Archiv 447:784-795.

- Mackle, T., D. Dwyer, K. L. Ingvartsen, P. Chouinard, D. Ross, and D. Bauman. 2000. Effects of insulin and postruminal supply of protein on use of amino acids by the mammary gland for milk protein synthesis. J. Dairy Sci. 83:93-105.
- Mathews, A., J. Rico, N. Sprenkle, A. Lock, and J. McFadden. 2016. Increasing palmitic acid intake enhances milk production and prevents glucose-stimulated fatty acid disappearance without modifying systemic glucose tolerance in mid-lactation dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:8802-8816.
- Moe, P., W. Flatt, and H. Tyrell. 1972. Net energy value of feeds for lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 55:945-958.
- Moore, J. and S. Coleman. 2001. Forage intake, digestibility, NDF and ADF: how well are they related. Pages 238-242 in Proc. Proceedings of the American Forage and Grassland Council Conference, Springdale, AR AFGC, Georgetown, TX.
- Morales, M. S., D. Palmquist, and W. Weiss. 2000. Milk fat composition of Holstein and Jersey cows with control or depleted copper status and fed whole soybeans or tallow. J. Dairy Sci. 83:2112-2119.
- Mosley, S., E. Mosley, B. Hatch, J. Szasz, A. Corato, N. Zacharias, D. Howes, and M. McGuire. 2007. Effect of varying levels of fatty acids from palm oil on feed intake and milk production in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90:987-993.
- Moss, A. R., J.-P. Jouany, and J. Newbold. 2000. Methane production by ruminants: its contribution to global warming. Pages 231-253 in Proc. Annales de zootechnie. EDP Sciences.
- Mueller-Harvey, I. 2006. Unravelling the conundrum of tannins in animal nutrition and health. J. Sci. Food Agric. 86:2010-2037.
- Niu, M., J. Appuhamy, A. Leytem, R. Dungan, and E. Kebreab. 2016. Effect of dietary crude protein and forage contents on enteric methane emissions and nitrogen excretion from dairy cows simultaneously. Anim. Prod. Sci. 56:312-321.
- NRC. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th ed. Natl. Acad. Sci., Washington, DC.
- Olijhoek, D., A. L. F. Hellwing, M. Brask, M. R. Weisbjerg, O. Højberg, M. K. Larsen, J. Dijkstra, E. J. Erlandsen, and P. Lund. 2016. Effect of dietary nitrate level on enteric methane production, hydrogen emission, rumen fermentation, and nutrient digestibility in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:6191-6205.
- Olmos Colmenero, J. and G. Broderick. 2006. Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on milk production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1704-1712.
- Omphalius, C., H. Lapierre, J. Guinard-Flament, P. Lamberton, L. Bahloul, and S. Lemosquet. 2019. Amino acid efficiencies of utilization vary by different mechanisms in response to energy and protein supplies in dairy cows: Study at mammary-gland and whole-body levels. J. Dairy Sci. 102:9883-9901.
- Pembleton, K. G., J. L. Hills, M. J. Freeman, D. K. McLaren, M. French, and R. P. Rawnsley. 2016. More milk from forage: milk production, blood metabolites, and forage intake of dairy cows grazing pasture mixtures and spatially adjacent monocultures. J. Dairy Sci. 99:3512-3528.
- Pereira, A., S. Utsumi, C. Dorich, and A. F. Brito. 2015. Integrating spot short-term measurements of carbon emissions and backward dietary energy partition calculations to estimate intake in lactating dairy cows fed ad libitum or restricted. J. Dairy Sci. 98:8913-8925.

- Phuong, H., N. C. Friggens, I. De Boer, and P. Schmidely. 2013. Factors affecting energy and nitrogen efficiency of dairy cows: A meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 96:7245-7259.
- Piantoni, P., A. Lock, and M. Allen. 2013. Palmitic acid increased yields of milk and milk fat and nutrient digestibility across production level of lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:7143-7154.
- Prendiville, R., K. Pierce, and F. Buckley. 2009. An evaluation of production efficiencies among lactating Holstein-Friesian, Jersey, and Jersey × Holstein-Friesian cows at pasture. J. Dairy Sci. 92:6176-6185.
- Punia, B., J. Leibholz, and G. Faichney. 1992. Rate of production of protozoa in the rumen and the flow of protozoal nitrogen to the duodenum in sheep and cattle given a pelleted diet of lucerne hay and barley. J. Agric. Sci. 118:229-236.
- Raggio, G., S. Lemosquet, G. Lobley, H. Rulquin, and H. Lapierre. 2006. Effect of casein and propionate supply on mammary protein metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:4340-4351.
- Raggio, G., D. Pacheco, R. Berthiaume, G. Lobley, D. Pellerin, G. Allard, P. Dubreuil, and H. Lapierre. 2004. Effect of level of metabolizable protein on splanchnic flux of amino acids in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:3461-3472.
- Reid, J., O. D. White, R. Anrique, and A. Fortin. 1980. Nutritional energetics of livestock: some present boundaries of knowledge and future research needs. J. Anim. Sci. 51:1393-1415.
- Reynolds, C. 1995. Quantitative aspects of liver metabolism in ruminants. Ruminant physiology: digestion, metabolism, growth and reproduction
- Reynolds, C. 2005. Nitrogen metabolism by splanchnic tissues of ruminants. Pages 197-218 in Biology of Growing Animals. Vol. 3. Elsevier.
- Reynolds, C., S. Cammell, D. Humphries, D. Beever, J. Sutton, and J. Newbold. 2001. Effects of postrumen starch infusion on milk production and energy metabolism in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84:2250-2259.
- Reynolds, C. and N. B. Kristensen. 2008. Nitrogen recycling through the gut and the nitrogen economy of ruminants: an asynchronous symbiosis. J. Anim. Sci. 86:E293-E305.
- Reynolds, C. K., L. A. Crompton, and J. A. Mills. 2011. Improving the efficiency of energy utilisation in cattle. Anim. Prod. Sci. 51:6-12.
- Reynolds, C. K., G. B. Huntington, H. F. Tyrrell, and P. J. Reynolds. 1988. Net Portal-Drained Visceral and Hepatic Metabolism of Glucose, L-Lactate, and Nitrogenous Compounds in Lactating Holstein Cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 71:1803-1812.
- Rius, A., J. Appuhamy, J. Cyriac, D. Kirovski, O. Becvar, J. Escobar, M. McGilliard, B. Bequette, R. Akers, and M. Hanigan. 2010a. Regulation of protein synthesis in mammary glands of lactating dairy cows by starch and amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 93:3114-3127.
- Rius, A., M. McGilliard, C. Umberger, and M. Hanigan. 2010b. Interactions of energy and predicted metabolizable protein in determining nitrogen efficiency in the lactating dairy cow. J. Dairy Sci. 93:2034-2043.
- Rotz, C. 2004. Management to reduce nitrogen losses in animal production. J. Anim. Sci. 82:E119-E137.
- Rulquin, H., S. Rigout, S. Lemosquet, and A. Bach. 2004. Infusion of glucose directs circulating amino acids to the mammary gland in well-fed dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:340-349.
- Russell, J. B., J. O'connor, D. Fox, P. Van Soest, and C. Sniffen. 1992. A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: I. Ruminal fermentation. J. Anim. Sci. 70:3551-3561.

- Russell, J. B. and J. L. Rychlik. 2001. Factors that alter rumen microbial ecology. Science 292:1119-1122.
- Sannes, R., M. Messman, and D. Vagnoni. 2002. Form of Rumen-Degradable Carbohydrate and Nitrogen on Microbial Protein Synthesis and Protein Efficiency of Dairy Cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 85:900-908.
- Schmidely, P., F. Glasser, M. Doreau, and D. Sauvant. 2008. Digestion of fatty acids in ruminants: a meta-analysis of flows and variation factors. Animal 2:677-690.
- Schwab, C., C. Bozak, N. Whitehouse, and M. Mesbah. 1992. Amino acid limitation and flow to duodenum at four stages of lactation. 1. sequence of lysine and methionine limitation1, 2. J. Dairy Sci. 75:3486-3502.
- Schwab, C. G. and G. A. Broderick. 2017. A 100-Year Review: Protein and amino acid nutrition in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100:10094-10112.
- Schwartz, H. and F. Gilchrist. 1975. Microbial interactions with the diet and the host animal. Digestion and Metabolism in the Ruminant 165-179.
- Shabi, Z., H. Tagari, M. Murphy, I. Bruckental, S. Mabjeesh, S. Zamwel, K. Celik, and A. Arieli. 2000. Partitioning of amino acids flowing to the abomasum into feed, bacterial, protozoal, and endogenous fractions. J. Dairy Sci. 83:2326-2334.
- Shaver, R. 2005. By-product feedstuffs in dairy cattle diets in the upper midwest. Forage Resources & Information
- Shingfield, K., L. Bernard, C. Leroux, and Y. Chilliard. 2010. Role of trans fatty acids in the nutritional regulation of mammary lipogenesis in ruminants. Animal 4:1140-1166.
- Shingfield, K. J., M. Bonnet, and N. D. Scollan. 2013. Recent developments in altering the fatty acid composition of ruminant-derived foods. Animal 7:132-162.
- Shingfield, K. J., Y. Chilliard, V. Toivonen, P. Kairenius, and D. I. Givens. 2008. Trans fatty acids and bioactive lipids in ruminant milk. Pages 3-65 in Bioactive components of milk. Springer.
- Shingfield, K. J. and J. M. Griinari. 2007. Role of biohydrogenation intermediates in milk fat depression. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Tech. 109:799-816.
- Sniffen, C. J., J. O'connor, P. Van Soest, D. Fox, and J. Russell. 1992. A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: II. Carbohydrate and protein availability. J. Anim. Sci. 70:3562-3577.
- St-Pierre, N. and C. Thraen. 1999. Animal grouping strategies, sources of variation, and economic factors affecting nutrient balance on dairy farms. J. Anim. Sci. 77:72-83.
- Stokes, S., W. Hoover, T. Miller, and R. Blauweikel. 1991. Ruminal digestion and microbial utilization of diets varying in type of carbohydrate and protein. J. Dairy Sci. 74:871-881.
- Storm, A. C., N. B. Kristensen, and M. D. Hanigan. 2012. A model of ruminal volatile fatty acid absorption kinetics and rumen epithelial blood flow in lactating Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:2919-2934.
- Storm, E. and E. Ørskov. 1983. The nutritive value of rumen micro-organisms in ruminants: 1. Large-scale isolation and chemical composition of rumen micro-organisms. Br. J. Nutr. 50:463-470.
- Sylvester, J., S. Karnati, Z. Yu, C. J. Newbold, and J. Firkins. 2005. Evaluation of a real-time PCR assay quantifying the ruminal pool size and duodenal flow of protozoal nitrogen. J. Dairy Sci. 88:2083-2095.
- Tamminga, S. 1979. Protein degradation in the forestomachs of ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 49:1615-1630.

- Tamminga, S. 1992. Nutrition management of dairy cows as a contribution to pollution control. J. Dairy Sci. 75:345-357.
- Tso, P. and J. Balint. 1986. Formation and transport of chylomicrons by enterocytes to the lymphatics. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 250:G715-G726.
- Urrutia, N. L. and K. J. Harvatine. 2017. Acetate dose-dependently stimulates milk fat synthesis in lactating dairy cows. J. Nutr. 147:763-769.
- Van Horn, H., R. Nordstedt, A. Bottcher, E. Hanlon, D. Graetz, and C. Chambliss. 1991. Dairy manure management: strategies for recycling nutrients to recover fertilizer value and avoid environmental pollution. Circular-Florida Cooperative Extension Service (USA)
- Van Zijderveld, S., W. Gerrits, J. Apajalahti, J. Newbold, J. Dijkstra, R. Leng, and H. Perdok. 2010. Nitrate and sulfate: effective alternative hydrogen sinks for mitigation of ruminal methane production in sheep. J. Dairy Sci. 93:5856-5866.
- Voelker, J. and M. Allen. 2003. Pelleted beet pulp substituted for high-moisture corn: 3. Effects on ruminal fermentation, pH, and microbial protein efficiency in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:3562-3570.
- Wallace, R. J. 1996. Ruminal microbial metabolism of peptides and amino acids. J. Nutr. 126:1326S-1334S.
- Wang, F., H. Shi, S. Wang, Y. Wang, Z. Cao, and S. Li. 2019. Amino acid metabolism in dairy cows and their regulation in milk synthesis. Curr. Drug Metab. 20:36-45.
- Yan, T., C. Mayne, F. Gordon, M. Porter, R. Agnew, D. Patterson, C. Ferris, and D. Kilpatrick. 2010. Mitigation of enteric methane emissions through improving efficiency of energy utilization and productivity in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93:2630-2638.
- Zhu, W., Y. Fu, B. Wang, C. Wang, J. Ye, Y. Wu, and J.-X. Liu. 2013. Effects of dietary forage sources on rumen microbial protein synthesis and milk performance in early lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:1727-1734.
- Zimmerman, P. R. 1993. System for measuring metabolic gas emissions from animals. Google Patents.

CHAPTER II: INCREMENTAL AMOUNTS OF RUMEN PROTECTED-HISTIDINE INCREASE PLASMA AND MUSCLE HISTIDINE CONCENTRATIONS AND MILK PROTEIN YIELD IN DAIRY COWS FED A METABOLIZABLE PROTEIN-DEFICIENT DIET

ABSTRACT

The dairy industry can benefit from low crude protein (CP) diets due to reduced N excretion, but shortages of Met, Lys, and His may limit milk protein synthesis. We studied the effect of incremental amounts of rumen protected (RP)-His on plasma and muscle AA profile, nutrient utilization, and yields of milk and milk true protein in dairy cows. Eight multiparous Holstein cows (130 \pm 30 d in milk) were randomly assigned to treatment sequences in a replicated 4×4 Latin square design with 28-d experimental periods. Treatments included a basal diet composed (dry matter basis) of 50% corn silage, 15% haylage, and 35% concentrate supplemented with 0, 82, 164, and 246 g/d of RP-His and 11 g/d of RP-Met. Milk, plasma, and muscle samples were collected weekly or every other week during all 4 periods, whereas spot urine and fecal grab samples were taken only in wk 4 of each period. Data were analyzed individually by week using linear, quadratic, and cubic orthogonal polynomials and repeated measures. Plasma His increased linearly with RP-His during wk 1 (30.3 to 57.2 μ M) to wk 4 $(33.2 \text{ to } 63.1 \text{ }\mu\text{M})$. Plasma carnosine increased linearly with supplemental RP-His except in wk 2. No treatment effect was observed for plasma 3-methylhistidine except a quadratic effect in wk 3. Inclusion of RP-His showed linear effects on muscle His in wk 2 (20.1 to 32.5 μ M) and 4 (20.3 to 35.5 μ *M*). Whereas muscle anserine and carnosine concentrations were not affected by treatments in wk 4, anserine responded quadratically and carnosine showed a trend for a quadratic response to RP-His in wk 2. During wk 4, treatments did not affect urinary excretion of total purine derivatives, as well as dry matter intake and milk concentrations of fat and true protein. In contrast, milk yield tended to increase linearly (31.2 to 32.7 kg/d) and milk true protein yield responded linearly (0.93 to 0.98 kg/d) to RP-His supplementation in wk 4. Also, milk urea-N (11.7 to 12.9 mg/dL) and urinary excretion of urea-N (23.7 to 27.0% of N intake)

increased linearly with feeding RP-His in wk 4. Overall, RP-His was effective to enhance plasma and muscle concentrations of His and milk protein synthesis. Elevated milk urea-N and urinary excretion of urea-N suggest that plasma His may have exceeded the requirement with excess N converted to urea in the liver. Future research is needed to determine the bioavailability of RP-His supplements to improve the accuracy of diet formulation for AA.

Key words: low crude protein diet, nitrogen efficiency, metabolizable protein, rumen-protected amino acid

INTRODUCTION

According to NRC (2001), maximum yields of milk and milk protein were obtained at 22 to 23% dietary CP based on regression approaches. However, such high-CP diets have been shown to reduce milk N efficiency (i.e., milk N/N intake), increase environmental N pollution, and shrink the profit margin of dairy producers due to the high costs of protein sources (Broderick, 2003; Olmos Colmenero and Broderick, 2006). Feeding low-CP diets improved milk N efficiency and reduced urinary N excretion, but also decreased yields of milk and milk true protein (Broderick et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2011), which may be attributed to deficient RDP supply or reduced intake of digestible Lys, Met, and His (**dLys, dMet**, and **dHis**) or both. Methionine and Lys are usually co-limiting AA (first or second) in typical US diets (Schwab et al., 1976; NRC, 2001), and His may become the third limiting AA in MP-deficient rations (Lee et al., 2012). One common way to mitigate dietary shortages of Lys, Met, and His is through supplementation of rumen protected (**RP**) AA (Whitehouse et al., 2017).

Rumen-protected AA supplements are characterized by low ruminal degradation and variable intestinal absorption of AA, thus resulting in different amounts of Lys, Met, and His transported into the blood (Lee et al., 2012; Whitehouse et al., 2017; Zang et al., 2017). Doepel and Lapierre (2010) suggested that increased plasma concentrations of EAA stimulated their uptake by the mammary gland, which in turn improved yields of milk and milk protein. While supplementation of MP-deficient diets with RP-Met and RP-Lys has steadily elevated the concentrations of these 2 EAA in plasma of lactating dairy cows, a similar consistent response has not been observed with feeding RP-His based on previous research (Lee et al., 2012; Giallongo et al., 2015, 2016). For instance, Lee et al. (2012) and Giallongo et al. (2016) observed that supplementing 120 g/d of RP-His to 10% MP-deficient diets increased plasma His

concentration by an average of 64% in two 10-wk randomized complete block design studies. However, plasma concentration of His did not change when adding 50 g/d of RP-His to a 5% MP-deficient diet in another 10-wk randomized complete block design experiment (Giallongo et al., 2015). These inconsistent results may be attributed to the use of labile pools of His including intramuscular carnosine (β -alanyl-L-His) and anserine (β -alanyl-*N*-methylHis) and blood hemoglobin during short-term His deficiency (Lapierre et al., 2008).

In recent years, a growing number of studies have been conducted to explore the metabolism of endogenous His reserves in lactating dairy cows. Lapierre et al. (2014) reported that muscle carnosine and anserine showed quadratic responses to abomasal infusions of His ranging from 0 to 22.8 g/d. In contrast, muscle carnosine and anserine were not different between a His-deficient and a His-adequate diet (Giallongo et al., 2015). Blood hemoglobin was not affected by infusing His abomasally (Lapierre et al., 2014) or feeding RP-His to lactating dairy cows (Giallongo et al., 2016). However, information is lacking regarding the metabolism of endogenous His pools in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets supplemented with varying levels of RP-His. Our central hypothesis is that plasma and muscle concentrations of His would respond linearly to increasing amounts of RP-His fed to lactating dairy cows. The primary objective of our study was to investigate the effect of incremental amounts of RP-His on plasma and muscle AA profile, nutrient utilization, and yields of milk and milk true protein in mid-lactation Holstein cows. A secondary objective was to assess the temporal changes of His and His-containing metabolites by collecting blood samples weekly and conducting muscle biopsies every other week during a RP-His dose-response study in a Latin square design.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (protocol no. 170202) of the University of New Hampshire (Durham). The experiment was conducted at the University of New Hampshire Fairchild Dairy Teaching and Research Center (Durham) from March to July 2017.

Cows, Experimental Design, and Treatments

Eight multiparous Holstein cows averaging (mean \pm SD) 130 \pm 30 DIM, 42 \pm 2 kg/d of milk, and 717 \pm 53 kg of BW in the beginning of the study were used in a replicated 4 \times 4 Latin square design with 28-d experimental periods. Cows were blocked by DIM and milk yield, and within each block, randomly assigned to treatment sequences. Squares were balanced for potential first-order carryover effects in subsequent periods as each treatment immediately preceded and followed every other exactly once in each square (Williams, 1949; Kim and Stein, 2009). Animals were housed in a tie-stall barn equipped with water bowels for free access to water and feed tubes for individual intake measurements. Dietary ingredients were mixed and offered as TMR twice daily at 0600 and 1700 h using a Super Data Ranger mixer (American Calan Inc., Northwood, NH). Orts were collected and weighed once daily before the afternoon feeding. Feed offered was adjusted daily to achieve 5 to 10% orts and cows were milked twice a day at 0530 and 1630 h. Feed intake and milk yield were recorded throughout the experiment. Cows were weighed (Northeast Scale Co., Hooksett, NH) immediately after the afternoon milking during 3 consecutive days before the beginning of the study and at the end of each period to compute BW change. Body condition score was determined by 3 trained individuals

before the beginning of the experiment and on the last day of each period following the procedures outlined by Wildman et al. (1982).

During the 2-wk covariate period, all cows received the same diet fed as TMR (17.2% CP, 28.1% NDF, and 4.2% ether extract) consisting of (DM basis): 44.7% corn silage, 12.6% mixed-mostly grass-legume haylage, and 42.7% concentrate. The covariate period was used to reduce animal variation in Latin square designs as reported by Whitehouse et al. (2017). Milk samples were collected on d 13 and 14 of the covariate period, and blood (coccygeal vessels) and muscle (longissimus dorsi) samples were taken on d 14.

Treatments included a basal diet supplemented with 0, 82, 164, and 246 g/d of RP-His (0, 5, 10, and 15 g/d of dHis, respectively) in addition to 11 g/d of RP-Met (6.6 g/d of dMet); the RP-AA supplements were top-dressed on top of the TMR. The basal diet consisted of (DM basis): 50% corn silage, 15% mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, and 35% concentrate. It was formulated using the NRC (2001) to meet 100% NE_L and 82.5% MP requirements for a dairy cow averaging 680 kg of BW, 130 DIM, 42 kg/d of milk, 3.70% of milk fat, and 2.75% of milk true protein. According to NRC (2001), dietary His represented 2.06, 2.28, 2.52, and 2.75% of MP supply, respectively. The RP-His supplement used is a prototype product (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan) containing 44% of His with 14% bioavailability (A. Haruno, senior researcher at Ajinomoto Co. Inc.; personal communication). Smartamine[®] M (Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), which contains 75% DL-Met and 80% bioavailability (Graulet et al., 2005), was used as the RP-Met supplement.

Feed Sampling and Analyses

Corn silage, mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, TMR, and ort samples were collected twice weekly and composited by week. Samples of concentrates (i.e., ground corn, beet pulp, soybean meal, steam-flaked corn, canola meal, liquid molasses, and corn dried distillers grains with solubles) were collected by Poulin Grain Inc. (Newport, VT) every time a new batch of grain mix was shipped. All feed samples were equally divided into 2 subsamples, with the first set dried (55°C, 48 h) in a forced-air oven (VWR Scientific, Radnor, PA) for determination of DM to adjust the TMR on an as-fed basis and to calculate DMI. The second set was lyophilized for 48 h (Labconco Inc., Kansas City, MO), composited by period, ground with a Wiley mill (A. H. Thomas Co., Swedesboro, NJ) to pass through a 1-mm screen, and stored in air-tight glass jars until nutritional analysis.

Lyophilized and ground (1 mm) samples of dietary ingredients were shipped to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. (Ithaca, NY) and analyzed for DM, CP, soluble protein, aNDFom, ADF, NDIN, ADIN, ADL, starch, ethanol soluble carbohydrates, ether extract, and ash using the procedures reported by Pereira et al. (2017) and Ghedini et al. (2018). Individual minerals (Ca, P, Mg, K, Na, S, Fe, Zn, Cu, Mn, and Mo) were also analyzed with the procedures mentioned by Ghedini et al. (2018), while Cl ion was determined by a Brinkmann Metrohm 716 Titrino Titration Unit with a silver electrode (Metrohm application bulletin no. 130, Metrohm Ltd., Herisau, Switzerland).

Lyophilized and ground (1 mm) samples of dietary ingredients were further ground (Wiley mill, A. H. Thomas Co.) to pass through a 0.5-mm screen and used for determination of AA by cation exchange chromatography-HPLC coupled with postcolumn ninhydrin derivatization with norleucine as the internal standard (method 982.30; AOAC International,

2016; University of Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station Chemical Laboratory, Columbia). Tryptophan was determined after alkaline hydrolysis and sulfur AA were analyzed after performic acid oxidation (method 988.15; AOAC International, 2016). Additionally, TMR and orts were analyzed for CP, NDF, ADF, and ash at Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory.

Blood and Muscle Sampling and Analyses

Blood samples were collected into vacutainer EDTA tubes (Monoject, Mansfield, MA) via the coccygeal vein or artery approximately 4 h after the morning feeding on d 7 of wk 1 to 4 of each experimental period. For plasma collection, tubes were immediately placed in a chill bucket with beads (Chemglass Life Sciences, Vineland, NJ) and transported to the laboratory for centrifugation ($2,155 \times g, 20 \text{ min}, 4^{\circ}$ C) using an Eppendorf centrifuge (model 5810, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Plasma samples were used to determine the profile of AA, His-containing metabolites, and urea-N (**PUN**) at Ajinomoto Co. Inc. using a High-Speed AA analyzer L-8900 (Hitachi High-Technologies Co., Tokyo, Japan) following the procedures stated by the manufacturer (http://www.hitachi-hta.com/sites/default/files/literature/L-8900% 20Brochure.pdf). Codified plasma samples were sent to Ajinomoto Co. Inc. to preserve the identity of treatments.

Biopsies were performed by sampling the longissimus dorsi muscle on d 7 of wk 2 and 4 of each experimental period. Cows were moved out of their stalls, brought to a surgical room, and immobilized in a hoof trimming chute. The surgical area (between the 12th and 13th transverse processes) was clipped and sanitized by scrubbing with povidone surgical scrub and 91% isopropyl alcohol (vol/vol). Next, cows were anesthetized by injecting 4 mL of 2% lidocaine hydrochloride (wt/vol) subcutaneously down to the musculature on either side of the biopsy site (8 mL total). A 2.5-cm incision was made through the skin with a sterile scalpel blade

to expose the muscle and obtain a sample of tissue using an 8-mm Baker's dermal punch (Patterson Veterinary Supply, Devens, MA). Samples (~1.0 g/cow) were immediately placed in a container with dry ice, transported to the laboratory, and stored at -80° C until analysis. The biopsy sites were closed with non-absorbable sutures (Braunamid, Patterson Veterinary Supply) and monitored closely to avoid infection until sutures were removed within 2 wk. After thawing at room temperature, muscle tissues were homogenized with a tissue homogenizer (Omni International Inc., Kennesaw, GA), deproteinized with 0.61 *N* trichloroacetic acid, and finally treated with n-hexane to extract AA and dipeptides. Sample extracts were shipped codified to Ajinomoto Co. Inc. and analyzed for carnosine, anserine, and AA profile using a High-Speed AA analyzer L-8900 as reported previously.

Fecal and Urinary Sampling and Analyses

Fecal grab samples were taken directly from the rectum or during voluntary defecation at 8 timepoints (1000, 1600, and 2200 h on d 25; 0400, 1300, and 1900 h on d 26; and 0100 and 0800 h on d 27) in wk 4 of each experimental period. Fecal samples (~200 g/sampling) were collected into 100-mL specimen containers and transferred into 4-L storage bags to obtain composited samples by cow per period. Next, samples were dried in a forced-air oven (VWR Scientific) at 55°C for approximately 72 h and ground (Wiley mill, A. H. Thomas Co.) to pass through a 1-mm screen. Fecal samples were analyzed for DM, CP, NDF, ADF, and ash at Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory. Moreover, duplicate samples (~0.5 g) of feces and TMR were weighed into Ankom F57 bags (25 μm pore size; Ankom Technology, Macedon, NY), placed in larger laundry nylon bags, and inserted in the rumen of 2 ruminally cannulated lactating Holstein cow for 12 d. After removal from the rumen, bags were rinsed with tap water and analyzed in-

house for ADF using an Ankom²⁰⁰⁰ fiber analyzer (Ankom Technology). Indigestible ADF (**iADF**) obtained from TMR and feces was used as the internal marker to estimate fecal output of DM and apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients (Cochran et al., 1986; Huhtanen et al., 1994).

Spot urine samples were collected concurrently with fecal samples into 100-mL specimen containers through stimulation of the pudendal nerve by massaging the area below the vulva or during voluntary urination in wk 4 of each experimental period. After each sampling, 1 mL of urine was pipetted into 50-mL centrifuge tubes containing 32 mL of $0.072 N H_2SO_4$ to obtain composited urine samples by cow per period. Urine samples were stored at -20°C before analyses of nitrogenous compounds. After thawing at room temperature, samples were analyzed for concentrations of creatinine (assay kit no. 500701, Cayman Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI) using a chromate microplate reader set at a wavelength of 492 nm (Awareness Technology Inc., Palm City, FL), allantoin (Chen et al., 1992), uric acid (assay kit no. 1045–225; Stanbio Laboratory, Boerne, TX), urea-N (diacetyl-monoxime method of Rosenthal, 1955), and total-N (micro-Kjeldahl analysis, AOAC, 1990; Dairy One Cooperative Inc.). Allantoin, uric acid, and urea-N were read at wavelengths of 540, 522, and 520 nm, respectively, on a UV/visible spectrophotometer (Beckman Coulter Inc., Pasadena, CA). Daily urine volume was estimated from urinary creatinine concentration assuming a constant creatinine excretion rate of 29 mg/kg of BW (Valadares et al., 1999). Urinary excretion of urea-N, total-N, allantoin, uric acid, and purine derivatives (allantoin + uric acid) were calculated by multiplying the concentration of each of these metabolites by the urinary volume.

Milk Sampling and Analyses

Milk samples were collected using automatic samplers during 4 consecutive milkings starting in the afternoon milking of d 6 in wk 1 to 4 of each experimental period. Milk samples were transferred into tubes preserved with 2-bromo-2-nitropropan-1,3 diol (Broad Spectrum Microtabs II; Advanced Instruments Inc., Norwood, MA), pooled by cow proportionally to the morning and afternoon milk weights, and stored at 4°C until analysis. Milk samples were shipped to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. and analyzed for concentrations of fat, true protein, lactose, and MUN by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy using a MilkoScan FT+ (Foss Inc., Hillerød, Denmark).

Statistical Analyses

The present study was conducted as a replicated 4×4 Latin square design with milk, plasma, and muscle samples collected weekly or every other week. This sampling regime allowed the statistical analyses to be conducted using data from individual week of each period to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects in response to incremental amounts of RP-His supplementation as follows: wk 1 (d 1 to 7 of periods 1 to 4), wk 2 (d 8 to 14 of periods 1 to 4), wk 3 (d 15 to 21 of periods 1 to 4), and wk 4 (d 22 to 28 of periods 1 to 4). In addition, repeated measures were used to evaluate the temporal changes of plasma and muscle AA concentrations in response to RP-His supplementation. Data on apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary N excretion are from wk 4 of each experimental period because no collections of spot urine and fecal grab samples were conducted during wk 1 to 3.

Data (i.e., plasma and muscle AA concentrations, DMI, yields of milk and milk components) were analyzed as a replicated 4×4 Latin square design using the MIXED

procedure of SAS (SAS version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) according to the following model:

$$Y_{ijkl} = \mu + S_i + C_{j(i)} + P_k + T_l + S_i \times T_l + \beta Cov_{ijkl} + e_{ijkl}$$

where, $Y_{ijkl} =$ dependent variable, $\mu =$ overall mean, $S_i =$ fixed effect of square (i = 1 to 2), $C_{j(i)} =$ random effect of cow nested within square, $P_k =$ fixed effect of period (k = 1 to 4), $T_l =$ fixed effect of treatment (l = 1 to 4), $S_i \times T_k =$ interaction between ith square and lth treatment, $\beta =$ regression coefficient of the covariate term Cov_{ijkl} , $Cov_{ijkl} =$ covariate variable for the jth cow within the ith square of the lth treatment in the kth period, and $e_{ijkl} =$ residual error. The covariate term was removed from the statistical model when P > 0.25. Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous metabolites were analyzed with the same model presented above without the covariate term. Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects in response to incremental amounts of RP-His supplementation. All data except digestibility of nutrients and urinary N excretion were reported as covariate-adjusted LSM ± SEM. Significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

Plasma and muscle concentrations of His and His-containing metabolites were further analyzed as repeated measures using the MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS version 9.4) according to the following model:

$$Y_{ijklm} = \mu + S_i + C_{j(i)} + P_k + T_l + S_i \times T_l + e1_{ijkl} + W_m + T_l \times W_m + \beta Cov_{ijklm} + e2_{ijklm}$$

where, Y_{ijklm} = dependent variable, μ = overall mean, S_i = fixed effect of square (i = 1 to 2), $C_{j(i)}$ = random effect of cow nested within square, P_k = fixed effect of period (k = 1 to 4), T_1 = fixed effect of treatment (l = 1 to 4), $S_i \times T_k$ = interaction between ith square and lth treatment, $e1_{ijkl}$ = whole plot error, W_m = fixed effect of week (m = 1 to 4) analyzed as repeated measure, $T_1 \times W_m$ = interaction between lth treatment and mth week, β = regression coefficient of the covariate term Cov_{ijklm}, Cov_{ijklm} = covariate variable for the jth cow within the ith square of the lth treatment in the mth wk of the kth period, and e_{2ijklm} = subplot error. The SAS command REPEATED was used to model distinct residual variances. The covariance structures (compound symmetry, autoregressive, and heterogeneous first-order autoregressive) were tested and the one with the smallest Akaike's information criterion coefficient was retained in the final model. The covariate term was removed from the statistical model when P > 0.25. Significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

RESULTS

The nutritional composition of the dietary ingredients is presented in Table 2.1. Table 2.2 shows the AA profile (% of CP) of different feeds used in the basal diet. The ingredient and nutritional composition of the basal diet are presented in Table 2.3, and the NRC (2001) evaluation of the experimental diets is shown in Table 2.4.

Plasma AA and His-Containing Metabolites

Treatment effects on plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites from wk 1 to 3 of each experimental period are shown in Supplemental Tables S2.1 to S2.3, and Table 2.5 shows plasma AA values during wk 4. The plasma concentrations of His increased linearly in all 4 wk with feeding incremental amounts of RP-His. Plasma His also showed a quadratic effect in wk 1 (Supplemental Table S2.1) and a quadratic trend (P = 0.08) in wk 3 (Supplemental Table S2.3). Except for His, treatments did not affect the plasma concentration of the remaining EAA during wk 4 (Table 2.5); however, RP-His supplementation modified the plasma concentrations of other EAA during wk 1 and 3. For instance, the plasma concentrations of Lys, Met, Phe, Thr,

and Trp all responded quadratically to supplemental RP-His during wk 1 ($P \le 0.05$). Although no changes were observed in wk 2, the plasma concentrations of Arg, Leu, Ile Lys, Phe, and Val decreased linearly ($P \le 0.06$) in dairy cows fed various levels of RP-His during wk 3. Treatments did not change the plasma concentration of 3-methylhistidine (**3-MHis**) apart from a quadratic effect (P = 0.03) in wk 3. Incremental amounts of RP-His increased the plasma concentration of carnosine linearly in all but wk 2.

Muscle AA Profile and His-containing Dipeptides

The effects of various dietary levels of RP-His on concentrations of muscle AA, carnosine, and anserine during wk 2 and 4 of each experimental period are presented in Supplemental Table S2.4 and Table 2.6, respectively. The concentrations of muscle His increased linearly in wk 2 and 4 in response to incremental amounts of RP-His. While muscle Lys concentration increased linearly during wk 2, no change was observed in wk 4. Muscle Met concentrations were not altered by RP-His throughout the study. The muscle concentrations of other EAA and all NEAA were not affected by treatments during wk 2 or 4. Likewise, no treatment effects were observed for muscle carnosine and anserine concentrations during wk 4. However, the concentration of muscle carnosine tended (P = 0.08) to respond quadratically and that of muscle anserine changed quadratically during wk 2, with the lowest values observed in cows offered 82 to 164 g/d of RP-His.

Nutrient Digestibility and Urinary N Excretion

Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous metabolites during wk 4 of each experimental period are shown in Table 2.7. Treatments did not

affect the apparent total-tract digestibilities of DM (mean = 75.3%), OM (mean = 76.8%), NDF (mean = 65.6%), and ADF (mean = 68.4%), and CP (mean = 75.5%). The urinary concentration of creatinine tended (P = 0.09) to decrease linearly with feeding incremental amounts of RP-His. Estimated urinary volume, and urinary excretion of urea-N (g/d and % of N intake) and total-N (g/d) increased linearly in response to RP-His. In contrast, supplemental RP-His did not affect the output of urea-N expressed as a proportion of total urinary-N excretion (mean = 68.4%) or total urinary-N excretion as a proportion of N intake (mean = 36.8%). Likewise, urinary excretion of uric acid (mean = 39.1 mmol/d), allantoin (mean = 464 mmol/d), and purine derivatives (mean = 503 mmol/d) was not affected by treatments.

Intake and Milk Yield and Composition

Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, PUN, BW, and BCS from wk 1 to 3 of each experimental period are presented in Supplemental Tables S2.5 to S1.7, and Table 2.8 shows production data during wk 4. Although treatments had no effect on DMI (mean = 22 kg/d), milk yield tended (P = 0.09) to increase linearly in cows fed incremental amounts of RP-His (Table 2.8). Yields of 4% FCM responded to RP-His in a cubic fashion, whereas ECM tended (P = 0.06) to respond cubically. Feed efficiency expressed as milk yield/DMI and 4% FCM yield/DMI increased linearly, and ECM yield/DMI showed a cubic response to elevated RP-His. Concentrations of milk fat, true protein, and lactose did not differ and averaged 3.99, 2.99, and 4.86% across treatments, respectively. Yield of milk true protein increased linearly and tended (P = 0.07) to increase quadratically in cows fed incremental amounts of RP-His. Similarly, milk lactose yield tended (P = 0.06) to increase linearly with feeding various levels of RP-His. Concentrations of both MUN (from 11.5 to 13.2 mg/dL) and

PUN (from 10.7 to 13.0 mg/dL) concentrations increased linearly. There were no treatment effects for BCS (mean = 3.10), BW (mean = 728 kg), and BW change (mean = 0.17 kg/d) in the current experiment.

Temporal Changes of Plasma and Muscle His and His-containing Metabolites

No week or treatment by week interaction effect was observed for the plasma concentration of His in cows fed incremental amounts of RP-His (Figure 1A). Plasma carnosine concentration did not differ between wk 1 and 2 and increased thereafter (P < 0.001; Figure 1B); however, no treatment × week interaction was detected. Although no treatment by week interaction was observed for 3-MHis, its plasma concentration was greatest in wk 2, intermediate in wk 1, and lowest in wk 3 and 4 (Figure 1C; P < 0.01). No week or treatment × week interaction was observed for muscle His in response to RP-His supplementation (Figure 2A). We did not observe any effect of wk or treatment × week interaction for muscle concentrations of carnosine or anserine (Figures 2B and 2C, respectively).

DISCUSSION

The proportions of His, Met, and Lys of corn silage, mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, and ground corn differed slightly from those reported in the NRC (2001), and larger differences in AA profile were observed for the remaining feedstuffs. The basal diet averaged 15.1% CP and has adequate NFC concentration (mean = 41.4%). The forage NDF concentration averaged 30% due to the high dietary forage-to-concentrate ratio (65:35) in our basal diet.

According to NRC (2001), dietary NE_L supplies were above the requirements for all experimental diets and the NE_L balance ranged from 0.4 Mcal/d in cows fed 246 g/d of RP-His

to 2.4 Mcal/d in those that did not receive RP-His. The supplies of MP varied from 1 to 6% below the requirements, with the greatest MP deficiency (i.e., -136 g/d) observed in cows fed 246 g/d of RP-His. All 4 diets provided adequate RDP (~3% above the requirements), whereas dietary RUP balance varied from 4 to 15% below the requirements and displayed a pattern like that observed for MP balance. An 8% deficiency in dHis relative to requirement was estimated for the control diet (i.e., 0 g/d of RP-His). However, surpluses of 13% (164 g/d of RP-His) and 18% (246 g/d of RP-His) or no deficiency (82 g/d of RP-His) were also observed. Although dMet supplies exceeded the requirements across all 4 diets, dMet balance slightly decreased from +8 to +6 g/d as supplemental RP-His increased from 0 to 246 g/d. The requirements (from 143 to 148 g/d) and supplies (from 144 to 141 g/d) of dLys changed with feeding incremental amounts of RP-His, resulting in a dLys balance that went from slightly positive (+1 g/d; 0 g/d RP-His diet) to negative (-7 g/d; 246 g/d RP-His diet). This may have happened because a source of RP-Lys was not used in the current study or due to the high inclusion of corn silage (i.e., 50%, DM basis) in the basal diet.

A linear response in plasma His was observed in the first week after the beginning of RP-His supplementation, indicating that short-length periods (i.e., 7-d long) in a Latin square design may be suitable to assess the relative bioavailability of His from RP-His supplements as reported for Lys from RP-Lys products (Whitehouse et al., 2017). A sharp elevation in circulating His was observed between 0 and 164 g/d of RP-His supplementation, which was followed by a less pronounced increase from 164 to 246 g/d of RP-His. This was expected because dHis balance averaged -4, 0, +6, and +9 g/d in cows fed 0, 82, 164, and 246 g/d of RP-His, respectively. The increase in plasma His with feeding 246 g/d of RP-His (15 g/d of dHis) ranged from 87% (wk 2) to 99% (wk 3) relative to the control diet. Lapierre et al. (2014) and Ouellet et al. (2014) reported that the plasma concentration of His increased by 258 and 157%, respectively, after abomasal infusion of 15.2 g/d of His in lactating dairy cows. The lower response in plasma His to supplemental His compared with Lapierre et al. (2014) and Ouellet et al. (2014) is consistent with dietary His supply being less deficient herein (2.06% of MP supply) than in these 2 earlier studies (mean = 1.55% of MP supply), suggesting that excess His was catabolized in the liver with the carbon skeleton used for energy supply and the amino group for urea synthesis. In fact, concentrations of MUN and PUN increased linearly in cows fed various levels of RP-His, which was consistent with both deamination of His and enhanced N intake. Supplementation of RP-His has been shown to increase plasma concentration of His in most (Lee et al., 2012; Giallongo et al., 2016, 2017) but not all studies (Giallongo et al., 2015), likely due to differences in MP balance across experiments. In addition, the methodology used to determine the bioavailability of His from RP-His supplements can result in varied estimations of dHis ultimately affecting the concentration of His in plasma.

Apart from His, incremental amounts of RP-His had no effects on plasma EAA concentrations during wk 4 but changes were observed during wk 1 to 3. These inconsistencies in weekly plasma EAA concentrations are possibly associated with the time required for cows to adapt to a new diet, variation in the AA profile of feeds, stage of lactation, and level of DMI and milk yield. In addition, a quadratic response in the plasma concentration of 3-MHis during wk 3 without changes in wk 1, 2, or 4 suggests transient muscle protein proteolysis. According to Houweling et al. (2012), the catabolism of actin and myosin in skeletal muscles releases 3-MHis, which has been considered a reliable indicator of muscle proteolysis in cattle (Harris and Milne, 1981). Swick and Benevenga (1977) concluded that the breakdown of muscle protein to provide AA for milk protein synthesis is a mechanism of normal metabolic adaptation sensitive to dietary

changes. Alternatively, it cannot be disregarded that some of these inconsistencies seen in our weekly plasma EAA data set may be random and an artifact of large number of AA analyses.

Comparable to our results, Ouellet et al. (2014) reported a linear increase in the plasma concentration of carnosine in cows abomasally infused with incremental amounts of His (0 to 38 g/d). More than 99% of carnosine, which is synthesized by carnosine synthase using His and Ala, is found in skeletal muscles (Maynard et al., 2001; Boldyrev et al., 2013). Therefore, it is conceivable that increased circulating concentrations of carnosine observed herein may be related to its transportation from skeletal muscles to plasma. Everaert et al. (2013) demonstrated that mRNA transcripts of the peptide/His transporter 1 and 2 were found in skeletal muscle samples of mouse and humans even though no data appear to be available for ruminants. Transportation from muscle to plasma may be related to the metabolic functions of carnosine including pH buffering, metal-ion chelation, antioxidant activity, and protection against the formation of advanced glycation and lipoxidation end products (Boldyrev et al., 2013). However, Lee et al. (2012) and Giallongo et al. (2015) reported no effect of 50 g/d of RP-His supplementation (54% estimated bioavailability) on plasma carnosine concentration of dairy cows, which was thus in disagreement with the results from the current study. Differences in the extent of MP deficiency, amount of RP-His fed, bioavailability estimations, and experimental design (changeover vs. continuous) may have all played a role in these discrepant results.

The muscle concentrations of His increased linearly during wk 2 and 4 in cows fed different levels of supplemental RP-His, thus consistent with increased plasma His concentration. In contrast, Giallongo et al. (2015) reported no change in muscle His concentration in dairy cows offered a MP-deficient diet supplemented with 50 g/d of RP-His, possibly because less RP-His was fed in their study than in the current experiment (82 to 246

g/d). Muscle Lys and Met concentrations were not altered by RP-His supplementation, except a linear increase in Lys during wk 2. Giallongo et al. (2015) reported no differences in the muscle concentrations of Lys and Met in lactating dairy cows fed RP-His. Discrepancies in muscle His concentrations between the present study and Giallongo et al. (2015) are potentially explained by animal, dietary, and experimental design factors discussed above.

Muscle carnosine and anserine concentrations were not affected by treatments during wk 4; however, a quadratic effect for anserine and a trend for carnosine were detected in wk 2 with the lowest values observed in cows offered 82 and 164 g/d of RP-His. Lapierre et al. (2014) reported linear and quadratic trends for the muscle concentration of anserine, and a quadratic trend for that of carnosine in lactating dairy cows abomasally infused with increasing amounts of His (0, 7.6, 15.2, and 22.8 g/d) in a Latin square study with 14-d periods. It has been proposed that intramuscular carnosine and anserine, and blood hemoglobin could serve as endogenous sources of His during short-term deficiency (Lapierre et al. (2008). Hemoglobin was not measured and the muscle concentrations of anserine and carnosine responded quadratically only during wk 2, indicating that based on the available data no definite conclusions can be made regarding the use of these 2 His-containing dipeptides as endogenous sources of His under the conditions of our study.

A decoupled response between plasma (increased linearly) and muscle (no change) carnosine concentrations during wk 4 was observed in the present study and agrees with data from Giallongo et al. (2017). Davey (1960) and Maynard et al. (2001) reported significant variations in carnosine concentrations among different skeletal muscles within individual animals and among the same type of muscles across different species, indicating that muscle fiber profile may be involved in these responses. For instance, the concentration of carnosine

increased 5-fold in the predominant oxidative fiber soleus muscle but not in the predominant glycolytic-oxidative fiber red vastus lateralis muscle or predominant oxidative white vastus lateralis muscle of rats fed carnosine (Maynard et al., 2001). The longissimus dorsi muscle contains more glycolytic than oxidative fibers (Kirchofer et al., 2002), which may explain the lack of effect of RP-His on muscle carnosine concentration. While muscle carnosine concentration increased steadily following oral administration of β -alanine to humans (Harris et al., 2006), plasma carnosine did not follow the same pattern due to the high activity of serum carnosinase-1 (Jackson et al., 1991; Everaert et al., 2012; Boldyrev et al., 2013). However, serum carnosinase-1 is not expressed in serum of ruminants (Jackson et al., 1991). Thus, this decouple muscle-plasma carnosine response could be also associated with the lack of serum carnosinase in cattle.

Supplementation of RP-His had no effects on apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients in the present study. However, the total-tract digestibilities of NDF (mean = 65.6%) and ADF (mean = 68.4%) appear to be overestimated possibly because of uncertainties associated with the adoption of iADF as the internal marker to estimate fecal output of DM. Recently, Velásquez et al. (2018) reported that the fecal recoveries of iADF averaged 147% with 2 fecal grab sampling procedures and 153% with a pooled sample obtained over 3 d of total collection in Holstein cows fed a corn silage-based diet. Fecal recovery greater than 100% can underestimate fecal DM output, resulting in overestimation of apparent total-tract fiber digestibility. Alternatively, cows in the present study consumed a moderate amount of DM (mean = 22 kg/d), which may have slowed down the digesta passage rate leading to increased fiber digestibility. Ferraretto and Shaver (2015) reported in their meta-analysis a range in apparent total-tract digestibility of NDF from 24.2 to 62.5% (mean = 43.8%) in dairy cows consuming diets containing corn silage

harvested from different types of corn hybrids. We obtained an apparent total-tract NDF digestibility of 42% using the prediction equation of de Souza et al. (2018) (i.e., NDF digestibility = $53 + 0.26 \times \%$ of grass silage in diet DM – $0.59 \times \%$ starch in diet DM + $3.06 \times$ DMI as % of BW – $0.46 \times$ DMI as % of BW²). This suggests that NDF digestibility may have been overestimated by 23 percentage units when using iADF as the internal marker. Nevertheless, our sampling protocol resulted in 8 fecal grab samples per cow over a 3-d period, thus following literature recommendations for improved estimation accuracy of nutrient digestibility in the total gastrointestinal tract (e.g., Sampaio et al., 2011; Velásquez et al., 2018; Morris et al., 2018).

Urinary excretion of urea N (g/d and % of N intake) and total N (g/d) responded linearly to RP-His supplementation. In contrast, Giallongo et al. (2015) reported no changes in urinary excretion of urea N and total N with feeding 50 g/d of RP-His to lactating dairy cows. Greater amounts of supplemental RP-His in the present study compared with that (84 to 246 g/d vs. 50 g/d) from Giallongo et al. (2015) led to elevated urinary N excretion, suggesting that excess His was deaminated with ammonia being converted to urea in the liver. Alternatively, the bioavailability of His from the RP-His supplement fed in our study may have been underestimated, resulting in excess His supply relative to requirements. Holter et al. (1982) demonstrated that urine volume responded to increased N intake, which agrees with results from the present study. Lee et al. (2012) and Giallongo et al. (2015) did not observe effects of RP-His on urinary excretion of uric acid, allantoin, and purine derivatives also in concordance with our results.

We observed that supplemental RP-His tended to improve milk yield linearly without an effect on DMI, resulting in improved feed efficiency (i.e., milk yield/DMI). In comparison,

Lapierre et al. (2014) reported that DMI tended to increase linearly and milk yield increased linearly with abomasal infusions of His in dairy cows fed a 28% MP-deficient diet. Ouellet et al. (2014) observed linear increases in both DMI and milk yield with various amounts of abomasal infusions of His in 25% MP-deficient diets. Our basal diet was only 1.3% deficient in MP and may explain to a certain extent the discrepant results between the current and previous studies (Lapierre et al., 2014; Ouellet et al., 2014). Giallongo et al. (2016) fed 2% MP-deficient diets supplemented or not with RP-Lys, RP-Met, or RP-His or containing all 3 RP-AA. Specifically, cows fed the MP-deficient diet plus RP-His (not balanced for Lys and Met) showed a tendency for increased DMI and no changes in yields of milk or ECM compared with those offered a MPdeficient ration without RP-AA supplementation (Giallongo et al., 2016). It should be noted that our diets went from slightly adequate to deficient in dLys, which may have affected milk yield responses as Lys together with Met are considered co-limiting AA in typical US dairy diets (Schwab et al., 1976; NRC 2001). Altogether, these results suggest that in addition to MP balance, the ingredient composition of the basal diet, production level, DIM, amount of supplemental His, and status of dLys, dMet, dHis, and possibly other EAA may be also involved in the discrepant results in DMI and milk yield across the literature in cows fed RP-His or receiving postruminal infusions of His.

Yields of 4% FCM and milk fat responded cubically, whereas ECM yield tended to respond cubically in cows fed incremental amounts of RP-His in the present study. Korhonen et al. (2000) reported cubic responses in concentration and yield of milk fat in dairy cows fed grass silage-based diets infused postruminally with 0, 2, 4, or 6 g of His/d. Although these cubic effects are difficult to explain biologically, they may be related to imbalances of nutrient supply at the gut or mammary tissues (Korhonen et al., 2000). In addition, a low number of cows (n = 8)

was used in our study, indicating that milk yield and milk composition data should be interpreted cautiously.

Milk true protein yield averaged 0.93 kg/d from 0 to164 g/d of RP-His and increased to 0.98 kg/d with feeding 246 g/d of RP-His during wk 4 (quadratic trend; P = 0.07), suggesting that milk protein synthesis was not stimulated by His supply up to 164 g/d of RP-His. As discussed above, although our diets had adequate dMet status, they were deficient in dLys and this may have affected milk protein synthesis. Giallongo et al. (2016) observed that supplementation of 120 g/d of RP-His did not modify milk true protein yield in dairy cows fed a MP-deficient diet with negative dLys and dMet balances. However, milk true protein increased significantly when RP-Lys, RP-Met, and RP-His were all supplemented to a MP-deficient diet in their experiment (i.e., Giallongo et al., 2016), thereby in agreement with data from Lee at al. (2012). No changes in plasma EAA concentrations apart from His were observed during wk 4 in cows receiving supplemental RP-His in the current study despite the quadratic trend for increased milk true protein yield. Milk yield was moderate in the present study and MP balance was slightly negative so that the EAA requirements for milk protein synthesis were lowered if compared with those of high-producing dairy cows. According to Patton et al. (2015), concentrations of circulating EAA are the product of duodenal flows of EAA, digestibility, and EAA utilization in different tissues. Although EAA can be removed by hepatic (Raggio et al., 2014), peripheral (Dalbach et al., 2011), and mammary tissues (Raggio et al., 2006), Patton et al. (2015) demonstrated that the plasma concentrations of EAA are mostly affected by duodenal flows of AA. Patton et al. (2015) also showed that prediction of plasma AA concentrations was not improved even when expressing supply relative to milk true protein output. They concluded

that the plasma concentrations of EAA appear to be tightly controlled elevating steadily in response to increased amounts of EAA reaching the small intestine.

No treatment by week interactions were observed for the plasma and muscle concentrations of His, His-containing dipeptides, and 3-MHis despite some significant week effects. For instance, plasma carnosine concentration did not change from wk 1 to 2 but increased from wk 2 to 4 (Figure 1B), which may be attributed to exportation of carnosine from muscle to blood as discussed in detail above. We also observed that the concentration of 3-MHis in plasma was greatest during wk 2, suggesting increased muscle proteolysis after cows have been on a given diet for about 14 d (Figure 1C). However, we do not have a definite explanation for this change in plasma 3-MHis concentration based on data available. Overall, His deficiency may not have been pronounced enough to trigger major temporal changes in plasma and muscle His and His-derived metabolites in the current study.

CONCLUSIONS

Our hypothesis that the concentrations of plasma and muscle His would increase linearly in response to incremental amounts of RP-His was confirmed. Furthermore, milk true protein yield tended to increase in a quadratic manner in dairy cows fed increasing levels of RP-His. Specifically, milk true protein yield averaged 0.93 kg/d from 0 to 164 g/d of RP-His and increased to 0.98 kg/d with feeding 246 g/d of RP-His. This suggests that milk protein synthesis was not stimulated by His supply up to 164 g/d of RP-His (i.e., 10 g/d of dHis) under the conditions of the present study. It is important to note that our diets went from slightly adequate to deficient in predicted dLys balance, which may have affected yields of milk and milk true protein despite adequate dMet status. Concentrations of MUN and PUN, as well as urinary excretion of urea N (g/d and % of N intake) and total N (g/d), increased linearly with the greatest values observed in cows offered 164 or 246 g of RP-His daily. Intriguingly, the threshold amount of RP-His that stimulated milk protein synthesis (i.e., ≥ 164 g/d or ≥ 10 g/d of dHis) also led to increased MUN, PUN, and urinary N excretion. These conflicting results could not be sorted out using our data, so future research is warranted to accurately determine the bioavailability of RP-His supplements and His requirements for milk protein synthesis. Continuous, dose-response production studies are particularly needed to provide further insights regarding His metabolism in high-producing dairy cows.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Partial funding was provided by the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station (Durham, NH; Scientific Contribution Number 2809). This work was also supported by the USDA-National Institute of Food and Agriculture Hatch Multistate NC-2042 (Project Number NH00616-R; Project Accession Number 1001855). We are grateful to the University of New Hampshire undergraduate students Ashley Bonnette, Marissa Prizio, Jonathan Decker, and Bronte Elias for assistance during feeding and sampling. A special thanks to Jon Whitehouse and his farm crew at the University of New Hampshire Fairchild Teaching and Research Center for research support and excellent animal care. Gratitude is extended to Dean Elder (University of New Hampshire Animal Resources Office) for performing the muscle biopsies.

REFERENCES

AOAC. 1990. Official Methods of Analysis. 15th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Arlington, VA. AOAC International. 2016. Official Methods of Analyses, 20th ed. AOAC International, Gaithersburg, MD.
- Boldyrev, A. A., G. Aldini, and W. Derave. 2013. Physiology and pathophysiology of carnosine. Physiol. Rev. 93:1803-1845.
- Broderick, G. 2003. Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1370-1381.
- Broderick, G., M. Stevenson, and R. Patton. 2009. Effect of dietary protein concentration and degradability on response to rumen-protected methionine in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:2719-2728.
- Chen, X., Y. Chen, M. Franklin, E. Orskov, and W. Shand. 1992. The effect of feed intake and body weight on purine derivative excretion and microbial protein supply in sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 70:1534-1542.
- Cochran, R., D. Adams, J. Wallace, and M. Galyean. 1986. Predicting digestibility of different diets with internal markers: evaluation of four potential markers. J. Anim. Sci. 63:1476-1483.
- Dalbach, K. F., M. Larsen, B. M. L. Raun, and N. B. Kristensen. 2011. Effects of supplementation with 2-hydroxy-4-(methylthio)-butanoic acid isopropyl ester on splanchnic amino acid metabolism and essential amino acid mobilization in postpartum transition Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:3913-3927.
- Davey, C. 1960. The significance of carnosine and anserine in striated skeletal muscle. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 89:303-308.
- de Souza, R., R. Tempelman, M. Allen, W. Weiss, J. Bernard, and M. VandeHaar. 2018. Predicting nutrient digestibility in high-producing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 101:1123-1135.
- Doepel, L. and H. Lapierre. 2010. Changes in production and mammary metabolism of dairy cows in response to essential and nonessential amino acid infusions. J. Dairy Sci. 93:3264-3274.
- Everaert, I., H. De Naeyer, Y. Taes, and W. Derave. 2013. Gene expression of carnosine-related enzymes and transporters in skeletal muscle. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 113:1169-1179.
- Everaert, I., Y. Taes, E. De Heer, H. Baelde, A. Zutinic, B. Yard, S. Sauerhöfer, L. Vanhee, J. Delanghe, and G. Aldini. 2012. Low plasma carnosinase activity promotes carnosinemia after carnosine ingestion in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 302:F1537-F1544.
- Ferraretto, L. and R. Shaver. 2015. Effects of whole-plant corn silage hybrid type on intake, digestion, ruminal fermentation, and lactation performance by dairy cows through a meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 98:2662-2675.
- Ghedini, C. P., D. C. Moura, R. A. V. Santana, A. S. Oliveira, and A. F. Brito. 2018. Replacing ground corn with incremental amounts of liquid molasses does not change milk enterolactone but decreases production in dairy cows fed flaxseed meal. J. Dairy Sci. 101:2096-2109.
- Giallongo, F., M. Harper, J. Oh, J. Lopes, H. Lapierre, R. Patton, C. Parys, I. Shinzato, and A. Hristov. 2016. Effects of rumen-protected methionine, lysine, and histidine on lactation performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:4437-4452.
- Giallongo, F., M. Harper, J. Oh, C. Parys, I. Shinzato, and A. Hristov. 2017. Histidine deficiency has a negative effect on lactational performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100:2784-2800.
- Giallongo, F., A. Hristov, J. Oh, T. Frederick, H. Wk, J. Werner, H. Lapierre, R. Patton, A. Gehman, and C. Parys. 2015. Effects of slow-release urea and rumen-protected methionine and histidine on performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:3292-3308.

- Graulet, B., C. Richard, and J. Robert. 2005. Methionine availability in plasma of dairy cows supplemented with methionine hydroxy analog isopropyl ester. J. Dairy Sci. 88:3640-3649.
- Harris, C. and G. Milne. 1981. The urinary excretion of N-methyl histidine by cattle: validation as an index of muscle protein breakdown. Br. J. Nutr. 45:411-422.
- Harris, R. C., M. Tallon, M. Dunnett, L. Boobis, J. Coakley, H. J. Kim, J. L. Fallowfield, C. Hill, C. Sale, and J. A. Wise. 2006. The absorption of orally supplied β-alanine and its effect on muscle carnosine synthesis in human vastus lateralis. Amino Acids 30:279-289.
- Holter, J., J. Byrne, and C. Schwab. 1982. Crude protein for high milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 65:1175-1188.
- Houweling, M., S. Van Der Drift, R. Jorritsma, and A. Tielens. 2012. Quantification of plasma 1-and 3-methylhistidine in dairy cows by high-performance liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. J. Dairy Sci. 95:3125-3130.
- Huhtanen, P., K. Kaustell, and S. Jaakkola. 1994. The use of internal markers to predict total digestibility and duodenal flow of nutrients in cattle given six different diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 48:211-227.
- Jackson, M. C., C. M. Kucera, and J. F. Lenney. 1991. Purification and properties of human serum carnosinase. Clin. Chim. Acta 196:193-205.
- Kim, B. G. and H. H. Stein. 2009. A spreadsheet program for making a balanced Latin square design. RCCP 22:591-596.
- Kirchofer, K., C. R. Calkins, and B. Gwartney. 2002. Fiber-type composition of muscles of the beef chuck and round. J. Anim. Sci. 80:2872-2878.
- Korhonen, M., A. Vanhatalo, T. Varvikko, and P. Huhtanen. 2000. Responses to graded postruminal doses of histidine in dairy cows fed grass silage diets. J. Dairy Sci. 83:2596-2608.
- Lapierre, H., D. Ouellet, L. Doepel, G. Holtrop, and G. Lobley. 2008. Histidine, lysine and methionine: From metabolism to balanced dairy rations. Pages 19-36 in Proc. Proc. 44th Eastern Nutrition Conference of the Animal Nutrition Association of Canada (ANAC), University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada. University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada.
- Lapierre, H., D. Ouellet, and G. Lobley. 2014. Estimation of histidine requirement in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:757.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, T. Cassidy, K. Heyler, H. Lapierre, G. Varga, M. De Veth, R. Patton, and C. Parys. 2012. Rumen-protected lysine, methionine, and histidine increase milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6042-6056.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, K. Heyler, T. Cassidy, M. Long, B. Corl, and S. Karnati. 2011. Effects of dietary protein concentration and coconut oil supplementation on nitrogen utilization and production in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:5544-5557.
- Maynard, L. M., G. A. Boissonneault, C. K. Chow, and G. G. Bruckner. 2001. High levels of dietary carnosine are associated with increased concentrations of carnosine and histidine in rat soleus muscle. J. Nutr. 131:287-290.
- Morris, D., L. Rebelo, P. Dieter, and C. Lee. 2018. Validating intrinsic markers and optimizing spot sampling frequency to estimate fecal outputs. J. Dairy Sci. 101:7980-7989.
- NRC. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th ed. Natl. Acad. Sci., Washington, DC.
- Olmos Colmenero, J. and G. Broderick. 2006. Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on milk production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1704-1712.

- Ouellet, D., G. Lobley, and H. Lapierre. 2014. Histidine requirement of dairy cows determined by the indicator amino acid oxidation (AAO) technique. J. Dairy Sci. 97:757.
- Patton, R., A. Hristov, C. Parys, and H. Lapierre. 2015. Relationships between circulating plasma concentrations and duodenal flows of essential amino acids in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:4707-4734.
- Pereira, A., N. Whitehouse, K. Aragona, C. Schwab, S. Reis, and A. Brito. 2017. Production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows fed ground field peas with or without ruminally protected lysine and methionine. J. Dairy Sci. 100:6239-6255.
- Raggio, G., S. Lemosquet, G. Lobley, H. Rulquin, and H. Lapierre. 2006. Effect of casein and propionate supply on mammary protein metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:4340-4351.
- Raggio, G., D. Pacheco, R. Berthiaume, G. Lobley, D. Pellerin, G. Allard, P. Dubreuil, and H. Lapierre. 2004. Effect of level of metabolizable protein on splanchnic flux of amino acids in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:3461-3472.
- Rosenthal, H. L. 1955. Determination of urea in blood and urine with diacetyl monoxime. Analyt. Chem. 27:1980-1982.
- Sampaio, C. B., E. Detmann, T. N. P. Valente, V. A. C. Costa, S. d. C. Valadares Filho, and A. C. d. Queiroz. 2011. Fecal excretion patterns and short term bias of internal and external markers in a digestion assay with cattle. R. Bras. Zootec. 40:657-665.
- Schwab, C. G., L. Satter, and A. Clay. 1976. Response of lactating dairy cows to abomasal infusion of amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 59:1254-1270.
- Swick, R. and N. Benevenga. 1977. Labile protein reserves and protein turnover. J. Dairy Sci. 60:505-515.
- Valadares, R., G. Broderick, S. Valadares Filho, and M. Clayton. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 82:2686-2696.
- Velásquez, A., G. da Silva, D. Sousa, C. Oliveira, C. Martins, P. Dos Santos, J. Balieiro, F. Rennó, and R. Fukushima. 2018. Evaluating internal and external markers versus fecal sampling procedure interactions when estimating intake in dairy cows consuming a corn silage-based diet. J. Dairy Sci. 101:5890-5901.
- Whitehouse, N. L., C. G. Schwab, and A. Brito. 2017. The plasma free amino acid dose-response technique: A proposed methodology for determining lysine relative bioavailability of rumen-protected lysine supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 100:9585-9601.
- Wildman, E., G. Jones, P. Wagner, R. Boman, H. Troutt, and T. Lesch. 1982. A dairy cow body condition scoring system and its relationship to selected production characteristics. J. Dairy Sci. 65:495-501.
- Williams, E. 1949. Experimental designs balanced for the estimation of residual effects of treatments. Aust. J. Chem. 2:149-168.
- Zang, Y., S. S. Samii, Z. Phipps, L. Tager, J. McFadden, and K. Krause. 2017. Comparative effects of multiple sources of rumen-protected methionine on milk production and serum amino acid levels in mid-lactation dairy cows. Pro. Anim. Sci. 33:692-699.

			Ground		Soybean	Steam-	Canola	Liquid	
Item	Corn silage	Haylage ¹	corn	Beet pulp	meal	flaked corn	meal	molasses	DDGS ²
No. of samples	4	4	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
DM, % of fresh matter	30.5 ± 0.97	27.7 ± 2.89	84.7 ± 1.63	86.6 ± 2.30	85.3 ± 0.23	80.7 ± 2.21	86.1 ± 0.20	59.3 ± 0.92	82.1 ± 0.32
СР	8.70 ± 0.29	17.4 ± 2.91	9.05 ± 0.92	8.65 ± 0.21	53.5 ± 0.99	8.30 ± 0.28	41.5 ± 0.00	7.00 ± 0.14	31.3 ± 0.49
Soluble protein, % of CP	61.5 ± 1.00	58.3 ± 1.26	26.0 ± 2.83	18.0 ± 1.41	31.5 ± 9.19	12.5 ± 0.71	21.5 ± 0.71	-	16.0 ± 1.41
NDICP ³	1.05 ± 0.21	3.00 ± 0.77	0.85 ± 0.21	5.65 ± 0.21	10.8 ± 0.64	1.30 ± 0.28	7.15 ± 1.06	-	5.75 ± 0.64
ADICP ⁴	0.58 ± 0.13	1.75 ± 0.49	0.30 ± 0.00	3.85 ± 0.21	3.05 ± 1.06	0.55 ± 0.35	2.55 ± 0.07	-	1.85 ± 0.35
aNDFom ⁵	44.0 ± 4.59	53.9 ± 6.61	7.60 ± 1.14	33.8 ± 1.84	11.4 ± 0.99	6.40 ± 0.42	27.8 ± 0.64	-	27.4 ± 0.71
ADF	26.5 ± 3.19	39.0 ± 4.76	3.15 ± 1.48	31.9 ± 3.11	7.75 ± 0.21	2.75 ± 0.78	23.2 ± 0.57	-	21.5 ± 0.71
ADL	3.30 ± 0.74	8.40 ± 1.27	0.75 ± 0.64	8.50 ± 2.55	0.95 ± 0.21	1.35 ± 0.49	11.7 ± 1.91	-	4.95 ± 0.07
NFC ⁶	40.0 ± 4.04	14.9 ± 2.81	77.9 ± 3.25	42.1 ± 0.42	27.2 ± 0.21	81.9 ± 0.85	18.7 ± 0.28	-	18.6 ± 1.34
Starch	32.4 ± 3.58	0.93 ± 0.49	72.4 ± 4.17	0.20 ± 0.07	0.65 ± 0.07	79.5 ± 1.98	0.50 ± 0.14	-	1.25 ± 0.21
ESC ⁷	2.03 ± 0.92	3.50 ± 0.76	1.35 ± 0.07	5.35 ± 0.35	14.1 ± 2.12	1.40 ± 0.14	7.10 ± 0.57	-	5.70 ± 0.14
Ether extract	3.28 ± 0.22	4.83 ± 0.46	3.90 ± 0.57	1.25 ± 0.07	1.15 ± 0.35	2.35 ± 0.21	4.40 ± 0.42	1.50 ± 0.14	17.3 ± 0.07
NEL, Mcal/kg of DM	1.60 ± 0.09	1.22 ± 0.12	2.10 ± 0.02	1.25 ± 0.06	1.90 ± 0.02	2.04 ± 0.02	1.61 ± 0.03	1.77 ± 0.05	2.33 ± 0.00
Ash	3.31 ± 1.54	9.02 ± 0.72	1.54 ± 0.39	14.2 ± 1.09	6.81 ± 0.10	1.00 ± 0.04	7.64 ± 0.06	16.0 ± 1.68	5.53 ± 0.01
Ca	0.22 ± 0.01	0.66 ± 0.14	0.02 ± 0.01	1.67 ± 0.18	0.33 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.00	0.84 ± 0.01	1.15 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.01
Р	0.29 ± 0.01	0.38 ± 0.04	0.31 ± 0.03	0.09 ± 0.00	0.77 ± 0.01	0.19 ± 0.01	1.28 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.00	1.09 ± 0.03
Mg	0.17 ± 0.01	0.28 ± 0.08	0.12 ± 0.01	0.31 ± 0.03	0.33 ± 0.00	0.07 ± 0.00	0.64 ± 0.03	0.46 ± 0.00	0.40 ± 0.01
Κ	1.17 ± 0.03	2.89 ± 0.24	0.38 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.01	2.36 ± 0.08	0.27 ± 0.01	1.24 ± 0.04	4.97 ± 0.13	1.24 ± 0.01
Na	0.01 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.02	0.00 ± 0.00	0.05 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.00	0.09 ± 0.00	0.12 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
S	0.12 ± 0.00	0.26 ± 0.06	0.11 ± 0.00	0.45 ± 0.08	0.46 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.00	0.82 ± 0.02	1.12 ± 0.01	0.38 ± 0.00
Cl	0.30 ± 0.01	0.64 ± 0.09	0.08 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	-	0.21 ± 0.00
Fe, mg/kg of DM	136 ± 57.3	267 ± 129	42.0 ± 17.0	$2{,}195 \pm 49.5$	117 ± 12.0	23.5 ± 6.36	210 ± 21.2	135 ± 17.0	108 ± 5.66
Zn, mg/kg of DM	23.3 ± 1.26	31.5 ± 2.65	22.5 ± 2.12	33.0 ± 0.00	51.5 ± 3.54	14.5 ± 0.71	65.0 ± 1.41	10.5 ± 0.71	72.5 ± 0.71
Cu, mg/kg of DM	6.25 ± 0.50	10.5 ± 1.73	3.00 ± 1.41	14.0 ± 0.00	16.5 ± 0.71	2.00 ± 0.00	8.00 ± 0.00	12.0 ± 1.41	11.0 ± 1.41
Mn, mg/kg of DM	12.0 ± 1.14	51.8 ± 10.2	7.00 ± 4.24	128 ± 6.36	36.0 ± 7.07	3.50 ± 0.71	70.0 ± 0.00	10.0 ± 1.41	15.0 ± 0.00
Mo, mg/kg of DM	1.05 ± 0.13	3.45 ± 1.13	0.45 ± 0.07	2.00 ± 0.00	6.85 ± 0.92	0.60 ± 0.14	1.40 ± 0.14	1.25 ± 0.07	1.10 ± 0.00

Table 2.1. Nutrient composition of dietary ingredients (mean \pm SD) used in the experimental diets (% of DM, unless otherwise noted)

¹Mixed-mostly grass-legume haylage. ²DDGS = Dried corn distillers grains with solubles. ³NDICP = neutral detergent insoluble CP.

 4 ADICP = acid detergent insoluble CP.

 ${}^{5}aNDFom = amylase-treated, ash-free NDF.$

 6 NFC = 100 – [(CP – NDICP) + NDF + ether extract + ash] 7 ESC = ethanol soluble carbohydrates (Hall et al., 1999).

Item	Corn silage	Haylage ¹	Ground corn	Beet pulp	Soybean meal	Steam- flaked corn	Canola meal	Liquid molasses	DDGS ²
EAA, % CP									
Arg	2.18	3.04	4.95	1.82	7.39	4.31	6.45	0.38	4.83
His	1.51	1.77	2.92	3.07	2.66	2.96	2.94	0.38	2.82
Ile	4.53	5.49	3.81	5.03	4.92	3.90	4.57	2.29	4.56
Leu	11.6	9.20	11.3	7.40	7.90	12.1	7.68	2.29	13.0
Lys	3.02	5.40	3.81	2.65	6.57	3.36	6.22	0.76	3.28
Met	2.01	1.86	2.03	2.51	1.44	2.15	2.19	0.00	2.09
Phe	4.70	5.65	4.95	4.75	5.32	5.11	4.43	1.53	5.56
Thr	3.52	4.73	3.68	5.31	3.97	3.63	4.65	2.29	4.10
Trp	0.67	1.18	0.89	2.51	1.52	1.08	1.46	0.76	0.97
Val	6.04	7.00	5.08	7.12	5.03	4.98	5.72	4.20	5.53
NEAA, % CP									
Ala	13.3	9.54	7.23	5.03	4.39	7.40	4.77	8.78	7.26
Asp	5.70	8.95	7.49	10.6	11.5	7.13	7.77	48.9	6.65
Cys	1.68	1.10	2.41	2.09	1.56	2.42	2.83	0.76	2.28
Gly	5.03	5.74	4.31	4.89	4.37	4.04	5.49	2.29	3.67
Glu	12.3	9.28	17.5	9.36	18.0	18.2	17.8	10.3	13.9
Orn	0.67	1.27	0.13	0.28	0.08	0.13	0.08	0.00	0.12
Pro	7.38	5.65	7.87	4.47	4.73	8.21	6.14	1.53	8.31
Ser	3.02	3.38	4.44	4.47	4.35	4.58	3.90	3.05	4.68
Tyr	2.35	3.12	2.66	6.28	3.78	2.29	3.14	2.29	4.37
Tau	2.01	0.93	2.03	3.63	0.23	1.62	0.25	4.20	0.23

Table 2.2. Amino acid composition of dietary ingredients used in the experimental diets (n = 1 composited sample/feedstuff)

¹Mixed mostly grass-legume haylage. ²Corn dried distillers grains with solubles

Item	Diet
Ingredient, % DM	
Corn silage	50.0
Mixed-mostly grass-legume haylage	15.2
Ground corn	9.17
Beet pulp	6.79
Soybean meal, 48% CP	5.54
Steam-flaked corn	3.04
BergaFat F100 ¹	3.00
Minerals and vitamins premix ²	3.00
Canola meal	1.75
Liquid molasses	1.00
Urea ³	0.83
Corn dried distillers grains with solubles	0.58
Smartamine [®] M ⁴	0.05
Nutrient composition	
DM, % of fresh matter	41.6
СР	15.1
aNDFom ⁵	34.8
Forage NDF	30.2
ADF	22.7
NFC	41.4
Ether extract	6.10
NE _L , Mcal/kg of DM	1.62
Ca	0.80
Р	0.40

Table 2.3. Ingredient and nutrient composition (% of DM, unless otherwise noted) of the basal diet used in the experimental treatments

¹BergaFat F100 is a product containing palmitic acid (Berg+Schimidt GmbH & Co., Hamburg, Germany).

²Contained (as-fed basis) 297 mg/kg of monensin sodium (Rumensin; Elanco, Greenfield, IN), 11.3% Ca, 1.76% P, 5.98% Mg, 6% K, 3% S, 15 mg/kg of Co, 650 mg/kg of Cu, 50 mg/kg of I, 1,200 mg/kg of Mn, 8.97 mg/kg of Se, 3,700 mg/kg of Zn, and 87.1 kIU/kg of vitamin A.

³Urea consists of 95.2% DM and 283% CP.

⁴Smartamine[®] M is a rumen-protected Met supplement (Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA). ⁵aNDFom = amylase-treated, ash-free NDF.

	RP-His									
Item ²	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d						
NE _L , Mcal/d										
Requirement	34.0	34.4	34.2	35.3						
Supply	36.4	35.8	36.3	35.7						
Balance	2.4	1.4	2.1	0.4						
MP, g/d										
Requirement	2,170	2,184	2,190	2,243						
Supply	2,141	2,107	2,141	2,107						
Balance	-29	-77	-49	-136						
RDP, g/d										
Requirement	2,256	2,218	2,247	2,210						
Supply	2,327	2,284	2,316	2,276						
Balance	70	67	69	66						
RUP, g/d										
Requirement	1,068	1,115	1,101	1,198						
Supply	1,030	1,014	1,024	1,017						
Balance	-38	-101	-77	-181						
dHis, ³ g/d										
Requirement ⁴	48	48	48	49						
Supply from the diet	44	43	44	43						
Supply from RP-His	0	5	10	15						
Balance	-4	0	6	9						
dMet, ³ g/d										
Requirement ⁴	48	48	48	49						
Supply from the diet	49	49	49	48						
Supply from RP-Met ⁵	7	7	7	7						
Balance	8	8	7	6						
dLys, ³ g/d										
Requirement ⁴	143	144	145	148						
Supply	144	141	143	141						
Balance	1	-3	-2	-7						

Table 2.4. NRC (2001) evaluation of the experimental diets containing incremental amounts of rumen protected-His $(RP-His)^1$

²All values were estimated using the NRC (2001) based on actual DMI, DIM, milk yield and composition, and BW of the cows.

³dHis, dMet, and dLys represents digestible His, Met, and Lys, respectively.

⁴Requiements of dHis, dMet, and dLys were calculated as 2.2, 2.2, and 6.6% of MP requirements, respectively.

⁵RP-Met is Smartamine® M (Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA).

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	RP	-His			<i>P</i> -value ³			
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	
EAA, μ <i>M</i>							-		
Arg	64.7	60.8	64.6	64.1	4.03	0.90	0.68	0.51	
His	33.2	44.9	59.1	63.1	3.27	< 0.001	0.13	0.25	
Ile	90.5	83.2	92.3	93.6	5.83	0.34	0.32	0.22	
Leu	106	98.0	104	101	5.23	0.63	0.58	0.31	
Lys	63.2	57.0	65.2	63.2	3.97	0.62	0.57	0.16	
Met	26.6	26.5	27.0	28.2	1.64	0.41	0.65	0.97	
Phe	41.1	40.5	41.9	41.3	1.70	0.81	0.99	0.60	
Thr	74.6	73.0	76.3	74.0	5.35	0.94	0.93	0.57	
Trp	32.8	31.5	31.9	30.4	1.92	0.24	0.94	0.51	
Val	169	156	164	162	9.05	0.67	0.38	0.27	
NEAA, μM									
Ala	245	246	258	244	12.9	0.83	0.39	0.36	
Asn	43.1	42.8	45.8	45.5	2.65	0.38	0.99	0.57	
Asp	2.63	2.57	2.82	2.95	0.14	0.04	0.45	0.45	
Cit	94.9	93.7	94.6	93.2	6.34	0.85	0.97	0.85	
Cys	17.4	17.5	17.8	17.6	1.04	0.49	0.52	0.65	
Gln	253	254	265	258	14.2	0.59	0.72	0.59	
Glu	46.0	43.2	46.0	45.3	2.30	0.94	0.63	0.34	
Gly	301	309	310	293	10.8	0.57	0.19	0.79	
Orn	34.4	33.3	36.3	34.0	1.94	0.85	0.76	0.29	
Pro	74.7	72.4	78.5	74.4	3.42	0.58	0.66	0.06	
Ser	70.7	67.3	67.9	65.8	5.45	0.51	0.90	0.76	
Tau	29.7	28.7	33.4	33.1	2.85	0.08	0.84	0.20	
Tyr	38.4	35.8	37.6	36.4	3.33	0.75	0.82	0.58	
Sum and ratio of AA									
$\sum EAA, \mu M$	702	671	726	721	31.2	0.38	0.66	0.26	
$\overline{\Sigma}$ NEAA, μM	1,251	1,247	1,293	1,243	47.4	0.89	0.53	0.38	
$\overline{\sum}$ BCAA, ⁴ µM	366	337	360	356	17.2	0.95	0.39	0.24	

Table 2.5. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 4 of each experimental period²

Total AA, ⁵ μM	1,953	1,918	2,019	1,964	70.3	0.62	0.86	0.28
Lys:Met	2.36	2.18	2.51	2.25	0.17	1.00	0.76	0.05
His-containing metabolites, μM								
Carnosine	29.3	32.0	32.6	33.5	1.20	0.02	0.49	0.67
3-MHis ⁶	3.18	3.46	3.38	3.24	0.28	0.91	0.21	0.67

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 4 = d 22 to 28 of periods 1 to 4. ³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10.$

 4 BCAA = branched-chain AA.

⁵Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

 6 3-MHis = 3-methylhistidine.

•	×	RP	-His			<i>P</i> -value ³			
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	
EAA, μg/g									
Arg	5.67	5.46	5.22	6.00	0.58	0.77	0.39	0.69	
His	3.15	4.31	4.69	5.51	0.31	< 0.001	0.60	0.39	
Ile	3.74	3.69	3.49	3.72	0.25	0.74	0.44	0.46	
Leu	4.94	4.91	4.82	4.94	0.36	0.93	0.74	0.80	
Lys	3.99	4.41	4.60	4.76	0.55	0.27	0.79	0.92	
Met	2.20	2.28	2.07	1.94	0.23	0.31	0.62	0.69	
Phe	2.49	2.71	2.58	2.67	0.13	0.46	0.63	0.33	
Thr	4.12	4.29	4.47	5.41	0.48	0.08	0.43	0.73	
Val	5.40	5.60	5.85	5.68	0.43	0.67	0.58	0.75	
NEAA, µg/g									
Ala	37.5	41.4	41.1	40.3	2.72	0.52	0.41	0.78	
Asn	3.25	3.02	3.16	4.86	0.78	0.17	0.23	0.74	
Asp	17.3	18.2	19.5	20.0	1.20	0.09	0.86	0.86	
Cit	2.57	2.37	2.57	2.88	0.32	0.34	0.33	0.81	
Gln	97.7	91.3	96.1	122	12.6	0.18	0.21	0.86	
Glu	66.1	69.4	68.9	79.8	5.71	0.13	0.52	0.56	
Gly	21.9	21.2	21.2	25.7	3.66	0.44	0.45	0.79	
Orn	2.32	2.17	2.52	2.55	0.24	0.33	0.70	0.43	
Pro	5.51	5.64	6.17	6.79	0.64	0.13	0.69	0.91	
Ser	7.78	7.56	6.87	7.44	0.88	0.66	0.65	0.65	
Tau	43.4	49.1	46.5	61.3	6.32	0.08	0.48	0.38	
Tyr	3.62	3.65	3.21	3.53	0.23	0.44	0.48	0.20	
Sum and ratio of AA									
$\sum EAA, \mu g/g$	35.7	37.7	37.8	40.6	2.35	0.11	0.82	0.61	
$\overline{\Sigma}$ NEAA, $\mu g/g$	309	315	318	378	29.3	0.13	0.37	0.65	
$\overline{\Sigma}$ BCAA, ⁴ µg/g	14.1	14.2	14.2	14.3	0.98	0.82	0.96	0.90	
Total AA, $5 \mu g/g$	345	353	356	418	30.1	0.11	0.38	0.64	
Lys:Met	1.96	1.97	2.30	2.42	0.25	0.08	0.79	0.57	

Table 2.6. Muscle concentrations of AA and His-containing dipeptides in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 4 of each experimental $period^2$

His-containing dipeptides, µg/g	5							
Anserine	139	150	134	141	11.0	0.78	0.83	0.26
Carnosine	952	1,085	970	925	77.8	0.56	0.24	0.34

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 4 = d 22 to 28 of periods 1 to 4. ³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10.$

 4 BCAA = branched-chain AA.

⁵Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

		RP	-His				P-value ³	
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic
Apparent total-tract digestibility								
DM, % of DMI	75.2	75.4	75.5	75.1	0.58	0.94	0.63	0.85
OM, % of OM intake	76.7	76.9	77.0	76.4	0.62	0.69	0.55	0.81
CP, % of CP intake	74.9	75.9	75.8	75.5	0.80	0.61	0.37	0.79
NDF, % of NDF intake	65.4	65.2	65.7	66.0	1.15	0.68	0.83	0.88
ADF, % of ADF intake	68.0	68.0	68.6	69.0	1.01	0.45	0.84	0.88
N intake and urinary excretion								
N intake, g/d	562	563	574	574	25.6	0.04	0.89	0.39
Creatinine, mM	6.48	6.39	5.42	5.90	0.41	0.09	0.40	0.13
Volume, L/d	30.0	29.4	35.4	34.2	2.28	0.02	0.85	0.08
Urea-N, g/d	130	129	145	153	8.71	0.02	0.54	0.47
Total-N, g/d	191	198	219	215	13.5	0.03	0.54	0.30
Urea-N, % of total-N	67.3	66.6	66.8	73.0	3.86	0.33	0.39	0.77
Urea-N, % of N intake	23.7	23.3	25.8	27.0	1.60	0.04	0.53	0.48
Total-N, % of N intake	35.0	35.9	38.7	37.5	1.96	0.11	0.44	0.33
Uric acid, mmol/d	39.2	36.2	39.1	41.8	5.54	0.31	0.24	0.56
Allantoin, mmol/d	457	424	484	490	38.4	0.17	0.43	0.20
Purine derivatives, mmol/d	496	460	523	532	41.2	0.17	0.40	0.21

Table 2.7. Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous compounds in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amount of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 4 of each experimental period²

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 4 = d 22 to 28 of periods 1 to 4.

³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10.$

Table 2.8. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 4 of each experimental period²

		RP	-His				<i>P</i> -value ³			
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic		
DMI, kg/d	22.2	21.8	22.1	21.8	0.54	0.11	0.95	0.14		
Milk yield, kg/d	31.2	31.6	31.1	32.7	1.34	0.09	0.24	0.20		
Milk yield/DMI, kg/kg	1.40	1.44	1.43	1.50	0.06	0.02	0.48	0.22		
4% FCM, 4 kg/d	31.3	31.8	30.7	32.3	1.54	0.34	0.28	0.04		
4% FCM/DMI, kg/kg	1.40	1.45	1.41	1.49	0.05	0.01	0.44	0.02		
ECM, ⁵ kg/d	33.5	34.0	33.1	34.7	1.58	0.20	0.19	0.06		
ECM/DMI, kg/kg	1.50	1.55	1.51	1.60	0.05	< 0.01	0.33	0.03		
Milk fat, %	4.03	4.08	3.92	3.91	0.08	0.13	0.67	0.24		
Milk fat, kg/d	1.25	1.28	1.22	1.28	0.07	0.80	0.43	0.04		
Milk true protein, %	2.99	2.97	3.00	2.98	0.05	0.96	0.97	0.43		
Milk true protein, kg/d	0.93	0.93	0.93	0.98	0.04	0.03	0.07	0.42		
Milk lactose, %	4.85	4.83	4.90	4.86	0.03	0.35	0.79	0.10		
Milk lactose, kg/d	1.52	1.53	1.53	1.59	0.06	0.06	0.31	0.37		
Milk N, % of N intake	27.5	27.6	27.0	28.1	1.00	0.50	0.23	0.18		
MUN, mg/dL	11.5	11.3	12.2	13.2	1.02	0.01	0.21	0.61		
PUN, mg/dL	10.7	10.4	11.5	13.0	0.76	< 0.01	0.14	0.71		
BCS	3.06	3.06	3.13	3.16	0.10	0.23	0.80	0.74		
BW, kg	730	724	730	729	7.28	0.91	0.66	0.45		
BW change, kg/d	0.18	0.10	0.20	0.20	0.17	0.83	0.78	0.70		

 2 Wk 4 = d 22 to 28 of periods 1 to 4.

³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le$

0.10.

⁴4% FCM = $(0.4 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (15 \times \text{kg of milk fat})$; Gaines and Davidson (1923).



Figure 2.1. Plasma concentrations of (A) His (treatment: P < 0.001; wk: P = 0.13; treatment × wk: P = 0.93; SEM = 2.54), (B) carnosine (treatment: P < 0.001; wk: P < 0.001; treatment × wk: P = 0.89; SEM = 0.73), and (C) 3-methylhistidine (treatment: P = 0.93; wk: P < 0.01; treatment × wk: P = 0.76; SEM = 0.23) in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His). Wk 1 (d 1 to 7), wk 2 (d 8 to 14), wk 3 (d 15 to 21), and wk 4 (d 21 to 28) of periods 1, 2, 3, and 4, respectively. Data are presented as LSM ± SEM. ^{a,b}Means with different superscripts across wk differ at $P \le 0.05$. The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan).



Figure 2.2. Muscle concentrations of (A) His (treatment: P < 0.001; wk: P = 0.44; treatment × wk: P = 0.78; SEM = 0.23), (B) carnosine (treatment: P = 0.48; wk: P = 0.46; treatment × wk: P = 0.23; SEM = 55.2), and (C) anserine (treatment: P = 0.21; wk: P = 0.50; treatment × wk: P = 0.43; SEM = 7.56) in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His). Wk 1 (d 1 to 7), wk 2 (d 8 to 14), wk 3 (d 15 to 21), and wk 4 (d 21 to 28) of periods 1, 2, 3, and 4, respectively. Data are presented as LSM ± SEM. The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan).

	•	RP	-His	* 	•		<i>P</i> -value ³	
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic
ΕΑΑ, μ <i>M</i>								
Arg	65.5	63.8	73.5	58.6	4.45	0.49	0.08	0.03
His	30.3	46.3	57.0	57.2	3.11	< 0.001	< 0.01	0.64
Ile	90.2	92.3	105	88.1	6.88	0.73	0.04	0.05
Leu	105	108	115	99.0	5.61	0.64	0.08	0.26
Lys	58.9	62.7	72.1	55.5	4.28	0.97	0.01	0.07
Met	25.5	26.4	28.7	23.8	1.57	0.67	0.05	0.19
Phe	42.8	45.0	46.7	40.4	1.55	0.43	0.01	0.30
Thr	75.9	76.2	87.0	70.7	4.86	0.77	0.03	0.03
Trp	31.2	32.7	35.2	31.4	1.51	0.63	0.05	0.22
Val	176	177	194	166	10.2	0.74	0.12	0.12
NEAA, μM								
Ala	243	254	274	228	16.2	0.62	0.02	0.14
Asn	37.7	42.1	46.1	37.2	2.43	0.80	< 0.01	0.23
Asp	2.72	3.20	2.83	2.61	0.33	0.63	0.28	0.49
Cit	92.1	84.4	92.6	94.9	6.42	0.46	0.32	0.33
Cys	16.8	18.0	18.9	17.4	1.01	0.09	< 0.01	0.23
Gln	252	271	268	253	15.1	0.99	0.15	0.86
Glu	44.0	43.4	42.1	40.4	2.44	0.12	0.74	0.98
Gly	292	324	308	317	12.1	0.23	0.31	0.14
Orn	32.9	32.3	36.3	30.6	2.17	0.69	0.14	0.07
Pro	73.8	76.9	78.6	72.1	3.33	0.74	0.05	0.50
Ser	65.1	70.0	69.6	64.2	3.52	0.85	0.16	0.98
Tau	31.5	32.8	30.6	30.7	2.61	0.62	0.79	0.53
Tyr	35.9	37.0	41.6	30.8	2.45	0.34	0.02	0.10
Sum and ratio of AA								
$\sum EAA, \mu M$	702	730	815	691	33.8	0.70	0.02	0.07
\sum NEAA, μM	1,219	1,289	1,310	1,219	36.6	0.89	0.02	0.65
\sum BCAA, ⁴ µ <i>M</i>	372	377	415	353	20.3	0.83	0.07	0.12

Supplemental Table S2.1. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid-lactation dairy cows in fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 1 of each experimental period²

Total AA, ⁵ μM	1,921	2,019	2,124	1,910	60.0	0.77	< 0.01	0.18
Lys:Met	2.33	2.40	2.51	2.38	0.18	0.61	0.37	0.58
His-containing metabolites, μM								
Carnosine	25.6	27.7	27.8	28.9	0.73	< 0.01	0.41	0.28
3-MHis ⁶	3.67	3.98	3.81	3.77	0.19	0.84	0.25	0.36

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 1 = d 1 to 7 of periods 1 to 4. ³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10.$

 4 BCAA = branched-chain AA.

⁵Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

 6 3-MHis = 3-methylhistidine.

`		RP	-His	•	_	<i>P</i> -value ³			
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	
EAA, μ <i>M</i>									
Arg	76.1	74.8	64.1	76.3	5.15	0.57	0.11	0.09	
His	35.2	46.6	59.3	65.7	3.73	< 0.001	0.41	0.57	
Ile	107	103	94.1	99.9	6.14	0.24	0.36	0.45	
Leu	122	115	104	116	7.33	0.34	0.16	0.39	
Lys	72.5	71.5	62.2	83.6	8.01	0.46	0.14	0.24	
Met	29.7	28.8	28.5	29.8	1.70	0.99	0.48	0.89	
Phe	47.3	46.5	43.0	45.4	2.12	0.33	0.44	0.37	
Thr	84.8	83.7	76.2	83.0	7.32	0.51	0.37	0.29	
Trp	34.3	32.0	31.0	34.2	2.13	0.87	0.10	0.69	
Val	190	181	167	182	11.9	0.28	0.11	0.33	
NEAA, μM									
Ala	275	272	254	268	17.2	0.40	0.41	0.35	
Asn	45.3	48.5	42.2	45.4	3.41	0.62	1.00	0.13	
Asp	2.78	2.84	2.62	2.69	0.16	0.42	0.96	0.35	
Cit	99.3	98.0	92.5	113	5.35	0.03	< 0.01	0.07	
Cys	17.6	17.1	18.1	18.3	1.05	0.26	0.55	0.40	
Gln	246	273	265	265	13.1	0.29	0.21	0.35	
Glu	47.0	46.5	46.2	42.8	1.98	0.16	0.46	0.71	
Gly	304	313	300	319	10.4	0.48	0.63	0.26	
Orn	36.1	37.4	33.8	38.3	2.76	0.72	0.38	0.13	
Pro	77.9	80.9	70.5	79.5	4.25	0.67	0.31	0.02	
Ser	74.5	74.1	67.1	71.8	4.96	0.44	0.57	0.36	
Tau	31.8	35.1	33.6	35.2	2.56	0.15	0.51	0.20	
Tyr	43.0	43.3	35.7	40.8	3.25	0.22	0.36	0.09	
Sum and ratio of AA									
$\sum EAA, \mu M$	799	782	730	816	44.6	1.00	0.15	0.27	
\sum NEAA, μM	1,300	1,342	1,262	1,340	42.6	0.78	0.57	0.07	
\sum BCAA, ⁴ µ <i>M</i>	419	398	365	399	23.8	0.27	0.16	0.36	

Supplemental Table S2.2. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 2 of each experimental period²

Total AA, ⁵ μM	2,099	2,123	1,991	2,157	77.2	0.89	0.28	0.13
Lys:Met	2.43	2.49	2.24	2.86	0.27	0.30	0.22	0.25
His-containing metabolites, μM								
Carnosine	26.5	26.7	26.3	28.9	1.22	0.21	0.32	0.50
3-MHis ⁶	4.20	3.83	4.10	4.36	0.35	0.63	0.37	0.69

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 2 = d 8 to 14 of periods 1 to 4. ³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10.$

 4 BCAA = branched-chain AA.

⁵Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

 6 3-MHis = 3-methylhistidine.

`		RP	P-His	•	_		<i>P</i> -value ³		
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	
ΕΑΑ, μ <i>M</i>									
Arg	71.4	68.7	62.0	63.0	5.54	0.05	0.60	0.45	
His	30.8	44.9	57.4	61.4	3.10	< 0.001	0.08	0.59	
Ile	94.3	97.0	88.0	84.5	5.63	0.06	0.47	0.38	
Leu	113	108	99.6	97.8	6.24	< 0.01	0.67	0.60	
Lys	70.0	67.6	61.4	58.0	4.65	0.01	0.89	0.68	
Met	28.2	28.2	27.1	28.0	1.10	0.73	0.68	0.51	
Phe	44.9	42.3	42.1	40.5	1.81	0.05	0.73	0.56	
Thr	78.9	75.1	69.7	75.6	4.03	0.39	0.24	0.48	
Trp	33.0	29.2	29.8	31.5	1.79	0.56	0.08	0.62	
Val	172	166	156	153	9.69	0.02	0.71	0.68	
NEAA, μ <i>Μ</i>									
Ala	258	247	232	235	13.4	0.05	0.45	0.62	
Asn	43.6	45.4	39.6	41.2	2.13	0.19	0.97	0.13	
Asp	2.75	2.81	2.60	2.62	0.15	0.36	0.90	0.46	
Cit	90.1	88.4	87.5	97.8	6.93	0.28	0.20	0.61	
Cys	17.6	17.4	17.4	17.2	1.15	0.71	0.94	0.89	
Gln	263	245	260	259	12.7	0.95	0.42	0.31	
Glu	47.0	48.8	41.7	41.2	2.40	< 0.001	0.34	< 0.01	
Gly	303	295	290	300	9.84	0.74	0.33	0.78	
Orn	35.9	35.2	31.7	32.7	2.37	0.19	0.70	0.43	
Pro	72.1	72.0	68.9	70.2	3.19	0.53	0.82	0.60	
Ser	71.6	66.4	65.9	64.9	3.40	0.10	0.44	0.67	
Tau	29.7	31.8	30.1	32.7	3.19	0.42	0.91	0.37	
Tyr	40.9	38.2	36.2	36.9	1.77	0.08	0.32	0.77	
Sum and ratio of AA									
$\sum EAA, \mu M$	736	726	693	694	35.5	0.14	0.82	0.59	
\sum NEAA, μM	1,275	1,233	1,204	1,231	30.6	0.25	0.27	0.75	
\sum BCAA, ⁴ µ <i>M</i>	379	370	343	336	19.5	0.01	0.96	0.52	

Supplemental Table S2.3. Plasma concentrations of AA and His-containing metabolites in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 3 of each experimental period²

Total AA, ⁵ μM	2,011	1,960	1,897	1,924	54.1	0.18	0.50	0.16
Lys:Met	2.51	2.40	2.24	2.10	0.17	< 0.01	0.90	0.87
His-containing metabolites, μM								
Carnosine	28.6	28.9	31.2	32.6	1.26	0.02	0.64	0.62
3-MHis ⁶	3.58	3.24	3.27	3.68	0.21	0.65	0.03	0.98

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 3 = d 15 to 21 of periods 1 to 4.

²Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \leq$

0.10.

 3 BCAA = branched-chain AA.

 4 Total AA = EAA + NEAA. 5 3-MHis = 3-methylhistidine.

*		RP	P-His	^			<i>P</i> -value ³	
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic
EAA, μg/g	-	-	-	-				
Arg	5.23	6.42	5.24	6.23	0.62	0.48	0.87	0.09
His	3.12	3.98	4.81	5.05	0.29	< 0.001	0.30	0.68
Ile	4.13	4.17	4.15	1.45	0.22	0.98	0.92	0.95
Leu	5.35	5.33	5.43	5.38	0.31	0.87	0.95	0.82
Lys	3.24	4.92	4.34	5.29	0.56	0.04	0.52	0.14
Met	2.45	2.43	2.16	2.50	0.23	0.88	0.23	0.19
Phe	2.87	2.92	2.79	2.75	0.13	0.40	0.73	0.64
Thr	4.24	4.37	4.02	4.30	0.25	0.85	0.74	0.26
Val	5.78	5.66	5.65	5.70	0.37	0.81	0.73	0.95
NEAA, µg/g								
Ala	40.9	39.2	36.2	39.1	2.56	0.46	0.37	0.52
Asn	2.64	3.31	2.48	2.03	0.50	0.22	0.25	0.37
Asp	18.0	17.7	17.6	18.0	0.95	0.98	0.69	0.96
Cit	2.38	2.67	2.52	2.47	0.33	0.88	0.36	0.51
Gln	84.7	94.2	79.9	89.1	6.54	0.96	0.97	0.10
Glu	56.4	60.4	50.9	58.8	5.16	0.92	0.71	0.20
Gly	20.3	20.3	14.9	16.5	2.89	0.21	0.79	0.34
Orn	2.07	2.39	2.35	2.24	0.17	0.56	0.22	0.69
Pro	5.28	5.22	4.52	5.34	0.49	0.80	0.34	0.29
Ser	6.63	6.99	6.16	6.71	0.40	0.72	0.78	0.13
Tau	37.1	38.7	31.9	34.1	2.77	0.16	0.92	0.12
Tyr	3.71	3.91	3.68	3.73	0.19	0.86	0.70	0.41
Sum and ratio of AA								
$\sum EAA, \mu g/g$	36.4	40.2	38.6	41.3	1.83	0.12	0.78	0.25
\sum NEAA, µg/g	280	295	253	278	17.2	0.54	0.78	0.12
\sum BCAA, ⁴ µg/g	15.3	15.2	15.2	15.2	0.86	0.99	0.95	0.93
Total AA, ⁵ µg/g	316	335	292	319	17.4	0.66	0.80	0.10

Supplemental Table S2.4. Muscle concentrations of AA and His-containing dipeptides in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 2 of each experimental period²

Lys:Met	1.40	2.04	2.23	2.21	0.28	0.04	0.22	0.84
His-containing dipeptides, $\mu g/g$								
Anserine	154	143	129	155	9.04	0.84	0.05	0.29
Carnosine	1,084	1,010	912	1,070	68.8	0.63	0.08	0.33

¹The RP-His used is a prototype supplement (Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²Wk 2 = d 8 to 14 of periods 1 to 4. ³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10.$

 4 BCAA = branched-chain AA. 5 Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

P-value³ **RP-His** 82 g/d 164 g/d 246 g/d SEM Linear Quadratic Cubic Item 0 g/dDMI, kg/d 23.4 23.1 23.0 23.4 0.58 0.96 0.29 0.89 Milk yield, kg/d 33.4 33.2 32.8 32.9 0.33 0.77 0.75 1.16 Milk vield/DMI, kg/kg 1.44 0.06 0.99 0.65 0.90 1.43 1.44 1.43 4% FCM, 4 kg/d 33.9 33.9 33.9 34.9 1.52 0.48 0.59 0.76 4% FCM/DMI, kg/kg 1.44 1.47 1.48 1.51 0.06 0.18 0.91 0.77 ECM, 5 kg/d36.1 36.2 36.9 0.49 0.72 0.81 36.2 1.52 ECM/DMI, kg/kg 1.54 1.57 1.58 1.60 0.06 0.19 0.66 0.83 Milk fat, % 4.12 4.15 4.22 4.38 0.16 0.22 0.67 0.93 Milk fat, kg/d 1.37 1.38 1.38 1.45 0.08 0.33 0.61 0.80 Milk true protein, % 2.93 2.97 3.01 2.95 0.04 0.19 0.01 0.27 Milk true protein, kg/d 0.99 0.97 0.98 0.73 0.97 0.98 0.04 0.25 Milk lactose, % 4.92 4.84 4.87 4.85 0.03 0.13 0.30 0.17 Milk lactose, kg/d 1.64 1.61 1.60 1.59 0.19 0.75 0.05 0.86 Milk N, % of N intake 27.4 27.6 27.6 26.1 1.00 0.12 0.10 0.59 MUN, mg/dL 12.8 12.2 12.5 13.0 1.07 0.76 0.42 0.83 PUN, mg/dL 11.9 0.23 11.2 11.3 11.9 0.82 0.98 0.48

Supplemental Table S2.5. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 1 of each experimental period²

 2 Wk 1 = d 1 to 7 of periods 1 to 4.

³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le 0.10$.

⁴4 % FCM = $(0.4 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (15 \times \text{kg of milk fat})$; Gaines and Davidson (1923).

P-value³ **RP-His** 82 g/d 164 g/d 246 g/d SEM Linear Quadratic Cubic Item 0 g/dDMI, kg/d 21.9 21.9 21.9 22.1 0.51 0.50 0.59 0.89 Milk yield, kg/d 31.6 32.5 32.2 33.5 1.35 0.04 0.70 0.25 Milk vield/DMI, kg/kg 1.48 1.52 0.06 0.08 0.95 0.54 1.44 1.48 4% FCM, 4 kg/d 32.4 32.2 32.5 33.7 1.50 0.03 0.11 0.93 4% FCM/DMI, kg/kg 1.47 1.46 1.50 1.53 0.05 0.10 0.45 0.66 ECM, 5 kg/d34.6 35.0 36.3 0.02 0.77 34.6 1.60 0.15 ECM/DMI, kg/kg 1.58 1.58 1.64 0.06 0.09 0.53 0.76 1.61 Milk fat, % 4.14 3.90 4.14 4.06 0.13 0.95 0.37 0.06 Milk fat, kg/d 1.32 1.28 1.31 1.36 0.06 0.09 0.04 0.43 Milk true protein, % 2.98 2.99 3.06 3.03 0.05 0.06 0.39 0.08 Milk true protein, kg/d 0.98 0.02 0.95 0.97 1.02 0.05 0.62 0.42 Milk lactose, % 4.89 4.87 4.91 4.87 0.03 0.86 0.68 0.16 Milk lactose, kg/d 1.56 1.57 0.15 0.69 0.29 1.60 1.64 0.06 Milk N, % of N intake 28.6 28.9 28.5 28.8 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.61 MUN, mg/dL 12.4 13.0 13.2 13.5 0.89 0.14 0.83 0.88 PUN, mg/dL 12.5 0.27 12.0 11.6 13.8 1.06 0.08 0.46

Supplemental Table S2.6. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 2 of each experimental period²

 2 Wk 2 = d 8 to 14 of periods 1 to 4.

³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le$

0.10.

⁴4% FCM = $(0.4 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (15 \times \text{kg of milk fat})$; Gaines and Davidson (1923).

	-	RP	-His				<i>P</i> -value ³	
Item	0 g/d	82 g/d	164 g/d	246 g/d	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic
DMI, kg/d	21.4	21.5	21.6	21.9	0.59	0.30	0.85	0.88
Milk yield, kg/d	30.4	31.1	30.9	33.1	1.40	< 0.01	0.17	0.17
Milk yield/DMI, kg/kg	1.41	1.44	1.45	1.53	0.06	< 0.01	0.30	0.37
4% FCM, ⁴ kg/d	30.2	30.8	31.0	33.0	1.57	< 0.01	0.23	0.44
4% FCM/DMI, kg/kg	1.40	1.43	1.45	1.51	0.05	< 0.01	0.50	0.83
ECM, ⁵ kg/d	32.4	33.1	33.4	35.6	1.65	< 0.01	0.24	0.43
ECM/DMI, kg/kg	1.50	1.53	1.56	1.63	0.05	< 0.01	0.47	0.73
Milk fat, %	4.01	3.96	4.05	3.91	0.10	0.46	0.45	0.21
Milk fat, kg/d	1.20	1.22	1.24	1.32	0.07	< 0.01	0.31	0.69
Milk true protein, %	2.98	3.00	3.03	2.98	0.04	0.77	0.09	0.36
Milk true protein, kg/d	0.90	0.93	0.93	1.00	0.04	< 0.01	0.32	0.39
Milk lactose, %	4.83	4.81	4.84	4.84	0.03	0.50	0.60	0.45
Milk lactose, kg/d	1.47	1.50	1.50	1.62	0.06	< 0.01	0.11	0.23
Milk N, % of N intake	27.8	27.9	28.0	28.6	1.00	0.15	0.55	0.79
MUN, mg/dL	11.9	12.1	12.2	12.6	0.84	0.22	0.71	0.78
PUN, mg/dL	10.9	11.3	11.4	11.5	0.65	0.31	0.79	0.94

Supplemental Table S2.7. Dry matter intake, milk yield, concentrations and yields of milk components, feed efficiency, concentration of plasma urea N (PUN), BW, and BCS in mid-lactation dairy cows fed incremental amounts of rumen protected-His (RP-His)¹ during wk 3 of each experimental period²

 2 Wk 3 = d 15 to 21 of periods 1 to 4.

³Orthogonal polynomials were used to test linear, quadratic, and cubic effects; significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 $< P \le$

0.10.

⁴4% FCM = $(0.4 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (15 \times \text{kg of milk fat})$; Gaines and Davidson (1923).

CHAPTER III: INTERRELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN DIETARY STARCH LEVEL AND RUMEN-PROTECTED METHIONINE, LYSINE AND HISTIDINE ON MILK PRODUCTION AND NUTRIENT UTILIZATION IN DAIRY COWS FED METABOLIZABLE PROTEIN-DEFICIENT DIETS

ABSTRACT

Metabolizable protein (MP)-deficient diets have been shown to improve N utilization in dairy cows but may limit synthesis of milk and milk protein. Addition of rumen-protected (RP) Met, Lys, and His (MLH) and increased energy supply have been used independently to improve milk yield in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. Our objective was to investigate the interactions between starch level and RP-MLH on milk production and nutrient utilization when feeding MPdeficient diets. Sixteen multiparous Holstein cows were used in a replicated 4×4 Latin square with 2×2 factorial arrangement of treatments. Each period lasted 21 d with 14 d for diet adaptation and 7 d for data and sample collection. Dietary treatments were high-starch (HS), HS + RP-MLH, reduced-starch (RS), and RS + RP-MLH. The basal diets consisted (dry matter basis) of 35.7% corn silage, 14.7% haylage, and 49.6% concentrate. Dietary starch level varied by replacing 30% ground corn with 20% beet pulp and 10% soyhulls, and was 34.4 and 12.3% for HS and RS diets, respectively. Smartamine® M (25 g/d), AjiPro®-L (76 g/d), and an Ajinomoto prototype RP-His (110 g/d) were supplemented to meet digestible MLH requirements, respectively. Data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS. Compared with RS diets, feeding HS diets increased yields of milk (37.9 vs. 40.1 kg/d) and milk true protein (1.07 vs. 1.16 kg/d) and decreased dry matter intake (25.4 vs. 24.7 kg/d). Milk N efficiency were greater with feeding HS versus RS diets (29.2 vs. 25.4%, respectively). Both milk and plasma urea N decreased in cows fed HS than RS diets. Milk true protein content was improved by RP-MLH. Further, starch level \times RP-MLH interactions were observed for plasma concentrations of Arg and Lys, with greater increases with RP-MLH in RS cows compared with HS cows. Replacing fibrous byproducts with ground corn reduced plasma concentrations of all essential AA except Met and Thr. Plasma His and Met were increased by RP-MLH. Apparent

total-tract digestibilities of neutral and acid detergent fiber, as well as urinary urea N excretion were lower for HS compared with RS diets. Daily enteric CH₄ production (434 vs. 545 g/d), CH₄ yield (17.7 vs. 21.6 g/kg of dry matter intake), and CH₄ intensity (10.7 vs. 13.6 g/kg of energy corrected milk) all decreased with feeding HS versus RS diets. Gross energy and digestible energy intakes increased and CH₄ energy decreased in cows fed HS versus RS diets. Although milk energy ouput tended to increase, milk energy efficiency expressed as a proportion of gross energy intake, decreased for HS versus RS cows. Supplementation with RP-MLH had no impact on energy utilization in dairy cows. Overall, elevated dietary starch level improved yields of milk and milk protein possibly by increased energy intake and mammary uptake of essential AA, and lower energy losses as CH₄.

Key words: energy balance, essential amino acid, ground corn, methane

INTRODUCTION

It is well known that milk N efficiency (i.e., milk N/N intake) is low in lactating dairy cows, and on average, only about 24.7% of dietary N was converted to milk protein when feeding typical North America diets (Huhtanen and Hristov, 2009). Dietary N not captured in milk protein is excreted in urine and feces, thus contributing to environmental pollution (Castillo et al., 2000). Additionally, N losses may shrink the profit margin of dairy producers due to costly protein sources. Broderick et al. (2009) and Lee et al. (2011) reported that MP-deficient diets improved milk N efficiency and reduced urinary N excretion, but also decreased yields of milk and milk protein. Accordingly, supplementation of MP-deficient diets with rumen-protected (**RP**)-AA or fermentable energy have been evaluated to enhance milk production without decreasing efficiency of dietary N use (Broderick, 2003; Rius et al., 2010b; Giallongo et al., 2016).

Despite the positive effects on N utilization (Broderick et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2011), MPdeficient diets may not be able to supply adequate EAA, particularly Met, Lys, and His (**MLH**; Bequette et al., 2000). Supplementation of RP-AA is a common strategy to alleviate shortages of EAA and can increase circulating MLH in the blood (Lee et al., 2012a; Giallongo et al., 2016). Elevated plasma concentrations of EAA stimulated their uptake by the mammary gland, which in turn improved yields of milk and milk protein (Doepel and Lapierre, 2010). Lee et al. (2012a) reported that yields of milk and milk protein increased in dairy cows fed a MP-deficient diet supplemented with RP-MLH. Giallongo et al. (2016) also observed a similar pattern on milk protein yield with feeding a MP-deficient diet plus RP-MLH. Additionally, enhanced supply of fermentable energy via starch-based sources is an alternative approach to mitigate milk yield losses in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. For instance, Boerman et al. (2015) observed that

yields of milk and milk protein increased when soyhulls were replaced with ground corn at 30% of diet DM. Similarly, yields of milk components, except milk fat, improved when dairy cows were offered a high-energy, low-protein diet compared with a low-energy, low-protein counterpart (Rius et al., 2010b).

Therefore, it is conceivable that increased supply of ruminally fermentable energy could synergistically interact with RP-MLH to improve milk yield and N utilization in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. Elevated supply of ruminally fermentable energy can be achieved by replacing fibrous byproducts with ground corn. Although numerous studies in which fibrous byproducts replaced cereal grains have been published (Ipharraguerre and Clark, 2003; Fredin et al., 2015a,b), there is scarce information regarding how different dietary proportions of ground corn and fibrous byproducts affect energy utilization and enteric CH₄ emissions in MP-deficient diets. Dairy practices account for around 4% of total greenhouse gas emissions and about 25% of enteric CH₄ in the United States (Chase, 2014; FAO, 2019; USEPA, 2019). The global warming potential of CH₄ is 28-36 times greater than that of CO₂ (USEPA, 2020), and CH₄ production also represents 2-12% dietary energy losses (Johnson and Johnson, 1995; Niu et al., 2018), thus justifying the need to mitigate CH₄ emissions in dairy cows.

To our knowledge, the potential interactions between dietary starch level (**SL**) and RP-MLH on production and nutrient utilization have not been evaluated to date. We hypothesized that a high-starch, low-protein diet supplemented with RP-MLH would improve milk production and nutrient utilization in dairy cows. Our objective was to investigate the interrelationships between dietary SL, varied by replacing beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn, and RP-MLH supplementation on yields of milk and milk components, plasma AA concentrations, apparent

total-tract digestibility of nutrients, and energy and N utilization in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (protocol no. 180305) of the University of New Hampshire (Durham). The experiment was conducted at the University of New Hampshire Fairchild Dairy Teaching and Research Center (Durham) from June 11 to August 26, 2018.

Cows, Experimental Design, and Treatments

Sixteen multiparous Holstein cows averaging (mean \pm SD) 138 \pm 46 DIM, 46 \pm 6 kg/d of milk, and 700 \pm 55 kg of BW were selected at the beginning of the study. Animals were housed in a tie-stall barn equipped with water bowels for free access to water and feed tubs for individual feeding. Cows were milked twice a day at 0530 and 1630 h, and milk yield was recorded automatically at each milking throughout the experiment. Animals were weighed (Northeast Scale Co. In., Hooksett, NH) immediately after the afternoon milking during 3 consecutive days before the beginning of the study and at the end of each period to compute BW change. Body condition score was assigned by 3 trained investigators before the start of the experiment and on the last day of each period following the procedures outlined by Wildman et al. (1982).

Cows were blocked by milk yield and randomly assigned to treatment sequences in a replicated 4×4 Latin square design with a 2×2 factorial arrangement of treatments. Squares were balanced for potential first-order carryover effects in subsequent periods as each treatment immediately preceded and followed every other exactly once in each square (Williams, 1949;

Kim and Stein, 2009). Each experimental period lasted 21 d, including 14 d for diet adaptation and 7 d for data and sample collection. Dietary treatments were: (1) high-starch diet (HS); (2) HS + RP-MLH (HS/MLH); (3) reduced-starch diet (RS); and (4) RS + RP-MLH (RS/MLH). The basal diets were formulated to meet the nutrient requirements, except MP, of a lactating dairy cow averaging 700 kg of BW, 138 DIM, 42 kg/d of milk, 3.5% of milk fat, 3% of milk true protein, 4.8% of milk lactose, and 25 kg/d of DMI using the NRC (2001) evaluation software (v.1.1.9), and contained (DM basis) 35.7% corn silage, 14.7% mixed-mostly grass-legume haylage, and 49.6% concentrate. Dietary SL varied by replacing 30% ground corn with 20% beet pulp and 10% soyhulls. The RP-MLH supplements were top-dressed on TMR to meet the requirements of digestible MLH (Schwab et al., 2005). The amounts of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), RP-Lys (Aji-Pro L; Ajinomoto Heartland Inc., Eddyville, IA), and RP-His (Ajinomoto prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasakishi, Japan) fed were 25, 76, and 110 g/d, respectively. The RP-Met, RP-Lys, and RP-His supplements contained 75% DL-Met with 80% bioavailability (Chirgwin et al., 2015), 40% Lys with 54% bioavailability (Giallongo et al., 2016), and 44% His with 14% bioavailability (according to the manufacturer), respectively. These RP-AA supplements (Smartamine® M, Aji-Pro L, and Ajinomoto prototype product) were expected to provide 15, 16, and 6.78 g/d of digestible Met, Lys, and His, respectively.

Dietary ingredients were mixed and offered as TMR twice daily at 0600 and 1700 h using a Super Data Ranger mixer (American Calan Inc., Northwood, NH). Orts were collected and weighed once daily before the afternoon feeding. Feed offered was adjusted daily to achieve 5 to 10% orts. Feed intake was recorded throughout the experiment.

Feed Sampling and Analyses

Samples of corn silage, mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, TMR, and orts were collected thrice weekly and composited by week. The composite samples were dried (55°C, 48 h) in a forced-air oven (VWR Scientific, Radnor, PA) for determination of DM to adjust the TMR on an as-fed basis and to calculate DMI. Samples of forages, concentrates (i.e., ground corn, beet pulp, soyhulls, soybean meal, canola meal, corn dried distillers grains with solubles, and urea), TMR, and orts were collected thrice during the sampling week of each period and composited by week. Weekly ingredients, TMR, and orts were lyophilized for 48 h (Labconco Inc., Kansas City, MO), ground with a Wiley mill (A. H. Thomas Co., Swedesboro, NJ) to pass through a 1-mm screen, and stored in air-tight glass jars until nutritional analysis.

Lyophilized and ground samples of dietary ingredients were shipped to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. (Ithaca, NY) and analyzed for DM, CP, soluble protein, aNDF, ADF, ADL, starch, ether extract, ash, and individual minerals (Ca, P, Mg, K, Na, S, Fe, Zn, Cu, Mn, and Mo) using the procedures described by Dairy One Cooperative Inc.

(https://dairyone.com/download/forage-forage-lab-analytical-procedures; Accessed Mar. 18, 2020). In addition, TMR and orts were analyzed for CP, aNDF, ADF, and ash at Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory. Samples of dietary ingredients were further ground (Wiley mill; A. H. Thomas Co.) to pass through a 0.5-mm screen and used for determination of AA by cation exchange chromatography (cIEC-HPLC) coupled with postcolumn ninhydrin derivatization with norleucine as the internal standard (method 982.30; AOAC International, 2016) at the University of Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station Chemical Laboratory (Columbia, MO). Tryptophan was determined after alkaline hydrolysis and sulfur AA were analyzed after performic acid oxidation (method 988.15; AOAC International, 2016). Gross energy of TMR samples was

determined using an adiabatic oxygen bomb calorimeter (model 1241; Parr Instrument Co., Moline, IL).

Milk and Blood Sampling and Analyses

Milk samples were collected using automatic samplers during 4 consecutive milkings starting in the p.m. milking of d 15 of each period. Milk samples were transferred into tubes preserved with 2-bromo-2-nitropropane-1,3 diol (Broad Spectrum Microtabs II; Advanced Instruments Inc., Norwood, MA) and stored at 4°C, before being transported overnight to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory. At the laboratory, milk samples were analyzed for concentrations of fat, true protein, lactose, and MUN by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy using a MilkoScan FT+ (Foss Inc., Hillerød, Denmark).

Blood samples were collected into vacutainer 15% EDTA tubes (Monoject, Mansfield, MA) from coccygeal vessels approximately 4 h after the morning feeding on d 16 and 17 of each period. Tubes were immediately placed in a chill bucket with beads (Chemglass Life Sciences, Vineland, NJ) and transported to the laboratory for centrifugation (2,155 × g, 20 min, 4°C) using an Eppendorf centrifuge (model 5810; Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Plasma samples were composited by cow and period, and the composite samples were used to determine the concentrations of AA, His-containing metabolites, and urea N (**PUN**) at Ajinomoto Co. Inc. using a High-Speed AA analyzer L-8900 (Hitachi High-Technologies Co., Tokyo, Japan) following the procedures stated by the manufacturer (https://www.hitachi-

hightech.com/us/library/literature/brochure-1-8900-amino-acid-analyzer.html; Accessed March 18, 2020). Codified plasma samples were sent to Ajinomoto Co. Inc. to blind treatments identity.
Fecal and Urinary Sampling and Analyses

Fecal grab samples were taken directly from the rectum or during voluntary defecation at 8 time points (0600 h and 1500 h on d 18; 0900 h, 1200 h, and 1800 h on d 19; and 0000 h and 0300 h and 2100 h on d 20) during the sampling week of each period. Fecal samples (~200 g/sampling) were collected into 100-mL specimen containers and transferred into 4-L plastic bags to generate composited samples by cow per period. Next, samples were dried in a forced-air oven (VWR Scientific) at 55°C for approximately 72 h and ground (Wiley mill; A. H. Thomas Co.) to pass through a 1-mm screen. Fecal samples were analyzed for DM, CP, aNDF, ADF, and ash at Dairy One Cooperative Inc. as done for dietary ingredients and TMR. Triplicate samples (~0.5 g) of feces, TMR, and orts were weighed into Ankom F57 bags (25 µm pore size; Ankom Technology, Macedon, NY), placed in a larger laundry nylon bag, and inserted in the rumen of 1 ruminally cannulated late-lactation Holstein cow fed a corn silage and grass silage-based diet with a forage-to-concentrate ratio of 50:50 for 12 d. After removal from the rumen, bags were rinsed with tap water and analyzed in-house for aNDF using an Ankom²⁰⁰⁰ fiber analyzer (Ankom Technology). Indigestible NDF was used as the internal marker to estimate fecal output of DM and apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients (Cochran et al., 1986; Huhtanen et al., 1994). Gross energy of fecal samples was determined using an adiabatic oxygen bomb calorimeter (model 1241; Parr Instrument Co.).

Spot urine samples were collected concurrently with fecal samples into 100-mL specimen containers through stimulation of the pudendal nerve by massaging the area below the vulva or during voluntary urination. After each sampling, 1 mL of urine was pipetted into 50-mL centrifuge tubes containing 32 mL of $0.072 N H_2SO_4$ to obtain composited urine samples by cow per period. Urine samples were stored at $-20^{\circ}C$ until analyses of nitrogenous metabolites. After

thawing at room temperature, samples were analyzed for concentrations of creatinine (assay kit no. 500701, Cayman Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI) using a chromate microplate reader set at a wavelength of 492 nm (Awareness Technology Inc., Palm City, FL), allantoin (Chen et al., 1992), uric acid (assay kit no. 1045–225; Stanbio Laboratory, Boerne, TX), urea N (Stanbio Urea Nitrogen Kit 580; Stanbio Laboratory Inc.), and total N (micro-Kjeldahl analysis, AOAC, 1990; Dairy One Cooperative Inc.). Allantoin, uric acid, and urea N were determined at wavelengths of 522, 520, and 520 nm, respectively, in a UV/visible spectrophotometer (Beckman Coulter Inc., Pasadena, CA). Daily urine volume was estimated from urinary creatinine concentration assuming a constant creatinine excretion rate of 29 mg/kg of BW (Valadares et al., 1999). Urinary excretion of urea N, total N, allantoin, uric acid, and purine derivatives (allantoin + uric acid) were calculated by multiplying the concentration of each of these metabolites by the urinary volume.

Measurements of Gaseous Fluxes

Emissions of CO_2 and enteric CH_4 were measured at 8 timepoints (0200 h and 1400 h on d 15; 0500 h and 1700 h on d 16; 0800 h and 2000 h on d 17; and 1100 h and 2300 h on d 18) to account for diurnal variation in gaseous fluxes using the GreenFeed system (C-Lock Inc., Rapid City, SD) during the sampling week of each period (Harper et al., 2017). The GreenFeed unit was placed in front of each cow for approximately 5 min to sample breath gases and then moved to the alley for 2 min to sample background gases. The unit was moved from cow to cow in a sequential manner. About 2 weeks prior to the beginning of the study, cows were trained to have access to the GreenFeed unit by using a bait feed (Hi-Line 16% Dairy/Beef Pellet, Poulin Grain Inc., Newport, VT). The bait feed was a pelleted product, and contained 16% CP, 6.2% crude

fiber, 31% NFC, 19% starch, and 3.9% ether extract. Approximately 25 g of pellets were dropped from the dispenser of the GreenFeed unit every 15 sec, resulting in a total consumption of ~0.5 kg of pellets per sampling (20 drops in total). One cow refused to consistently access the unit and her data were not included in the statistical analyses. Data were averaged by cow per period. A complete description of the gaseous sampling protocol and calculations used herein has been reported elsewhere (Dorich et al., 2015).

Calculations and Statistical Analyses

Yields of milk components were calculated using milk yield and concentrations of milk components at each milking, summed for daily total, and averaged by period. Digestible energy (**DE**) was calculated by subtracting fecal energy from GE, and ME was estimated as the sum of heat production (**HP**), milk energy output, and tissue energy balance (NRC, 2001). Urinary energy was calculated as 6.5% of estimated ME according to Ferris et al. (1999) and Ferrell and Oltjen (2008). Energy losses as CH4 was calculated by multiplying CH4 emissions (g/d) by a constant of 0.0132 Mcal/g (Judy et al., 2019). Heat production was calculated using the equation reported by Bayat et al. (2019): HP (Mcal/d) = $[0.0184 \times CO2 (L/d) + 7.50] \div 4.184$. According to NRC (2001), milk energy output was calculated using the equation: milk energy (Mcal/d) = $[(0.0929 \times milk fat\%) + (0.0563 \times milk true protein\%) + (0.0395 \times milk lactose\%)] \times milk yield (kg/d), and tissue energy balance was estimated using the equation: tissue energy (Mcal/d) = (body fat% × 9.4 + body protein% × 5.55) × BW change (kg/d), in which body fat% and body protein% were determined by BCS of cows when measurements were taken.$

Data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) according to a replicated 4×4 Latin square design with a 2×2 factorial arrangement of treatments. The following model was used:

$$Y_{ijklm = \mu} + S_i + C_{j(i)} + P_k + SL_l + MLH_m + SL_l \times MLH_m + e_{ijklm}$$

where, $Y_{ijklm} =$ dependent variable, $\mu =$ overall mean, $S_i =$ fixed effect of square (i = 1 to 4), $C_{j(i)}$ = random effect of cow nested within square, $P_k =$ fixed effect of period (k = 1 to 4), $SL_1 =$ fixed effect of SL (l = HS or RS), MLH_m = fixed effect of supplemental RP-MLH (m = yes or no), SL_1 × MLH_m = interaction between dietary SL and supplemental RP-MLH, and $e_{ijklm} =$ residual error. Normality of residuals was checked with normal probability and box plots and homogeneity of variances with plots of residual versus predicted values. Outliers were removed from statistical analyses when studentized residuals were >3.0 or < -3.0. All results were expressed as least squares means and standard errors. Significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at 0.05 < P ≤ 0.10 . The PDIFF option of SAS was used for mean comparisons when interaction between SL and RP-MLH was significant.

RESULTS

The nutritional composition and AA profile (% of CP) of the dietary ingredients are presented in Tables 3.1 and 3.2, respectively, while the ingredient and nutritional composition of the basal diets are listed in Table 3.3. The basal diets contained (DM basis) 35.7% corn silage, 14.7% mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, and 49.6% concentrate. Specifically, the HS basal diet was obtained by replacing 20% beet pulp and 10% soyhulls in the RS basal diet with 30% ground corn. The CP concentration was slightly lower for the HS basal diet compared with the RS basal diet (16.4 vs. 16.0%). Substituting beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn decreased

the dietary concentrations of aNDF and ADF and did not change the proportion of forage NDF. As expected, the HS basal diet had greater levels of NFC, starch, and NE_L than the RS basal diet (47%, 34.4%, and 1.68 Mcal/kg vs. 35.2%, 12.3%, and 1.59 Mcal/kg, respectively).

The NRC (2001) evaluation of the dietary treatments is shown in Table 3.4. The NE_L and MP balances averaged 1.4 Mcal/d and -158 g/d for the HS diets (HS and HS/MLH), and 0.3 Mcal/d and -80 g/d for RS diets (RS and RS/MLH), respectively. The MP deficiency ranged from -180 g/d for cows fed the HS diet without RP-MLH to -53 g/d for those fed the RS diet with RP-MLH. All 4 dietary treatments provided adequate RDP (on average, ~4% above the requirements), whereas dietary RUP balance varied from 5 to 14% below the requirements and displayed a pattern like that observed for the MP balance. Deficiencies of digestible His, Met, and Lys were observed for the experimental diets without RP-MLH supplementation (HS and RS) and the balances of digestible His, Met, and Lys became positive with supplementing RP-MLH.

Intake and Milk Yield and Composition

Dry matter intake, milk yield and composition, feed efficiency, BW, BCS, and concentrations of PUN and blood hemoglobin are shown in Table 3.5. There were no significant interactions between dietary SL and RP-MLH supplementation for production and blood parameters. However, a trend (P = 0.08) for a SL × MLH effect on milk true protein percentage was observed.

Cows fed the HS diets had lower DMI (24.7 vs. 25.4 kg/d) and greater milk yield (40.1 vs. 37.9 kg/d) than those offered the RS counterparts. Consequently, feed efficiency, expressed as milk yield/DMI, improved with feeding the HS vs. RS diets (1.64 vs. 1.50 kg/kg). Yield of 4%

100

FCM averaged 37.9 kg/d and was not affected by dietary starch concentration. However, ECM yield showed a trend (P = 0.09) to increase for the HS diets relative to the RS diets. Feed efficiencies, expressed as 4% FCM yield/DMI (1.56 vs. 1.49 kg/kg) or ECM yield/DMI (1.68 vs. 1.58 kg/kg), were higher for the HS diets than for the RS diets. Compared with RS cows, HS cows had lower milk fat percentage but higher percentages and yields of milk true protein and lactose. Milk N efficiency was greater for HS cows than for RS cows (29.2 vs. 25.4%). Both MUN (11.0 vs. 12.6 mg/dL) and PUN (11.6 vs. 13.3 mg/dL) concentrations were lower for the HS diets. Blood hemoglobin concentration, BCS, BW, and BW gain were not affected by dietary SL.

Supplementation of RP-MLH increased milk true protein percentage (2.84 vs. 2.91%) but decreased milk lactose percentage (4.96 vs. 4.88%). There was a trend (P = 0.06) for greater BW gain in association with supplemental RP-MLH. However, supplementation of the MP-deficient diets with RP-MLH had no effects on DMI, feed efficiencies, yields of milk and milk components, and milk fat percentage (Table 3.5).

Plasma AA and His-containing Metabolites

Plasma concentrations of EAA, NEAA and His-containing metabolites (i.e., carnosine and 3-methyl-His) are shown in Table 3.6. Significant interactions between SL and RP-MLH were observed for plasma Arg and Lys concentrations, which increased with RP-MLH in RS cows but were not changed in HS cows. The plasma concentrations of all EAA, except Met and Thr decreased with feeding the HS vs. RS diets. As a result, HS cows had lower plasma concentration of total EAA than RS cows. Moreover, supplemental RP-MLH improved plasma His and Met concentrations by 32.5% and 69.3%, respectively. The plasma concentration of total EAA was higher for RP-MLH as compared with no RP-MLH supplementation.

As for plasma NEAA, there was a trend (P = 0.06) for a SL × RP-MLH interaction on plasma Asn concentration, with an increase in response to RP-MLH in RS cows and no change in HS cows. Additionally, higher dietary SL increased the plasma concentrations of Asn, Gly, Pro and Tau, and decreased that of Tyr. There was a trend (P = 0.06) to increase the plasma concentration of Asp with feeding the HS vs. RS diets. Replacing beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn tended (P = 0.06) to increase the plasma concentration of NEAA. The plasma concentration of Tau significantly increased by supplementation of RP-MLH. Further, dietary SL did not influence the plasma concentrations of carnosine and 3-methyl-His; however, supplemental RP-MLH reduced the plasma concentration of 3-methyl-His.

Nutrient Digestibility and Urinary N Excretion

Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous metabolites are presented in Table 3.7. There were no significant SL \times MLH interactions, as well as RP-MLH effects for apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous compounds. In addition, digestibilities of DM (mean = 70.1%), OM (mean = 71.5%), and CP (mean = 68.6%) were not altered by dietary SL. In contrast, digestibilities of NDF (43.2 vs. 58.9%) and ADF (47.6 vs. 62.4%) were lower in cows fed the HS diets than those fed the RS diets.

Higher SL reduced urinary excretion of urea N, expressed as g/d, or as a proportion of total urinary N output or N intake, and tended (P = 0.06) to decrease urinary excretion of uric acid. However, dietary SL had no impact on volume (mean = 37.5 L/d), and urinary excretions of

102

creatinine (mean = 5.12 mM), total-N (mean = 316 g/d), allantoin (mean = 594 mmol/d), and purine derivatives (mean = 688 mmol/d).

Gaseous Emissions

Emissions of CO₂ and CH₄ are presented in Table 3.8. No significant dietary SL × RP-MLH interactions, and supplemental RP-MLH effects on these gas emission parameters were observed. Although dietary starch concentration did not change CO₂ emission (mean = 12.0 kg/d), substitution of beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn reduced daily CH₄ production (545 vs. 434 g/d), yield (21.6 vs. 17.7 g/kg of DMI), and intensity (13.6 vs. 10.7 g/kg of ECM) by 20, 18, and 21%, respectively.

Dietary Energy Utilization

Dietary energy utilization and milk energy efficiency are presented in Table 3.9. We did not find any significant SL × RP-MLH interactions and supplemental RP-MLH effects for variables related to energy partitioning. However, intakes of GE (115 vs. 102 Mcal/d) and DE (86.4 vs. 74.5 Mcal/d) were higher for the HS diets compared with RS diets. Energy losses as enteric CH₄ emission was reduced in dairy cows consuming the HS vs. RS diets (6.13 vs. 7.71 Mcal/d). Additionally, DE expressed as a proportion of GE tended (P = 0.08) to be higher in HS cows relative to RS cows. When ME, urinary energy, CH₄ energy, and HP were expressed as a percentage of GE, all of them decreased in cows fed the HS vs. RS diets. A trend (P = 0.08) was observed for fecal energy (expressed as % of GE) to decrease with feeding the HS vs. RS diets. Milk energy efficiency, expressed as a proportion of GE intake, was reduced when cows were fed the HS vs. RS diets (25.3 vs. 27.6%). Moreover, supplementation of the MP-deficient diets with RP-MLH tended (P = 0.07) to enhance energy stored in tissues.

DISCUSSION

It has been clearly demonstrated that low-protein or MP-deficient diets can improve efficiency of N utilization, and reduce N excretion to the environment (Castillo et al., 2000; Olmos Colmenero and Broderick, 2006). However, MP-deficient diets often limit production performance of dairy cattle, especially in high-producing cows. Previous work has found that supplementation of MP-deficient diets with ruminally fermentable energy (e.g., starch) or RP-MLH sustained to some extent milk yield in dairy cows (Broderick, 2003; Lee et al., 2012a). Nevertheless, the effects of varying dietary starch concentrations and supplemental RP-MLH in regulating production performance and nutrient utilization have not been examined yet in lactating dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets.

In the present study, based on the NRC (2001) evaluation, all dietary treatments (HS, HS/MLH, RS, and RS/MLH) provided insufficient MP (2-7% deficiency) and RUP (5-14% deficiency), and the HS diets had higher dietary SL (34.4 vs. 12.3%), NE_L concentration (1.68 vs. 1.59 Mcal/kg), and NE_L balance (1.4 vs. 0.3 Mcal/d) relative to the RS diets. Also, the amounts of RP-MLH supplements were determined to meet digestible MLH requirements in dairy cows (Schwab et al., 2005). The lack of interactions between dietary SL and RP-MLH supplementation for most response variables in our study illustrated that elevated supply of fermentable energy via corn starch did not optimize utilization of digestible Met, Lys, and His provided by RP-MLH toward milk protein synthesis.

Intake, Milk Yield, and PUN

We observed that elevated dietary SL achieved by replacing beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn reduced DMI in lactating dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. Conversely, Ranathunga et al. (2010) and Boerman et al. (2015) reported that substitution of fibrous byproducts (e.g., soyhulls) with ground corn enhanced DMI, which could be explained by decreased rumen fill. In the present study, the ruminal physical fill likely did not play a major role in limiting DMI due to the low inclusion of soyhulls (10%, DM basis) in the RS diets. Also, the energy requirements of dairy cows could be met by consuming lower amounts of the HS diets with higher NE_L density (NRC, 2001), and according to Allen (2000), propionate is more effective to depress DMI relative to acetate. Although the HS diets reduced DMI by -0.7 kg/d, milk yield improved by 2.2 kg/d with feeding the HS diets compared with the RS diets. In support, previous studies have demonstrated that milk yield increased with feeding more starch accomplished either by decreasing dietary forage-to-concentrate ratio or replacing byproducts with corn grain (Broderick, 2003; Rius et al., 2010b). When feeding high-starch diets, more ruminal propionate was produced to support gluconeogenesis in the liver and mammary synthesis of lactose, the osmotic regulator of milk volume (Oba and Allen, 2003). The observed increases in feed efficiency (i.e., milk yield, 4% FCM yield, and ECM yield per unit of DMI) with feeding the HS vs. RS diets resulted from increased milk yield and decreased DMI.

In the present study, milk fat concentration decreased from 4.01 to 3.69% in response to substitution of beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn. In comparison, there was a linear decrease in milk fat concentration with incremental substitution of soyhulls and cottonseed hulls with ground corn (Beckman and Weiss, 2005). Reduced milk fat concentration is commonly observed when dietary NDF was replaced with starch (Erdman, 1988; Batajoo and Shaver,

105

1994). Feeding starch at the expense of non-forage NDF reduced the ruminal acetate-topropionate ratio, which in turn decreased milk fat synthesis in the mammary gland (Erdman, 1988). In our study, milk fat yield was not different between the HS and RS diets, possibly caused by enhanced milk yield in HS cows. Similarly, Beckman and Weiss (2005) and Ranathunga et al. (2010) did not observe any changes in milk fat yield in response to incremental substitution of non-forage fiber sources (i.e., soyhulls, cottonseed hulls, and dried corn distillers grains with solubles) with starch provided by ground corn. Moreover, elevated dietary SL increased both concentration and yield of milk true protein in the current study. Consistent with our results, Boerman et al. (2015) reported that milk protein concentration and yield increased when dairy cows were fed 30% ground corn in place of 30% soyhulls on a DM basis. It may due to the fact that corn starch is more ruminal digestible than non-forage NDF and can provide more energy to capture more ammonia N for microbial protein synthesis (NRC, 2001; Voelker and Allen, 2003b). Notably, milk true protein concentration (mean = 2.87%) in our study was lower than the average milk protein content (3.11%) in Holstein cows (CDCB, 2018), which could be explained by deficiencies of MP in the diets. In support, milk true protein concentration was 2.94% in dairy cows fed a MP-deficient diet (Lee et al., 2012a). Compared with the RS diets, feeding the HS diets improved milk lactose concentration and yield, which may be attributed to increased ruminal propionate production achieved by ruminal starch degradation (Oba and Allen, 2003). In support, Boerman et al. (2015) reported that milk lactose concentration was greater for the diet with 30% ground corn vs. that with 30% soyhulls.

Milk urea N and PUN have been used as indicators of N use efficiency in dairy cows (Eastridge, 2006). Compared with the RS diets, the HS diets reduced MUN and PUN concentrations by 14% and 15%, respectively. The decline in MUN with feeding a HS diet has

106

been also observed by Dann et al. (2014), in which wheat middlings, dried corn distillers grains with solubles, and beet pulp were replaced by ground corn. Milk N efficiency was 15% greater in HS cows than in RS cows, suggesting that elevated dietary SL is able to improve efficiency of N utilization in dairy cows. The mechanism by which addition of starch promotes N efficiency is that starch can provide more fermentable energy than fibrous byproducts, and capable of capturing ruminal ammonia N for more microbial protein synthesis (Oba and Allen, 2003).

Regarding supplementation with RP-MLH, we observed no changes in DMI, milk yield and feed efficiencies. Likewise, Lee et al. (2015) and Giallongo et al. (2016) did not report any significant effects of RP-AA on these parameters in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets (10 and 2% deficiency, respectively); however, an earlier study by Lee et al. (2012a) revealed that RP-MLH improved milk yield when feeding a MP-deficient diet (13% deficiency) to dairy cows. The outcomes suggest that supplementing RP-MLH to the diets with $\leq 10\%$ MP deficiency has limited effect on promoting feed intake and milk yield in dairy cows. Moreover, yields of milk components were not modified by RP-MLH in the present study. In contrast, previous research has showed that supplementation with RP-MLH enhanced yields of milk fat (Giallongo et al., 2016), milk protein (Lee et al., 2012; Giallongo et al., 2016), and milk lactose (Lee et al., 2012). Our diets were less MP deficient than those reported by Lee et al. (2012) and Giallongo et al. (2016), which may result in minimal responses of milk components to supplemental RP-MLH. However, milk true protein concentration increased from 2.84 to 2.91% with RP-MLH, which was similar to previous results (Giallongo et al., 2015; Giallongo et al., 2016). It has been widely established that supplementation of RP-Met, RP-Lys, or RP-His is able to improve milk protein concentration when dairy cows were fed MP-deficient diets (Lee et al., 2012b; Zang et al., 2019).

Plasma Concentration of AA

Supplementation of RP-MLH increased the plasma concentrations of Arg and Lys in RS cows but not in HS cows, which can be explained by reduced mammary AA uptake, lower AA requirements, or both in RS cows. Substitution of beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn reduced all circulating EAA except Met and Thr, possibly because greater dietary energy supply led to increased extraction of circulating EAA by the mammary gland for milk protein synthesis (Rulquin et al., 2004). Rius et al. (2010a) demonstrated that abomasal infusion of starch decreased arterial concentrations of Ile, His, Leu, Lys, and Phe in lactating dairy cows. The plasma concentrations of His and Met increased with supplemental RP-MLH, indicating that supplemental RP-MLH were able to provide digestible MLH effectively. Both Lee et al. (2012a) and Giallongo et al. (2016) demonstrated that supplementation with RP-MLH increased the plasma concentrations of Met, Lys, and His.

We detected that increased dietary SL improved the plasma concentrations of Gly, Pro, and Tau but decreased those of Asn and Tyr. There was a trend for increased plasma Asp in association with elevated dietary starch concentration. Hurtaud et al. (1998) demonstrated that incremental amounts of abomasally infused glucose increased plasma Gly concentration in a linear fashion without effects on other NEAA (Hurtaud et al., 1998). Although we observed increased plasma Tau concentration for supplemental RP-MLH, others did not report any change in this AA in response to RP-MLH (Lee et al., 2012a; Giallongo et al., 2016). A trend for increased plasma concentration of total NEAA with feeding the HS diets may be related to reduced mammary extraction of NEAA in HS cows (Bequette et al., 2000). According to Bequette et al. (2000), the capacity of the mammary gland to extract His increased by 43-fold but to extract other AA decreased by 2- to 3-fold in dairy cows fed a His-deficient diet. Reduced plasma concentration of total AA concentration with the HS diets was mainly caused by decreased plasma concentration of total EAA. Moreover, our results indicated that supplementation of the MP-deficient diets with RP-MLH had limited effect on the metabolism of NEAA but improved the availability of total AA in the blood due to the increases in His, Met and Tau.

We did not observe any RP-MLH effect on the plasma concentration of carnosine, similar to the results of Lee et al. (2012a). Conversely, plasma carnosine concentration increased linearly with incremental amounts of RP-His (Zang et al., 2019). Digestible His from RP-His in our study may be mainly used for milk protein synthesis rather than converted to carnosine due to the higher milk true protein yield compared with that in Zang et al. (2019). Blood hemoglobin, as well as intramuscular carnosine (β -alanyl-1-His) and anserine (β -alanyl-N-methylHis) have been considered endogenous His pools, which can be degraded to supply His during deficiency (Lapierre et al., 2008). However, we did not observe any changes in blood hemoglobin when feeding more RP-His to dairy cows.

Nutrient Digestibility and Urine Excretion of Nitrogenous Metabolites

Dietary SL did not influence the apparent total-tract digestibilities of DM, OM, and CP. Consistent with our results, Voelker and Allen (2003a) reported that replacement of highmoisture corn with 24% beet pulp had no effects on apparent total-tract digestibilities of DM and OM. However, the apparent total-tract NDF and ADF digestibilities were promoted by 36 and 31% when dairy cows were fed the RS vs. HS diets, which may be related to the high fiber digestibility of beet pulp and soyhulls. Our NDF digestibility results corroborate those reported by Boerman et al. (2015), in which NDF digestibility was higher for the diet containing 30% soyhulls vs. 30% ground corn. Compared with RS cows, the apparent total-tract digestibilities of OM and CP were similar and that of NDF reduced by 27% in HS cows, indicating that the starch digestibility was likely increased with feeding the HS diets.

Reduced urinary urea N excretion (g/d, % of total urinary N, and % of N intake) with feeding the HS vs. RS diets in our study probably contributed to higher capture of ruminal ammonia N by starch and less ammonia N for urea formulation in the liver (Oba and Allen, 2003), which was also supported by lower MUN and PUN concentrations and greater milk N efficiency in HS cows. We did not find any difference in urinary excretion of purine derivative between the HS and RS diets, suggesting that microbial protein synthesis may not be altered by dietary SL. According to González-Ronquillo et al. (2004), urinary excretion of purine derivatives can be effective to reflect changes in rumen microbial protein synthesis. The discrepancy may be related to the inaccurately estimated urine volume derived from the spot sampling technique. There was a trend for reduced urinary uric acid excretion in association with elevated dietary SL, and the mechanism behind it is still not fully understood.

Gaseous Production and Energy Utilization

As discussed above, we observed feeding the RS diets reduced yields of milk and milk protein and elevated urinary urea N excretion. Another issue related to replacing ground corn with fibrous byproducts is to increase CH₄ emissions and decrease energy utilization in dairy cows. The positive relationships between CH₄ emissions and CH₄ energy output, and dietary NDF have been established by Nielsen et al. (2013). In our study, CH₄ production (g/d), CH₄ yield (g/kg of DMI), and CH₄ intensity (g/kg of ECM) increased in dairy cows receiving the RS vs. HS diets. Similar to our results, Aguerre et al. (2011) reported that linear increases in these same enteric CH_4 variables when lactating dairy cows were fed diets with increasing forage-toconcentrate ratio and starch concentration ranging from 20 to 29% on a DM basis. Pirondini et al. (2015) reported a trend for increased CH_4 production with replacement of ground corn with 6.5% soyhulls (dietary starch content, 28 vs. 23.8%).

Despite increased GE and DE intakes in HS vs. RS cows, there were no treatment differences in ME intake, indicating that the HS diets may lead to more energy in urine and CH₄, which were not supported by our results. The increase in CH₄ emission resulted in more energy losses as CH₄ when dairy cows receiving the RS vs. HS diets, which is further confirmed the need to reduce CH₄ production from dairy cows when feeding diets containing fibrous byproducts. According to Coppock (1985), dietary energy can be lost via feces, urine, CH₄, and heat, of which fecal energy and HP individually account for 30 to 35%. Increased fecal energy, urinary energy, and HP, expressed as a proportion of GE, with feeding the RS diets resulted from similar values of these variables and lower GE in RS cows. Compared with HS cows, milk energy efficiency was improved in RS cows, even milk energy output tended to be lower for RS cows. It was attributed to the big difference in GE between HS and RS groups (115 vs. 102 Mcal/d). Our study demonstrated that RP-MLH had no significant impact on modify energy partitioning of lactating dairy cows.

CONCLUSIONS

Increased dietary SL achieved by replacing fibrous byproducts with ground corn improved milk and milk true protein yields of dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. Compared with the RS diets, improved production for the HS diets may be caused by enhanced mammary uptake of EAA, which may support by the decreases in plasma EAA. Substituting beet pulp and soyhulls with ground corn in the MP-deficient diets promoted milk N efficiency and mitigated urinary urea N excretion. Furthermore, feeding fibrous byproducts in place of ground corn increased CH₄ emissions and energy losses as CH₄ in dairy cows. Milk energy output tended to decrease in RS cows relative to HS cows. Our results showed that supplementation of MPdeficient diets with RP-MLH had limited effects on lactation performance and nutrient utilization. In spite of these benefits of feeding the HS diets observed in our study, there has been considerable interest in including fibrous byproducts in dairy rations. Therefore, comparative effects of corn grain and a combination of RP-fat and byproducts on production performance and nutrient utilization need further investigations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Partial funding was provided by the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station (Durham, NH; Scientific Contribution Number 2809). This work was also supported by the USDA-National Institute of Food and Agriculture Hatch Multistate NC-2042 (Project Number NH00616-R; Project Accession Number 1001855). The authors extend their gratitude to Ajinomoto Co. Inc. (Kawasaki-shi, Japan) for plasma AA analyses and donating the Ajinomoto prototype RP-His supplement. We are grateful to the Universidade Estadual do Oeste do Paraná visiting scholars Rodrigo Tinini and Jessica Gabi, and the University of New Hampshire undergraduate student Jiyoon Park for assistance during feeding and sampling. A special thanks to Jon Whitehouse and his farm crew at the University of New Hampshire Fairchild Teaching and Research Center for research support and excellent animal care.

REFERENCES

- Aguerre, M. J., M. A. Wattiaux, J. Powell, G. A. Broderick, and C. Arndt. 2011. Effect of forage-to-concentrate ratio in dairy cow diets on emission of methane, carbon dioxide, and ammonia, lactation performance, and manure excretion. J. Dairy Sci. 94:3081-3093.
- Allen, M. S. 2000. Effects of diet on short-term regulation of feed intake by lactating dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1598-1624.
- Batajoo, K. and R. Shaver. 1994. Impact of nonfiber carbohydrate on intake, digestion, and milk production by dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77:1580-1588.
- Bayat, A., A. Guinguina, and P. Huhtanen. 2019. Potential of CO₂ measurements for ranking of cows for feed efficiency. in ADSA. Cincinnati, Ohio.
- Beckman, J. and W. P. Weiss. 2005. Nutrient digestibility of diets with different fiber to starch ratios when fed to lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88:1015-1023.
- Bequette, B., M. Hanigan, A. G. Calder, C. Reynolds, G. Lobley, and J. MacRae. 2000. Amino acid exchange by the mammary gland of lactating goats when histidine limits milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 83:765-775.
- Boerman, J., S. Potts, M. VandeHaar, M. Allen, and A. Lock. 2015. Milk production responses to a change in dietary starch concentration vary by production level in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 98:4698-4706.
- Broderick, G. 2003. Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1370-1381.
- Broderick, G., M. Stevenson, and R. Patton. 2009. Effect of dietary protein concentration and degradability on response to rumen-protected methionine in lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 92:2719-2728.
- Castillo, A., E. Kebreab, D. Beever, and J. France. 2000. A review of efficiency of nitrogen utilisation in lactating dairy cows and its relationship with environmental pollution. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 9:1-32.
- CDCB. 2018. Summary of 2018 DHI herd averages (DHI report K-3). Accessed April 1, 2020. https://queries.uscdcb.com/publish/dhi/current/hax.html
- Chase, L. E. 2014. Carbon footprint and the dairy industry. Accessed May 1, 2020. <u>https://ecommons.cornell.edu/bitstream/handle/1813/37985/CNC2014_18_Chase.pdf;seq</u> <u>uence=2</u>
- Chen, X., Y. Chen, M. Franklin, E. Orskov, and W. Shand. 1992. The effect of feed intake and body weight on purine derivative excretion and microbial protein supply in sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 70:1534-1542.
- Chirgwin, D. L., N. L. Whitehouse, A. F. Brito, C. G. Schwab, and B. K. Sloan. 2015. Evolving the plasma free AA dose-response technique to determine bioavailability of Met in RP-Met supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 98:144.
- Cochran, R., D. Adams, J. Wallace, and M. Galyean. 1986. Predicting digestibility of different diets with internal markers: evaluation of four potential markers. J. Anim. Sci. 63:1476-1483.
- Coppock, C. 1985. Energy nutrition and metabolism of the lactating dairy cow. J. Dairy Sci. 68:3403-3410.
- Dann, H., H. Tucker, K. Cotanch, P. Krawczel, C. Mooney, R. Grant, and T. Eguchi. 2014. Evaluation of lower-starch diets for lactating Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:7151-7161.

- Doepel, L. and H. Lapierre. 2010. Changes in production and mammary metabolism of dairy cows in response to essential and nonessential amino acid infusions. J. Dairy Sci. 93:3264-3274.
- Dorich, C., R. K. Varner, A. Pereira, R. Martineau, K. Soder, and A. F. Brito. 2015. Use of a portable, automated, open-circuit gas quantification system and the sulfur hexafluoride tracer technique for measuring enteric methane emissions in Holstein cows fed ad libitum or restricted. J. Dairy Sci. 98:2676-2681.
- Eastridge, M. 2006. Major advances in applied dairy cattle nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1311-1323.
- Erdman, R. A. 1988. Dietary buffering requirements of the lactating dairy cow: A review. J. Dairy Sci. 71:3246-3266.
- FAO. 2019. Climate change and the global dairy cattle sector: the role of the dairy sector in a low-carbon future. FAO of the UN and Global Dairy Platform Inc., Rome.
- Ferrell, C. and J. Oltjen. 2008. ASAS CENTENNIAL PAPER: net energy systems for beef cattle—concepts, application, and future models. J. Anim. Sci. 86:2779-2794.
- Ferris, C., F. Gordon, D. Patterson, M. Porter, and T. Yan. 1999. The effect of genetic merit and concentrate proportion in the diet on nutrient utilization by lactating dairy cows. J. Agric. Sci. 132:483-490.
- Fredin, S., M. Akins, L. Ferraretto, and R. Shaver. 2015a. Effects of corn-based diet starch content and neutral detergent fiber source on lactation performance, digestibility, and bacterial protein flow in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:554-565.
- Fredin, S., L. Ferraretto, M. Akins, S. Bertics, and R. Shaver. 2015b. Effects of corn-based diet starch content and corn particle size on lactation performance, digestibility, and bacterial protein flow in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:541-553.
- Giallongo, F., M. Harper, J. Oh, J. Lopes, H. Lapierre, R. Patton, C. Parys, I. Shinzato, and A. Hristov. 2016. Effects of rumen-protected methionine, lysine, and histidine on lactation performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:4437-4452.
- Giallongo, F., A. Hristov, J. Oh, T. Frederick, H. Weeks, J. Werner, H. Lapierre, R. Patton, A. Gehman, and C. Parys. 2015. Effects of slow-release urea and rumen-protected methionine and histidine on performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:3292-3308.
- González-Ronquillo, M., J. Balcells, A. Belenguer, C. Castrillo, and M. Mota. 2004. A comparison of purine derivatives excretion with conventional methods as indices of microbial yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:2211-2221.
- Harper, M., J. Oh, F. Giallongo, G. W. Roth, and A. N. Hristov. 2017. Inclusion of wheat and triticale silage in the diet of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100:6151-6163.
- Huhtanen, P. and A. Hristov. 2009. A meta-analysis of the effects of dietary protein concentration and degradability on milk protein yield and milk N efficiency in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:3222-3232.
- Huhtanen, P., K. Kaustell, and S. Jaakkola. 1994. The use of internal markers to predict total digestibility and duodenal flow of nutrients in cattle given six different diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 48:211-227.
- Hurtaud, C., H. Rulquin, and R. Verite. 1998. Effects of graded duodenal infusions of glucose on yield and composition of milk from dairy cows. 1. Diets based on corn silage. J. Dairy Sci. 81:3239-3247.
- Johnson, K. A. and D. E. Johnson. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73:2483-2492.

- Judy, J., G. Bachman, T. Brown-Brandl, S. C. Fernando, K. Hales, P. S. Miller, R. Stowell, and P. Kononoff. 2019. Reducing methane production with corn oil and calcium sulfate: Responses on whole-animal energy and nitrogen balance in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 102:2054-2067.
- Kim, B. G. and H. H. Stein. 2009. A spreadsheet program for making a balanced Latin square design. Rev. Colomb. Cienc. Pec. 22:591-596.
- Lapierre, H., D. Ouellet, L. Doepel, G. Holtrop, and G. Lobley. 2008. Histidine, lysine and methionine: From metabolism to balanced dairy rations. Pages 19-36 in Proc. Proc. 44th Eastern Nutrition Conference of the Animal Nutrition Association of Canada (ANAC), University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada. University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada.
- Lee, C., F. Giallongo, A. Hristov, H. Lapierre, T. Cassidy, K. Heyler, G. Varga, and C. Parys. 2015. Effect of dietary protein level and rumen-protected amino acid supplementation on amino acid utilization for milk protein in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:1885-1902.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, T. Cassidy, K. Heyler, H. Lapierre, G. Varga, M. De Veth, R. Patton, and C. Parys. 2012a. Rumen-protected lysine, methionine, and histidine increase milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6042-6056.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, K. Heyler, T. Cassidy, H. Lapierre, G. Varga, and C. Parys. 2012b. Effects of metabolizable protein supply and amino acid supplementation on nitrogen utilization, milk production, and ammonia emissions from manure in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:5253-5268.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, K. Heyler, T. Cassidy, M. Long, B. Corl, and S. Karnati. 2011. Effects of dietary protein concentration and coconut oil supplementation on nitrogen utilization and production in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:5544-5557.
- Nielsen, N., H. Volden, M. Åkerlind, M. Brask, A. L. F. Hellwing, T. Storlien, and J. Bertilsson. 2013. A prediction equation for enteric methane emission from dairy cows for use in NorFor. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science 63:126-130.
- Niu, M., E. Kebreab, A. N. Hristov, J. Oh, C. Arndt, A. Bannink, A. R. Bayat, A. F. Brito, T. Boland, and D. Casper. 2018. Prediction of enteric methane production, yield, and intensity in dairy cattle using an intercontinental database. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24:3368-3389.
- NRC. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th ed. Natl. Acad. Sci., Washington, DC.
- Oba, M. and M. Allen. 2003. Effects of corn grain conservation method on feeding behavior and productivity of lactating dairy cows at two dietary starch concentrations. J. Dairy Sci. 86:174-183.
- Olmos Colmenero, J. and G. Broderick. 2006. Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on milk production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1704-1712.
- Pirondini, M., S. Colombini, M. Mele, L. Malagutti, L. Rapetti, G. Galassi, and G. Crovetto. 2015. Effect of dietary starch concentration and fish oil supplementation on milk yield and composition, diet digestibility, and methane emissions in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:357-372.
- Ranathunga, S., K. Kalscheur, A. Hippen, and D. Schingoethe. 2010. Replacement of starch from corn with nonforage fiber from distillers grains and soyhulls in diets of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93:1086-1097.

- Rius, A., J. Appuhamy, J. Cyriac, D. Kirovski, O. Becvar, J. Escobar, M. McGilliard, B. Bequette, R. Akers, and M. Hanigan. 2010a. Regulation of protein synthesis in mammary glands of lactating dairy cows by starch and amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 93:3114-3127.
- Rius, A., M. McGilliard, C. Umberger, and M. Hanigan. 2010b. Interactions of energy and predicted metabolizable protein in determining nitrogen efficiency in the lactating dairy cow. J. Dairy Sci. 93:2034-2043.
- Rulquin, H., S. Rigout, S. Lemosquet, and A. Bach. 2004. Infusion of glucose directs circulating amino acids to the mammary gland in well-fed dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:340-349.
- Schwab, C., P. Huhtanen, C. Hunt, and T. Hvelplund. 2005. Nitrogen requirements of cattle. Pages 13-70 in Nitrogen and Phosphorus Nutrition of Cattle and Environment. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- USEPA. 2019. Inventory of US greenhouse gas emissions and sinks: 1990-2017. Vol. EPA 430-R-19-001.
- USEPA. 2020. Understanding global warming potentials Accessed March 30, 2020, https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/understanding-global-warming-potentials
- Valadares, R., G. Broderick, S. Valadares Filho, and M. Clayton. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 82:2686-2696.
- Voelker, J. and M. Allen. 2003a. Pelleted beet pulp substituted for high-moisture corn: 2. Effects on digestion and ruminal digestion kinetics in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:3553-3561.
- Voelker, J. and M. Allen. 2003b. Pelleted beet pulp substituted for high-moisture corn: 3. Effects on ruminal fermentation, pH, and microbial protein efficiency in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:3562-3570.
- Wildman, E., G. Jones, P. Wagner, R. Boman, H. Troutt, and T. Lesch. 1982. A dairy cow body condition scoring system and its relationship to selected production characteristics. J. Dairy Sci. 65:495-501.
- Williams, E. 1949. Experimental designs balanced for the estimation of residual effects of treatments. Aust. J. Chem. 2:149-168.
- Zang, Y., L. Silva, M. Ghelichkhan, M. Miura, N. Whitehouse, M. Chizzotti, and A. Brito. 2019. Incremental amounts of rumen-protected histidine increase plasma and muscle histidine concentrations and milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 102:4138-4154.

			Ground			Soybean	Canola		
Item	Corn silage	Haylage ¹	corn	Beet pulp	Soyhulls	meal	meal	DDGS ²	Urea
No. of samples	4	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3
DM, % of fresh matter	29.4 ± 3.37	28.5 ± 0.00	85.6 ± 0.37	86.7 ± 0.54	89.4 ± 1.63	85.9 ± 0.64	85.5 ± 1.40	83.5 ± 0.93	98.9 ± 0.45
СР	8.18 ± 0.22	16.9 ± 1.27	8.20 ± 0.14	8.55 ± 0.07	11.8 ± 2.19	53.8 ± 0.30	41.9 ± 2.65	31.7 ± 0.35	283 ± 1.82
Soluble protein, % CP	66.5 ± 1.29	47.5 ± 2.12	26.0 ± 4.24	14.5 ± 0.71	29.5 ± 4.95	21.7 ± 3.79	20.0 ± 1.00	17.7 ± 12.5	NA ³
aNDF	43.5 ± 3.00	53.8 ± 0.57	8.25 ± 0.07	35.5 ± 4.95	61.0 ± 5.87	9.40 ± 0.95	29.0 ± 0.71	34.9 ± 2.63	NA
ADF	24.9 ± 1.90	36.3 ± 2.76	2.80 ± 0.28	22.6 ± 0.64	44.8 ± 3.96	7.77 ± 0.15	20.1 ± 0.26	15.7 ± 0.56	NA
ADL	2.85 ± 0.17	6.05 ± 1.06	0.95 ± 0.35	5.30 ± 0.42	2.15 ± 0.07	0.97 ± 0.23	8.07 ± 0.81	4.40 ± 0.61	NA
NFC^4	41.2 ± 2.67	15.7 ± 2.19	77.7 ± 0.49	41.2 ± 4.88	19.2 ± 2.19	27.2 ± 1.42	17.1 ± 1.65	11.8 ± 4.00	NA
Starch	33.3 ± 0.95	0.75 ± 0.07	74.5 ± 2.05	0.20 ± 0.00	1.85 ± 1.20	0.30 ± 0.00	0.57 ± 0.31	1.40 ± 0.17	NA
Ether extract	3.33 ± 0.19	4.45 ± 0.49	3.75 ± 0.07	1.20 ± 0.00	2.45 ± 1.34	1.57 ± 0.29	5.00 ± 1.65	14.1 ± 1.71	NA
NE _L , Mcal/kg of DM	1.62 ± 0.05	1.30 ± 0.06	2.06 ± 0.02	1.31 ± 0.05	1.52 ± 0.09	1.83 ± 0.05	1.63 ± 0.08	2.12 ± 0.06	NA
Ash	3.81 ± 0.18	9.20 ± 0.21	2.18 ± 0.53	13.6 ± 0.06	5.68 ± 0.18	7.99 ± 0.88	7.01 ± 0.20	7.45 ± 0.60	NA
Ca	0.15 ± 0.01	0.66 ± 0.03	0.01 ± 0.00	1.43 ± 0.06	0.52 ± 0.01	0.28 ± 0.02	0.61 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.03	NA
Р	0.30 ± 0.02	0.40 ± 0.01	0.33 ± 0.01	0.11 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.06	0.82 ± 0.03	1.10 ± 0.05	1.11 ± 0.09	NA
Mg	0.15 ± 0.03	0.26 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.00	0.26 ± 0.00	0.23 ± 0.01	0.25 ± 0.02	0.52 ± 0.03	0.31 ± 0.03	NA
K	0.95 ± 0.11	2.72 ± 0.02	0.39 ± 0.01	0.36 ± 0.01	1.48 ± 0.00	2.11 ± 0.11	1.08 ± 0.05	1.17 ± 0.11	NA
Na	0.01 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.04	0.09 ± 0.06	NA
S	0.10 ± 0.01	0.27 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.01	0.25 ± 0.03	0.14 ± 0.02	0.44 ± 0.03	0.80 ± 0.08	0.44 ± 0.06	NA
Fe, mg/kg of DM	335 ± 197	315 ± 126	35.0 ± 4.24	$2{,}210\pm198$	491 ± 36.1	85.0 ± 2.65	128 ± 1.53	120 ± 43.5	NA
Zn, mg/kg of DM	24.8 ± 3.86	31.5 ± 2.12	18.0 ± 1.41	32.0 ± 0.00	56.0 ± 0.00	41.7 ± 2.31	54.0 ± 4.36	63.7 ± 7.51	NA
Cu, mg/kg of DM	6.00 ± 1.41	10.5 ± 0.71	2.00 ± 1.41	9.50 ± 2.12	8.00 ± 1.41	12.7 ± 0.58	5.33 ± 0.58	8.00 ± 3.61	NA
Mn, mg/kg of DM	14.3 ± 2.06	47.5 ± 3.54	4.00 ± 0.00	102 ± 24.0	18.0 ± 1.41	30.3 ± 0.58	58.3 ± 4.04	19.3 ± 11.0	NA
Mo, mg/kg of DM	1.73 ± 0.26	3.85 ± 0.07	0.75 ± 0.21	1.20 ± 0.14	0.95 ± 0.21	4.60 ± 0.46	1.37 ± 0.15	1.53 ± 0.32	NA

Table 3.1. Nutrient composition of dietary ingredients (mean \pm SD) used in the experimental diets (% of DM, unless otherwise noted)

¹Haylage = mixed mostly grass-legume haylage. ²DDGS = corn dried distillers grains with solubles.

 $^{3}NA = not analyzed$

 ${}^{4}\text{NFC} = 100 - (CP\% + aNDF\% + ether extract\% + ash\%)$

117

	1	<u> </u>	Ground	· · ·	``````````````````````````````````````	Soybean	· · ·	,
Item	Corn silage	Haylage ¹	corn	Beet pulp	Soyhulls	meal	Canola meal	DDGS ²
EAA, % CP								
Arg	1.93	3.25	4.79	2.58	5.03	7.40	6.25	4.69
His	1.40	1.67	2.87	3.44	2.80	2.63	2.87	2.78
Ile	4.55	5.31	3.56	4.87	4.29	4.87	4.49	4.25
Leu	11.6	9.15	11.8	7.59	7.08	7.82	7.50	11.5
Lys	2.63	4.82	3.28	4.01	7.08	6.52	6.22	3.44
Met	1.75	1.77	1.78	1.86	1.12	1.32	2.20	1.90
Phe	4.55	5.91	4.92	4.87	4.29	5.29	4.44	5.34
Thr	3.50	4.63	3.69	5.30	3.82	3.91	4.63	4.03
Trp	0.53	1.08	0.82	0.72	0.75	1.38	1.31	0.81
Val	5.95	6.79	4.65	7.31	4.85	4.87	5.47	5.16
NEAA, % CP								
Ala	12.4	9.45	7.39	5.59	4.47	4.35	4.66	6.99
Asp	5.60	9.06	6.70	8.74	9.69	11.3	7.34	6.63
Cys	1.58	1.08	2.33	1.43	1.96	1.42	2.79	2.23
Gly	5.08	5.91	3.97	5.16	7.83	4.27	5.44	4.32
Glu	12.3	9.15	17.8	10.5	12.0	18.4	18.4	16.6
Orn	0.53	0.89	0.00	0.14	0.09	0.06	0.03	0.11
Pro	8.23	6.30	8.62	5.73	5.87	5.37	6.92	8.75
Ser	3.50	3.84	4.65	4.73	5.13	4.55	4.13	4.72
Try	2.28	2.95	2.74	4.30	4.10	3.79	3.04	3.84
Tau	3.50	1.28	3.01	4.44	2.61	0.26	0.36	0.33

Table 3.2. Amino acid composition of dietary ingredients used in the experimental diets (n = 1 composited sample per feedstuff)

¹Haylage = mixed-mostly grass-legume haylage. ²DDGS = dried corn distillers grains with solubles.

	Diet				
Item	High starch	Reduced starch			
Ingredient, % of DM					
Corn silage	35.7	35.7			
Haylage	14.7	14.7			
Ground corn	30.0	-			
Beet pulp	-	20.0			
Soyhulls	-	10.0			
Soybean meal	8.71	8.71			
BergaFat F100 ¹	3.00	3.00			
Canola meal	2.76	2.76			
Mineral and vitamins mix ²	2.50	2.50			
Sodium bicarbonate	1.00	1.00			
DDGS	0.92	0.92			
Urea	0.70	0.70			
Nutrient composition					
DM, % of fresh matter	46.8	46.8			
СР	16.0	16.4			
aNDF	27.9	38.6			
Forage NDF	23.4	23.4			
ADF	16.4	24.6			
ADL	2.54	3.53			
NFC ³	47.0	35.2			
Starch	34.4	12.3			
Ether extract	6.40	5.70			
NE _L , Mcal/kg DM	1.68	1.59			
Ca	0.60	1.00			
Р	0.40	0.40			

Table 3.3. Ingredient and nutritional composition (% of DM, unless otherwise noted) of the experimental diets

¹BergaFat F100 is a rumen-stable fat containing 80% palmitic acid (Berg+Schmidt America, LLC, Libertyville, IL).

²Mineral and vitamin mix contained (as-fed basis): 269 mg/kg of monensin sodium, 13.8% Ca, 1% P, 11% Na, 5.50% Mg, 16 mg/kg of Co, 180 mg/kg of Cu, 8.4 mg/kg of Se, 1,280 mg/kg of Zn, 24.0 kIU/kg of vitamin A, 6.64 kIU/kg of vitamin D 3, and 0.29 kIU/kg of vitamin E. ³NFC = 100 - (CP% + aNDF% + ether extract% + ash%).

	Treatment ³								
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RS	RS/MLH					
NE_L^2 , Mcal/d									
Requirement	40.0	40.0	40.0	40.0					
Supply	41.4	41.5	40.1	40.4					
Balance	1.3	1.4	0.1	0.4					
MP^2 , g/d									
Requirement	2743	2747	2773	2780					
Supply	2564	2612	2666	2727					
Balance	-180	-135	-107	-53					
RDP^2 , g/d									
Requirement	2539	2548	2479	2497					
Supply	2623	2633	2615	2634					
Balance	84	85	136	137					
RUP^2 , g/d									
Requirement	1544	1541	1675	1669					
Supply	1321	1366	1537	1590					
Balance	-223	-175	-137	-79					
dHis ² , g/d									
Requirement ⁴	60	60	61	61					
Supply from the diet	55	55	58	59					
Supply from RP-His	0	7	0	7					
Balance	-5	2	-3	5					
dMet ² , g/d									
Requirement ⁴	60	60	61	61					
Supply from the diet	48	48	49	49					
Supply from RP-Met	0	15	0	15					
Balance	-12	3	-12	3					
dLys ² , g/d									
Requirement ⁴	181	181	183	181					
Supply	172	173	177	178					
Supply from RP-Lys	0	16	0	16					
Balance	-9	8	-7	13					

Table 3.4. NRC (2001) evaluation of experimental diets with high versus reduced starch levels supplemented with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹RP-MLH = 25 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 76 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 110 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan).

²All values were estimated using the NRC (2001) model with actual DMI and nutrient composition of dietary ingredients during the experiment and milk yield and components before the experiment.

 3 HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RS = reduced starch diet, and RS/MLH = reduced starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

⁴Requiements of dHis, dMet, and dLys were calculated as 2.2, 2.2, and 6.6% of MP requirements, respectively.

	Treatment ²			_				
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RS	RS/MLH	SEM	SL	MLH	$\text{SL} \times \text{MLH}$
DMI, kg/d	24.6	24.7	25.3	25.5	0.67	0.02	0.59	0.88
Milk yield, kg/d	40.2	40.0	37.4	38.3	1.16	< 0.001	0.49	0.34
Milk yield/DMI, kg/kg	1.64	1.64	1.49	1.51	0.03	< 0.001	0.75	0.58
4% FCM, ⁴ kg/d	37.8	38.4	37.8	37.4	1.08	0.37	0.88	0.44
4% FCM/DMI, kg/kg	1.55	1.57	1.51	1.47	0.03	< 0.01	0.76	0.18
ECM, ⁵ kg/d	40.7	41.3	39.9	39.9	1.12	0.09	0.62	0.62
ECM/DMI, kg/kg	1.67	1.69	1.59	1.57	0.03	< 0.001	0.97	0.27
Milk fat, %	3.64	3.74	4.05	3.97	0.11	< 0.001	0.82	0.14
Milk fat, kg/d	1.45	1.49	1.51	1.49	0.05	0.35	0.84	0.33
Milk true protein, %	2.87	2.91	2.80	2.91	0.06	0.02	< 0.001	0.08
Milk true protein, kg/d	1.15	1.17	1.05	1.09	0.03	< 0.001	0.13	0.43
Milk lactose, %	4.98	4.92	4.93	4.83	0.06	0.05	0.02	0.60
Milk lactose, kg/d	2.02	1.98	1.86	1.82	0.06	< 0.001	0.20	0.95
Milk N, % of N intake	29.5	28.8	25.5	25.3	0.52	< 0.001	0.20	0.39
MUN, mg/dL	10.8	11.2	12.5	12.6	0.69	< 0.01	0.54	0.82
PUN, mg/dL	11.3	11.9	13.2	13.4	0.54	< 0.001	0.38	0.64
Blood Hb, g/dL	10.1	10.2	10.2	10.3	0.15	0.15	0.40	0.51
BCS	2.90	2.87	2.83	2.91	0.11	0.74	0.63	0.29
BW, kg	703	704	703	702	12.2	0.64	0.96	0.78
BW change, kg/d	0.09	0.39	0.05	0.32	0.15	0.71	0.06	0.91

Table 3.5. Dry matter intake, milk yield and composition, plasma urea N (PUN), blood hemoglobin (Hb), BCS, and BW in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹RP-MLH = 25 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 76 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 110 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RS = reduced starch diet, and RS/MLH = reduced starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{3}SL =$ main effect of dietary starch level, MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and SL × MLH = interaction between dietary starch level and RP-MLH.

⁴4% FCM = $(0.4 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (15 \times \text{kg of milk fat})$; Gaines and Davidson (1923). ⁵ECM = $(0.327 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (12.95 \times \text{kg of milk fat}) + (7.65 \times \text{kg of milk protein})$; Tyrrell and Reid (1965).

	Treatment ²					<i>P</i> -value ³		
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RS	RS/MLH	SEM	SL	MLH	$SL \times MLH$
EAA, μ <i>M</i>								
Arg	70.4	72.7	81.8	95.0	3.27	< 0.001	< 0.01	0.04
His	37.1	50.9	43.0	55.2	2.01	< 0.01	< 0.001	0.67
Ile	108	111	139	147	4.68	< 0.001	0.18	0.52
Leu	117	118	132	137	5.68	< 0.001	0.48	0.75
Lys	66.5	70.7	77.2	95.3	3.68	< 0.001	0.001	0.03
Met	23.2	37.5	21.1	37.5	1.55	0.40	< 0.001	0.37
Phe	43.5	43.5	48.1	51.0	1.42	< 0.001	0.28	0.28
Thr	97.5	95.8	96.5	104	3.93	0.24	0.33	0.14
Trp	45.7	43.7	47.9	48.8	1.27	< 0.01	0.67	0.23
Val	202	205	250	262	9.09	< 0.001	0.22	0.46
ΝΕΑΑ, μ <i>Μ</i>								
Ala	298	291	275	299	15.1	0.41	0.38	0.13
Asn	44.7	44.7	44.9	51.2	1.91	0.05	0.06	0.06
Asp	3.16	3.18	2.86	3.07	0.13	0.06	0.29	0.37
Gln	206	208	210	220	6.87	0.21	0.32	0.51
Glu	39.6	40.3	38.7	39.0	1.72	0.27	0.63	0.85
Gly	299	285	242	245	9.90	< 0.001	0.46	0.29
Pro	92.5	90.0	81.2	88.2	4.44	0.03	0.44	0.11
Ser	77.3	74.3	71.2	74.5	2.56	0.14	0.95	0.11
Tau	39.0	45.6	30.6	40.1	1.86	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.33
Tyr	46.2	45.2	49.3	52.2	2.57	< 0.01	0.59	0.30
Sum of AA								
$\sum EAA, \mu M$	810	848	936	1,037	28.9	< 0.001	< 0.01	0.18
\sum NEAA, μM	1,292	1,274	1,191	1,272	35.9	0.06	0.25	0.07
Total AA, ⁴ μM	2,102	2,122	2,128	2,309	59.3	0.03	0.04	0.09
His-containing me	tabolites, μ <i>M</i>							
Carnosine	18.2	18.7	17.4	18.0	0.66	0.19	0.37	0.97
3-MHis ⁶	1.60	1.41	1.58	1.30	0.11	0.55	0.04	0.71

Table 3.6. Concentrations of plasma AA and His-containing metabolites in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹Rumen-protected MLH = 25 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 76 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 110 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RS = reduced starch diet, and RS/MLH = reduced starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{3}SL =$ main effect of dietary starch level, MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and SL × MLH = interaction between dietary starch level and RP-MLH.

⁵Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

 6 3-MHis = 3-methylHis.

		Treati	ment ²			<i>P</i> -value ³			
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RS	RS/MLH	SEM	SL	MLH	$\text{SL}\times\text{MLH}$	
Apparent total-tract digestibility	ty								
DM	70.3	70.0	70.4	69.8	0.36	0.89	0.18	0.70	
OM	71.6	71.0	71.8	71.6	0.42	0.33	0.37	0.59	
СР	68.3	69.1	68.6	68.4	0.60	0.69	0.49	0.28	
aNDF	43.7	42.7	59.1	58.6	0.75	< 0.001	0.27	0.74	
ADF	48.1	47.0	63.0	61.8	0.94	< 0.001	0.12	0.93	
Urinary Excretion									
Creatinine (m <i>M</i>)	5.65	5.11	4.71	5.01	0.46	0.16	0.74	0.25	
Volume (L/d)	36.3	37.2	39.0	37.6	2.25	0.36	0.90	0.48	
Urea-N (g/d)	149	168	196	195	9.88	< 0.001	0.34	0.29	
Total-N (g/d)	297	317	323	325	14.0	0.17	0.37	0.44	
Urea-N, % of total N	50.7	54.8	63.2	59.6	2.36	< 0.001	0.89	0.06	
Urea-N, % N intake	24.1	24.8	30.3	28.6	1.61	< 0.01	0.73	0.39	
Total-N, % N intake	47.8	49.0	48.3	47.6	1.99	0.81	0.92	0.61	
Uric acid, mmol/d	93.5	91.9	102	102	5.38	0.06	0.85	0.90	
Allantoin, mmol/d	575	620	596	584	36.5	0.80	0.56	0.32	
Purine derivatives, mmol/d	665	704	699	684	39.4	0.83	0.71	0.39	

Table 3.7. Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous compounds in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹Rumen-protected MLH = 25 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 76 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA) and 110 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RS = reduced starch diet, and RS/MLH = reduced starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{3}SL =$ main effect of dietary starch level; MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation; and SL × MLH = interaction between dietary starch level and RP-MLH.

	Treatment ³						<i>P</i> -value ⁴	
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RS	RS/MLH	SEM	SL	MLH	$\text{SL} \times \text{MLH}$
CO ₂ , kg/d	12.1	11.9	11.8	12.0	0.32	0.79	0.99	0.46
CH ₄ , g/d	434	434	545	545	20.8	< 0.001	0.98	0.99
CH ₄ , g/kg of DMI	17.6	17.7	21.7	21.5	0.77	< 0.001	0.95	0.76
CH ₄ , g/kg of ECM	10.7	10.6	13.5	13.7	0.47	< 0.001	0.88	0.65

Table 3.8. Emissions of carbon dioxide (CO2) and methane $(CH4)^1$ in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH²)

¹Gases were measured using GreenFeed (C-Lock Technology Inc., Rapid City, SD). Data were derived from 8 individual measurements over 4-d period.

²Rumen-protected MLH = 25 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 76 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 110 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ³HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RS = reduced starch diet, and RS/MLH = reduced starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{4}SL$ = main effect of dietary starch level, MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and SL × MLH = interaction between dietary starch level and RP-MLH.

	Treatment ²					<i>P</i> -value ³		
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RS	RS/MLH	SEM	SL	MLH	$\mathrm{SL} imes \mathrm{MLH}$
GE, Mcal/d	114	116	101	102	3.46	< 0.001	0.42	0.97
DE, ⁴ Mcal/d	86.4	86.4	75.0	73.9	2.15	< 0.001	0.74	0.75
ME, ⁵ Mcal/d	58.8	59.4	57.5	58.5	1.39	0.26	0.41	0.86
Components, Mcal/d								
Fecal energy	27.8	28.8	25.9	28.0	1.60	0.24	0.17	0.62
Urinary energy ⁶	3.82	3.86	3.74	3.80	0.09	0.26	0.43	0.87
$CH_4 energy^7$	6.13	6.13	7.71	7.70	0.30	< 0.001	0.97	0.99
Heat production ⁸	30.6	30.2	30.1	30.4	0.79	0.76	1.00	0.48
Milk energy ⁹	27.8	28.2	27.3	27.2	0.80	0.08	0.80	0.59
Tissue energy ¹⁰	0.34	0.99	0.16	0.93	0.40	0.76	0.07	0.88
DE, % of GE	75.2	74.2	73.8	72.0	1.09	0.08	0.17	0.71
ME, % of GE	53.8	53.2	58.7	58.8	1.18	< 0.001	0.77	0.66
Fecal energy, % of GE	24.8	25.8	26.2	28.0	1.09	0.08	0.17	0.71
Urinary energy, % of GE	3.50	3.46	3.82	3.83	0.08	< 0.001	0.77	0.66
CH ₄ energy, % of GE	5.18	5.12	7.28	7.30	0.29	< 0.001	0.91	0.83
Heat, % of GE	28.0	26.9	30.4	30.7	0.83	< 0.001	0.50	0.21
Milk energy, % of GE	25.3	25.3	27.9	27.3	0.55	< 0.001	0.48	0.45
Tissue energy, % of GE	0.46	0.97	0.35	0.87	0.38	0.77	0.17	0.99

Table 3.9. Dietary energy estimations and milk energy efficiencies in lactating dairy cows fed diets with high versus reduced starch levels with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹Rumen-protected MLH = 25 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 76 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA) and 110 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RS = reduced starch diet, and RS/MLH = reduced starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH. ${}^{3}SL =$ main effect of dietary starch level, MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and SL \times MLH = interaction between dietary starch level and RP-MLH.

 $^{4}\text{DE} = \text{GE} - \text{FE}$ (NRC, 2001).

 ${}^{5}ME = Heat production + milk energy + tissue energy (NRC, 2001).$

⁶Urinary energy = ME \times 0.065 (Ferris et al., 1999).

 7 CH₄ energy = CH₄ × 13.18 kcal/g (Judy et al., 2019).

⁸Heat production (MJ/d) = $0.0184 \times QCO_2$ (L/d) + 7.50 (Bayat et al., 2019).

⁹Milk energy = $[(0.0929 \times \text{milk fat}\%) + (0.0563 \times \text{milk true protein}\%) + (0.0395 \times \text{milk lactose}\%)] \times \text{milk yield (kg/d) (NRC, 2001)}.$ ¹⁰Tissue energy = (body fat% × 9.4 + body protein% × 5.55) × BW change (NRC, 2001).

CHAPTER IV: DIETARY ENERGY SOURCE AND RUMEN-PROTECTED AMINO ACIDS: EFFECT ON MILK YIELD AND NUTRIENT UTILIZATION IN LACTATING DAIRY COWS

ABSTRACT

Our previous study demonstrated that reduced dietary starch level limited milk and milk protein yield in dairy cows receiving MP-deficient diets. Supplementation of reduced-starch diets with fat could be a feeding strategy to improve milk production. Thus, we aimed to investigate the interactions between energy sources (starch vs. fat) and rumen-protected (RP) Met, Lys, and His (MLH) on milk production and utilization of energy and N in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. Sixteen multiparous Holstein cows were used in a replicated 4×4 Latin square with a $2 \times$ 2 factorial arrangement of treatments. Each period lasted 21 d with 14 d for diet adaptation and 7 d for data and sample collection. Treatments included high starch (HS), HS + RPMLH, reduced starch + RP-fat (RSF), and RSF + RPMLH. The basal diets consisted (dry matter basis) of 50% forage and 50% concentrate. The HS diet contained 26% ground corn, while the RSF diet had 16% ground corn replaced with 15% soyhulls and 1.5% RP-fat (i.e., palmitic acid-enriched supplement). Dietary net energy for lactation, starch, and crude protein averaged 1.53 Mcal/kg, 32.6% and 15.9% for HS diets, and 1.59 Mcal/kg, 21.7% and 16.8% for RSF diets, respectively. Smartamine® M, AjiPro®-L, and an Ajinomoto prototype RP-His supplement were supplemented to meet digestible MLH requirements. Data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS. Dietary treatments had no effects on DMI and milk yield. However, feeding RSF diets increased feed efficiency (1.57 vs. 1.54 kg/kg) and milk fat yield (1.65 vs. 1.50 kg/d) compared with HS diets. Milk and plasma urea N increased and milk N efficiency (30.6 vs. 29.1%) decreased for RSF versus HS diets. Supplemental RP-MLH tended to improve milk true protein content. Additionally, RSF diets increased the plasma concentrations of Arg, Ile, Thr, and Ala but reduced that of Leu relative to HS diets. Plasma Met and His increased with RP-MLH. Digestibilites of crude protein, neutral and acid detergent fiber increased in cows fed RSF vs. HS

diets. Urinary urea N and total N increased in RSF vs. HS cows. Treatments did not change CH₄ production, CH₄ yield, and CH₄ intensity. Consequently, cows fed HS and RSF diets had similar CH₄ energy losses. Likewise, CO₂ emissions and heat production were not affected by treatments. Overall, substitution of ground corn with soyhulls and RP-fat improved feed efficiency and milk fat yield but reduced N utilization without changing energy balance in dairy cows.

Key words: ground corn, metabolizable protein, soyhulls, starch
INTRODUCTION

The high cost of protein feeds and N pollution from high CP diets have encouraged the dairy industry to feed MP-deficient rations to lactating dairy cows. Olmos Colmenero and Broderick (2006) and Broderick et al. (2009) reported that MP-deficient diets improved milk N efficiency and reduced urinary excretion of urea N and total N, but inconsistent responses of milk and milk protein yields were observed. These inconsistencies may have been caused by deficiencies of EAA, particularly Met, Lys, and His (**MLH**; Bequette et al., 2000), limited dietary energy supply (Broderick, 2003), or a combination of both. Lee et al. (2012) demonstrated that supplementation of rumen-protected (**RP**)-MLH to a MP-deficient diet increased yields of milk and milk protein in dairy cows. Giallongo et al. (2016) also observed an increase in milk protein yield in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets supplemented with RP-MLH. Furthermore, we demonstrated that cows fed high starch diets produced 6% more milk and 8.4% more milk protein than those offered reduced starch diets formulated by substituting ground corn with a beet pulp-soyhulls mix (Zang et al., unpublished).

Taken together, supplementation of MP-deficient diets with fermentable energy (e.g., ground corn) and RP-MLH may have the potential to improve yields of milk and milk components and nutrient utilization in dairy cows. However, there is a growing interest in feeding reduced starch diets by replacing ground corn with fibrous byproducts (Fredin et al., 2015a,b), but decreased dietary energy supply must be overcome to avoid reductions in yields of milk and milk components. Specifically, supplementing MP-deficient, reduced starch diets with RP-fat may be a viable approach to enhance production performance and efficiency of nutrient use in lactating dairy cows.

It is important to note that reduced starch diets decrease the risks of ruminal acidosis and displaced abomasum among other metabolic disorders (Allen et al., 2009; Allen and Piantoni, 2013). According to van Knegsel et al. (2007) and Boerman et al. (2015), more nutrients were partitioned toward milk production and less to body reserves in dairy cows fed reduced starch diets supplemented with RP-fat compared with those offered high starch diets. West (2003) stated that less metabolic heat production is expected with feeding RP-fat due to its minimal digestion in the rumen relative to starch sources, which can spare energy to produce milk and milk fat. In fact, milk yield and milk fat concentration and yield increased in cows fed supplemental fat sources as reported in a meta-analysis and meta-regression by Rabiee et al. (2012). In contrast, decreased milk protein concentration was associated with fat supplementation to dairy cows (Rabiee et al., 2012). Decreased glucose availability, development of insulin resistance, increased efficiency of milk production, or reduced plasma somatotropin may be involved in the underlining mechanisms linked to decreased milk protein concentration when fat sources are fed to dairy cows (Wu and Huber, 1994). Alternatively, there is evidence of less EAA supply to the mammary gland with feeding supplemental fat (Erickson et al., 1992; Cant et al., 1993). However, there is scare information on how these diets would affect CH₄ emissions and energy utilization.

Therefore, supplementation of reduced starch diets with RP-fat and RP-MLH may simultaneously increase energy and EAA supply to the mammary gland ultimately improving yields of milk and milk components. We hypothesized that a reduced starch, low-protein diet supplemented with RP-MLH and RP-fat would improve milk production and nutrient utilization in dairy cows. Our objectives were to explore the effects of energy source (**ES**; corn starch vs.

RP-fat) and RP-MLH on lactation performance, CH₄ emission, efficiency of N and energy utilization in high-producing dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (protocol no. 190202) of the University of New Hampshire (Durham). The experiment was conducted at the University of New Hampshire Fairchild Dairy Teaching and Research Center (Durham) from March 11 to June 9, 2019.

Animals, Experimental Design, and Treatments

Sixteen multiparous Holstein cows averaging (mean \pm SD) 112 \pm 28 DIM, 46 \pm 5 kg/d of milk, and 726 \pm 97 kg of BW were selected at the beginning of the study. Cows were housed in a tie-stall barn equipped with water bowels for free access to water and feed tubs for individual feeding. Cows were milked twice a day at 0530 and 1630 h, and milk yield was recorded automatically at each milking throughout the experiment. Cows were weighed (Northeast Scale Co. In., Hooksett, NH) immediately after the afternoon milking during 3 consecutive days before the beginning of the study and at the end of each experimental period. Body condition score was recorded by 3 trained investigators before the beginning of the study and on the last day of each period following the procedures outlined by Wildman et al. (1982).

Cows were blocked by DIM and milk yield into 4 squares and randomly assigned to treatment sequences in a replicated 4×4 Latin square design with a 2×2 factorial arrangement of treatments. Squares were balanced for potential first-order carryover effects in subsequent periods as each treatment immediately preceded and followed every other exactly once in every

square (Williams, 1949; Kim and Stein, 2009). Each experimental period consisted of 14 d for diet adaptation and 7 d for data and sample collection. Dietary treatments were: (1) high-starch diet (HS); (2) HS + RP-MLH (HS/MLH); (3) reduced-starch diet + RP-fat (RSF); and (4) RSF + RP-MLH (**RSF/MLH**). The basal diets were formulated to meet the nutrient requirements, except MP, of a lactating dairy cow averaging 700 kg BW, 120 DIM, 46.4 kg of milk/d, 3.5% of milk fat, 3.1% of milk true protein, 4.98% of milk lactose, and 26 kg/d of DMI using the NRC (2001) evaluation software (v.1.1.9), and contained (DM basis) 40% corn silage, 5% mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, 5% grass hay, and 50% concentrate. The basal HS diet contained 26% ground corn, and the basal RSF diet was achieved by replacing 16% ground corn with 15% soyhulls and 1.5% RP-fat. The RP-fat was BergaFat F100 (Berg+Schmidt America, LLC, Libertyville, IL) that contained at least 80% palmitic acid based on the manufacturer's specification. The RP-MLH supplements were top-dressed on top of the TMR to meet the requirements of digestible MLH (Schwab et al., 2005). The amounts of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland Inc., Eddyville, IA), and RP-His (Ajinomoto prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasakishi, Japan) supplemented were 12, 9, and 15 g/d, respectively. The RP-Met, RP-Lys, and RP-His supplements contained 75% DL-Met with 80% bioavailability (Chirgwin et al., 2015), 40% Lys with 54% bioavailability (Giallongo et al., 2016), and 40% His with 49% bioavailability (T. Takagi, associate director at Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., personal communication), respectively. These RP-AA supplements (Smartamine M, AjiPro -L, and Ajinomoto prototype supplement) were expected to provide 7.2, 1.94, and 2.94 g/d of digestible Met, Lys, and His, respectively.

Dietary ingredients were mixed and offered as TMR twice daily at 0600 and 1700 h using a Super Data Ranger mixer (American Calan Inc., Northwood, NH). Orts were collected and

weighed once daily before the afternoon feeding. Feed offered was adjusted daily to achieve 5 to 10% orts. Feed intake was recorded throughout the experiment.

Feed Sampling and Analyses

Samples of corn silage, mixed mostly grass-legume haylage, grass hay, TMR, and orts were collected thrice weekly and composited by week. The composite samples were dried (55°C, 48 h) in a forced-air oven (VWR Scientific, Radnor, PA) for determination of DM to adjust the TMR on an as-fed basis and to calculate DMI. Samples of forages, concentrates (i.e., ground corn, soyhulls, AminoMax, soybean meal, and urea), TMR, and orts were collected thrice during the sampling week of each period and composited by week. Weekly ingredients were lyophilized for 48 h (Labconco Inc., Kansas City, MO), ground using a Wiley mill (A. H. Thomas Co., Swedesboro, NJ) to pass through a 1-mm screen, and stored in air-tight glass jars until nutritional analysis.

Lyophilized and ground samples of dietary ingredients were shipped to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. (Ithaca, NY) and analyzed for DM, CP, soluble protein, aNDF, ADF, ADL, starch, ether extract, ash, and individual minerals (Ca, P, Mg, K, Na, S, Fe, Zn, Cu, Mn, and Mo) following the procedures used by Dairy One Cooperative Inc.

(https://dairyone.com/download/forage-forage-lab-analytical-procedures; Accessed Mar. 19, 2020). Moreover, TMR and orts were analyzed for CP, aNDF, ADF, and ash at Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory. Samples of dietary ingredients were further ground (Wiley mill; A. H. Thomas Co.) to pass through a 0.5 mm screen and used for determination of AA by cation exchange chromatography (cIEC-HPLC) coupled with post-column ninhydrin derivatization using norleucine as the internal standard (method 982.30; AOAC International, 2016) at the

University of Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station Chemical Laboratory (Columbia, MO). Tryptophan was determined after alkaline hydrolysis and sulfur AA were analyzed after performic acid oxidation (method 988.15; AOAC International, 2016).

Milk and Blood Sampling and Analyses

Milk samples were collected using automatic samplers during 4 consecutive milkings starting in the afternoon milking of d 15 of each period. Milk samples were transferred into tubes preserved with 2-bromo-2-nitropropane-1,3 diol (Broad Spectrum Microtabs II; Advanced Instruments Inc., Norwood, MA) and stored at 4°C until analysis. Milk samples were shipped to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory and analyzed for concentrations of fat, true protein, lactose, TS, and MUN by mid-infrared reflectance spectroscopy in a Milkoscane (Foss Inc., Hillerød, Denmark), and SCC using flow cytometry in a Fossomatic (Foss Inc.).

Blood samples were collected into vacutainer 15% EDTA tubes (Monoject, Mansfield, MA) via the coccygeal vein or artery approximately 4 h after the morning feeding on d 16 and 17 of each period. Tubes were immediately placed in a chill bucket with beads (Chemglass Life Sciences, Vineland, NJ) and transported to the laboratory for centrifugation $(2,155 \times g, 20 \text{ min}, 4^{\circ}\text{C})$ using an Eppendorf centrifuge (model 5810; Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Plasma samples were composited by cow and period, and the composite samples were used to determine the concentrations of AA, carnosine, and urea N (**PUN**) at Ajinomoto Co. Inc. using a High-Speed AA analyzer L-8900 (Hitachi High-Technologies Co., Tokyo, Japan) following the procedures described by the manufacturer (https://www.hitachi-

hightech.com/us/library/literature/brochure-1-8900-amino-acid-analyzer.html; Accessed March

19, 2020). Codified plasma samples were sent to Ajinomoto Co. Inc. to preserve treatments identity.

Fecal and Urinary Sampling and Analyses

Fecal grab samples were taken directly from the rectum or during voluntary defecation at 8 time points (0600 h and 1500 h on d 18; 0300 h, 0900 h, and 1800 h on d 19; and 0000 h and 1200 h and 2100 h on d 20) during the sampling week of each period. Fecal samples (~200 g/sampling) were collected into 100-mL specimen containers and transferred into 4-L storage bags to obtain composited samples by cow per period. Next, samples were dried in a forced-air oven (VWR Scientific) at 55°C for approximately 72 h and ground (Wiley mill; A. H. Thomas Co.) to pass through a 1-mm screen. Fecal samples were analyzed for DM, CP, aNDF, ADF, and ash at Dairy One Cooperative Inc. laboratory as reported above. In addition, triplicate samples (~0.5 g) of feces, TMR, and orts were weighed into Ankom F57 bags (25 µm pore size; Ankom Technology, Macedon, NY), placed in a larger laundry nylon bag, and inserted in the rumen of 1 ruminally cannulated late-lactation Holstein cow for 12 d. The cannulated cow was fed a corn silage- and grass silage-based diet with a forage-to-concentrate ratio of 50:50. After removal from the rumen, bags were rinsed with tap water and analyzed in-house for NDF using an Ankom²⁰⁰⁰ fiber analyzer (Ankom Technology). Indigestible NDF (**iNDF**) was used as the internal marker to estimate fecal output of DM and apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients (Cochran et al., 1986; Huhtanen et al., 1994).

Spot urine samples were collected concurrently with fecal samples into 100-mL specimen containers through stimulation of the pudendal nerve by massaging the area below the vulva or during voluntary urination in the sampling week of each period. After each sampling, 1 mL of

urine was pipetted into 50-mL centrifuge tubes containing 32 mL of 0.072 N H₂SO₄ to obtain composited urine samples by cow per period. Urine samples were stored at -20° C before analyses of nitrogenous metabolites. After thawing at room temperature, samples were analyzed for concentrations of creatinine (assay kit no. 500701, Cayman Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI) and uric acid (catalog no. DIUA-250, QuantiChrom Uric Acid Assay Kit, BioAssay Systems Inc., Hayward, CA) using a chromate microplate reader set at a wavelength of 492 nm and 540 nm, respectively (Awareness Technology Inc., Palm City, FL), allantoin (Chen et al., 1992), urea N (Stanbio Urea Nitrogen Kit 580; Stanbio Laboratory Inc.), and total N (micro-Kjeldahl analysis, AOAC, 1990; Dairy One Cooperative Inc.). Allantoin and urea N were determined at wavelengths of 522 and 520 nm, respectively, in a UV/visible spectrophotometer (Beckman Coulter Inc., Pasadena, CA). Daily urine volume was estimated from urinary creatinine concentration assuming a constant creatinine excretion rate of 29 mg/kg of BW (Valadares et al., 1999). Urinary excretion of urea N, total N, allantoin, uric acid, and purine derivatives (allantoin plus uric acid) were calculated by multiplying the concentration of each of these metabolites by the urinary volume.

Measurements of Gaseous Fluxes

Emissions of CO_2 and enteric CH_4 , and consumption of O_2 were measured at 8 timepoints (0200 h and 1400 h on d 15; 0500 h and 1700 h on d 16; 0800 h and 2000 h on d 17; and 1100 h and 2300 h on d 18) to account for diurnal variation in gaseous fluxes using the GreenFeed system (C-Lock Inc., Rapid City, SD) during the sampling week of each period (Harper et al., 2017). The GreenFeed unit was placed in front of each cow for approximately 5 min to sample breath gases and then moved to the alley for 2 min to sample background gases. The unit was moved from cow to cow in a sequential manner. About 2 weeks prior to the beginning of the study, cows were trained to have access to the GreenFeed unit by using a bait feed (Hi-Line 16% Dairy/Beef Pellet, Poulin Grain Inc., Newport, VT). The bait feed was a pelleted product, and contained 16% CP, 6.2% crude fiber, 31% NFC, 19% starch, and 3.9% ether extract. Approximately 25 g of pellets were dropped from the dispenser of the GreenFeed unit every 15 sec, resulting in a total consumption of ~0.5 kg of pellets per sampling (20 drops in total). One cow refused to consistently access the unit, and her data were not included in the statistical analyses. Data were averaged by cow per period. A complete description of the gaseous sampling protocol and calculations used herein has been reported elsewhere (Dorich et al., 2015).

Calculations and Statistical Analyses

Yields of milk components were calculated using milk yield and concentrations of milk components at each milking, summed for daily total, and averaged by period. Energy losses as CH₄ was calculated by multiplying CH₄ emissions (g/d) by a constant of 0.0132 Mcal/g (Judy et al., 2019). Heat production was calculated using the equation reported by Bayat et al. (2019): heat production (Mcal/d) = $[0.0184 \times CO2 (L/d) + 7.50] \div 4.184$.

Data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) according to a replicated 4×4 Latin square design with a 2×2 factorial arrangement of treatments. The following model was used:

$$Y_{ijklm} = \mu + S_i + C_{j(i)} + P_k + ES_l + MLH_m + ES_l \times MLH_m + e_{ijklm}$$

where, Y_{ijklm} = dependent variable, μ = overall mean, S_i = fixed effect of square (i = 1 to 4), $C_{j(i)}$ = random effect of cow nested within square, P_k = fixed effect of period (k = 1 to 4), ES₁ = fixed effect of ES (l = starch or fat), MLH_m = fixed effect of supplemental RP-MLH (m = yes or no), $ES_1 \times MLH_m$ = interaction between dietary ES and supplemental RP-MLH, and e_{ijklm} = residual error. Normality of the residuals was checked with normal probability and box plots and homogeneity of variances with plots of residual versus predicted values. Data were considered as outliers and removed from analysis when Studentized residuals were >3.0 or < -3.0. All results were expressed as least squares means and standard errors. Significance was declared at $P \le 0.05$ and trends at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$. The PDIFF option of SAS was used for mean comparisons when interaction between dietary ES and RP-MLH was significant.

RESULTS

The chemical composition and AA profile (% of CP) of the individual ingredients are presented in Table 4.1 and 4.2, respectively. The ingredient and nutritional composition of the basal diets are listed in Table 4.3. The basal diets consisted of 50% forage (i.e., corn silage, mixed mostly grass-legume haylage and grass hay) and 50% concentrate on a DM basis. The HS basal diet contained (DM basis) 26% ground corn and 7% soyhulls. Ground corn was partly replaced with soyhulls and RP-fat to obtain the RSF basal diet, which contained 10% ground corn, 22% soyhulls, and 1.5% RP-fat (palmitic acid-enriched supplement). The basal diets were originally formulated to be isonitrogenous and isoenergetic; however, the RSF basal diet had greater CP level than the basal HS diet (16.8 vs. 15.9%). Dietary NE_L levels were similar between the HS and RSF basal diets (1.53 vs. 1.59 Mcal/kg). Substituting ground corn with soyhulls and RP-fat increased the dietary concentrations of aNDF and ADF and decreased those of NFC and starch; however, the content of forage NDF was not altered. The RSF diet had higher level of ether extract compared with the HS diet (5.9 vs. 4%). The NRC (2001) evaluation of the dietary treatments is presented in Table 4.4. The balances for NE_L and MP averaged 0.85 Mcal/d and -84 g/d for the HS diets, and 2.4 Mcal/d and -27 g/d for the RSF diets, respectively. The balances of RDP and RUP were 162 and -34 g/d for the RSF diets and 95 and -104 g/d for the HS diets, respectively. Deficiencies of digestible His, Met, and Lys were observed for both experimental diets without RP-MLH supplementation. Supplemental RP-MLH alleviated these shortages of Met, Lys, and His to some degree.

Intake and Milk Yield and Composition

Dry matter intake, milk yield and components, PUN, BCS, and BW are shown in Table 4.5. There was a significant interaction of ES and RP-MLH supplementation effect on milk fat concentration. Specifically, milk fat concentration tended (P = 0.08) to decrease in HS cows but did not change in RSF cows when feeding RP-MLH. Milk yield showed a trend (P = 0.07) for an interaction between dietary ES and RP-MLH.

Substitution of ground corn with soyhulls and RP-fat did not significantly change DMI (mean = 29.0 kg/d) and milk yield (mean = 45 kg/d) but improved feed efficiency expressed as milk yield/DMI (1.57 vs. 1.54 kg/kg). Moreover, the RSF diets had greater yields of 4% FCM (P < 0.001; 42.9 vs. 40.1 kg/d) and ECM (P < 0.001; 47.0 vs. 44.8 kg/d) compared with the HS diets, respectively. Consequently, feed efficiencies, expressed as 4% FCM yield/DMI (P < 0.001; 1.48 vs. 1.38 kg/kg) or ECM yield/DMI (P < 0.001; 1.62 vs. 1.53 kg/kg), increased with feeding the RSF vs. HS diets, respectively. Compared with HS cows, RSF cows had greater yields of milk fat (P < 0.001; 1.50 vs. 1.65 kg/d) and TS (P < 0.001; 5.55 vs. 5.72 kg/d) and milk TS concentration (P < 0.001; 12.5 vs. 12.6%), but lower contents of milk true protein (P < 0.001; 3.17 vs. 3.10%) and milk lactose (P < 0.01; 4.99 vs. 4.94%), respectively. Milk N efficiency (P < 0.001; 4.99 vs. 4.94%), respectively.

0.001; 29.1 vs. 30.1%) decreased for the RSF diets relative to the HS diets, respectively.

However, milk SCC (mean = 47,900 cells/mL) was not impacted by dietary ES. Both MUN (P < 0.001; 14.9 vs. 12.1 mg/dL) and PUN (P < 0.001; 15.6 vs. 12.3 mg/dL) concentrations increased in RSF cows compared with HS cows, respectively. Body condition score, BW, and BW change were not modified by dietary ES ($P \ge 0.15$).

Supplementation with RP-MLH (HS/MLH and RSF/MLH) tended (P = 0.06) to increase milk true protein concentration (3.15 vs. 3.12%, respectively) compared with the diets without RP-MLH (HS and RSF). There was a trend (P = 0.09) for greater BW gain in association with supplemental RP-MLH. However, the present study indicated that supplementing RP-MLH to the basal diets had no effects on DMI, feed efficiencies, yields of milk and milk components, BCS, and BW.

Plasma AA and Carnosine

The plasma concentrations of AA and carnosine are shown in Table 4.6. No significant interactions between dietary ES and RP-MLH were observed for plasma AA and carnosine concentrations. Regarding EAA, substituting ground corn with soyhulls and RP-fat increased ($P \le 0.05$) the plasma concentrations of Arg, Ile and Thr, but decreased (P < 0.01) plasma Leu concentration. The plasma concentrations of His and Phe tended ($P \le 0.09$) to decrease, while those of plasma Lys and Val tended ($P \le 0.09$) to increase with feeding the RSF vs. HS diets. As for NEAA, the RSF diets enhanced (P = 0.02) the plasma concentration of Ala and tended ($P \le$ 0.08) to reduce plasma Ser and Tau compared with the HS diets. Plasma carnosine concentration was lower for cows receiving the RSF vs. HS diets (17.7 vs. 18.9 μM , respectively). Moreover, supplementation with RP-MLH elevated ($P \le 0.04$) plasma His and Met concentrations and tended (P = 0.08) to reduce plasma Thr concentration. Likewise, a trend (P = 0.07) was observed for lower plasma Gly concentration with supplemental RP-MLH. Plasma concentration of Tau was enhanced (P = 0.001) by supplemental RP-MLH (34.9 vs. 38.9 μ *M*). Neither dietary ES nor RP-MLH supplementation were able to modify the plasma concentrations of EAA, NEAA, and total AA.

Nutrient Digestibility and Urinary N Excretion

The apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous metabolites are presented in Table 4.7. There were no significant dietary ES \times RP-MLH supplementation interactions, as well as RP-MLH effects on digestibility and urinary excretion variables. In addition, the apparent total-tract digestibilities of DM (mean = 66.8%) and OM (mean = 67.8%) were not changed by dietary ES. However, the total-tract digestibilities of CP (67.0 vs. 68.1%), aNDF (42.7 vs. 49.2%), and ADF (49.7 vs. 54.4%) were lower in HS cows than RSF cows, respectively.

In the present study, RSF cows had reduced urinary creatinine concentration (P < 0.001; 5.57 vs. 6.92 m*M*) and greater urine volume (P < 0.001; 36.3 vs. 29.3 L/d) relative to HS cows. Both urinary urea N (P < 0.001; 185 vs. 239 g/d) and total N (P < 0.001; 279 vs. 335 g/d) were increased when ground corn was partially replaced with soyhulls and RP-fat. The urinary excretion of urea N, expressed as a proportion of total urinary N (72.0 vs. 66.4%) or N intake (31.0 vs. 25.2%), increased for the RSF diets relative to the HS diets. Similarly, urinary excretion of total N, expressed as a percentage of N intake (P < 0.001; 43.4 vs. 38.0%) also increased with feeding the RSF diets compared with the HS diets. Feeding the RSF diets tended (P = 0.09) to

elevate the urinary excretion of uric acid. However, dietary ES had no impact on urinary allantoin and purine derivatives.

Gaseous Emissions

Emissions of CO₂ and enteric CH₄, and O₂ consumption are presented in Table 4.8. No significant interactions between dietary ES and RP-MLH supplementation on these gaseous fluxes were observed. Additionally, neither dietary ES nor supplemental RP-MLH affected O₂ consumption (mean = 12.8 kg/d), emissions of CO₂ (mean = 16.2 kg/d) and CH₄ (534 g/d), CH₄ yield (mean = 18.5 g/kg of DMI), and CH₄ intensity (mean = 11.6 g/kg of ECM). Subsequently, dietary treatment had no impact on CH₄ energy (mean = 7.08 Mcal/d) and heat production (mean = 37.8 Mcal/d).

DISCUSSION

Feeding MP-deficient diets to lactating dairy cows has gained considerable attention in recent years in order to reduce feed costs and environmental N pollution (Castillo et al., 2000). However, MP-deficient diets often limit production of dairy cows, which is likely associated with shortages of EAA (Lee et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012). Therefore, RP-AA supplements have been used to meet EAA requirements for synthesis of milk and milk protein in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets (Lee et al., 2012; Giallongo et al., 2016). The effects of different dietary energy concentrations on mitigating milk yield losses have also been investigated when feeding MP-deficient diets to dairy cows (Broderick, 2003; Rius et al., 2010). Recently, we demonstrated that feeding a diet with reduced starch concentration decreased milk and milk protein yields in dairy cows receiving MP-deficient diets compared with a high starch diet (Zang et al.

unpublished). Nevertheless, it has been well established that high starch diets increase the risks of ruminal acidosis and displaced abomasum among other metabolic disorders (Allen et al., 2009; Allen and Piantoni, 2013). Thus, a comparison between fermentable energy (e.g., starch) and nonfermentable energy (e.g., RP-fat) for the improvement of milk production and nutrient utilization is needed when feeding MP-deficient diets.

In the present study, based on the NRC (2001) evaluation, all dietary treatments (HS, HS/MLH, RSF, and RSF/MLH) provided sufficient energy (NE_L balance, +0.1 to 2.4 Mcal/d) and insufficient MP (1-3% deficiency) and RUP (2-6% deficiency), and the HS and RSF diets contained similar levels of NE_L (1.53 vs. 1.59 Mcal/kg) but different levels of CP (15.9 vs. 16.8%), starch (32.6 vs. 21.7%), and ether extract (4 vs. 5.9%), respectively. We aimed to formulate isoenergetic and isonitrogenous basal diets; however, the CP difference was caused by an unexpected increase in the CP level of soyhulls. Supplemental RP-MLH alleviated these shortages of digestible Met, Lys, and His to some degree. The lack of interactions between dietary ES and RP-MLH supplementation for all response variables except milk yield (interaction, P = 0.07) and milk fat concentration (interaction, P = 0.04) in our study illustrated that neither fat nor corn starch optimized utilization of digestible Met, Lys, and His provided by RP-MLH toward milk protein synthesis.

Intake, Milk Yield, and PUN

In our study, there were no differences in DMI and milk yield between the HS (HS and HS/MLH) and RSF (RSF and RSF/MLH) diets, which are consistent with results reported by van Knegsel et al. (2007), which examined two diets with same forage-to-concentrate ratios and forages, but different concentrates (glucogenic vs. lipogenic). An earlier review by Ipharraguerre

and Clark (2003) summarized that corn grain can be replaced by up to 30% soyhulls on a DM basis without negatively affecting production performance of dairy cows. Although the RSF diets had higher dietary aNDF concentration than the HS diets, the same forage NDF level may lead to similar ruminal fill that determines DMI of dairy cows (Allen, 2000). We observed that both milk fat concentration and yield increased with feeding the RSF diets, similar to observations reported by Boerman et al. (2015), in which a high starch diet (a forage-toconcentrate ratio of 40:60) containing 33% corn grain and a high-fiber and high-fat diet (a forage-to-concentrate ratio of 50:50) containing 2.5% palmitic acid-enriched supplement were fed to mid-lactation dairy cows. The observed increase in milk fat production in RSF cows may result from supplemental RP-fat and higher dietary aNDF concentration in the RSF diets, which provided more palmitic acid (Piantoni et al., 2013), and acetate (Cunningham et al., 1993), respectively. Elevated supply of these FA improved milk fat synthesis in the mammary gland (Mathews et al., 2016; Urrutia et al., 2019). Moreover, 4% FCM yield and ECM yield increased by 7 and 5%, respectively with feeding the RSF diets, which can be explained by elevated milk fat yield. The RSF diets also improved feed efficiencies, expressed as 4% FCM yield/DMI and ECM yield/DMI, which resulted from higher yields of 4% FCM and ECM and similar DMI in RSF cows compared with HS cows.

We did not observe an increase in milk true protein yield in RSF cows, even though the RSF diets had higher dietary CP level than the HS diets. According to Oba and Allen (2003a), substitution of corn grain for fibrous byproducts captured more ruminal ammonia N to synthesize more microbial protein for milk protein synthesis in the mammary gland. Thus, more microbial protein may be produced in HS cows to compensate for a reduction in dietary CP level. In the present study, milk lactose concentration increased but milk lactose yield did not

change for the HS diets relative to the RSF diets. Similarly, Fredin et al. (2015a) reported that substitution of ground corn with soyhulls at ~8% of diet DM did not modify milk lactose concentration and yield. Milk urea N has been identified an indicator of efficiency of N utilization (Schepers and Meijer, 1998) and urine N excretion (Kauffman and St-Pierre, 2001). Compared with the HS diets, the RSF diets increased MUN and PUN concentrations by 23 and 27%, respectively, suggesting that RSF cows did not utilize N as effectively as HS cows that probably resulted from higher dietary CP level (Broderick and Clayton, 1997) and lower dietary starch concentration (Oba and Allen, 2003a). Reduced milk N efficiency for replacement of ground corn with soyhulls and RP-fat further confirmed this point.

Supplementation of RP-MLH failed to improve milk protein synthesis in the present study. Conversely, Giallongo et al. (2016) reported that these two variables were enhanced for RP-MLH in dairy cows fed a MP-deficient diet. Milk protein concentration and yield increased significantly with jugular infusion of MLH in dairy cows fed a MP-deficient diet (Yoder et al., 2020). The lower degree of MP deficiency in our study (mean = 1.75% deficiency) compared with that (mean = 3.5% deficiency) from Giallongo et al. (2016) and that (mean = 16% deficiency) from Yoder et al. (2020) may be related to no change in milk protein yield in response to RP-MLH.

Plasma Concentration of AA

Increased plasma concentrations of Arg, Ile, Lys, Thr, and Val with feeding the RSF (RSF and RSF/MLH) vs. HS (HS and HS/MLH) diets were mainly caused by higher dietary CP content (15.9 vs. 16.8%). Unexpectedly, the plasma concentrations of His, Leu, and Phe were lower for RSF cows relative to HS cows. These results could be attributed to higher proportions

of His (2.83 vs. 2.68% of CP), Leu (12.1 vs. 7.59% of CP), and Phe (4.98 vs. 4.85%) in ground corn as compared with soyhulls in our diets, respectively. The plasma concentrations of circulating EAA can be impacted by many factors including dietary supplies of EAA, ruminal protein synthesis, utilization of EAA in portal-drained viscera, hepatic EAA metabolism, and catabolism and anabolism of EAA in the mammary gland (Lapierre et al., 2006). Plasma concentrations of EAA in dairy cows can also be impacted by dietary starch level. For instance, substitution of an energy concentrate composed of 54.2% peas, 38.2% corn starch, 4.4% sugar molasses, 2.0% soy oil, and 1.2% NaCl for corn silage at 17% of diet DM, increased blood flow toward the mammary gland and mammary uptake of EAA, which in turn reduced the plasma concentrations of some EAA including Arg, His, Phe, and Thr (Omphalius et al., 2019). Furthermore, mammary catabolism of group 2 AA (i.e., Lys, Ile, Leu, and Val), hepatic catabolism of His + Met + Phe, and the plasma concentrations of most EAA (i.e., Ile, Lue, Lys, Phe, and Val) decreased with abomasal infusion of glucose (Omphalius et al., 2020). Taken together, the type of energy (corn starch vs. fat) may not play a significant role on AA utilization in tissues of dairy cows.

Additionally, feeding the RSF diets enhanced the plasma concentration of carnosine, which may be associated with higher plasma His concentration. More than 99% of carnosine, which is synthesized by carnosine synthase using His and Ala, is found in skeletal muscles (Maynard et al., 2001; Boldyrev et al., 2013). Therefore, it is conceivable that increased circulating concentrations of carnosine observed herein may be related to its transportation from skeletal muscles to plasma.

As expected, the plasma concentrations of His and Met were improved by 8% and 27% by supplemental RP-MLH. However, we found no change in plasma Lys concentration with RP-

MLH, probably due to the small increase (~2 g/d) in digestible Lys supplied by RP-Lys. For comparison, plasma concentrations of His, Met, and Lys increased in dairy cows consuming MP-deficient diets supplemented with RP-MLH (Lee et al., 2012; Giallongo et al., 2016). Overall, the effect of RP-MLH on plasma AA concentrations are influenced by the amounts and bioavailability of RP-AA products, dietary MP balance, and lactation stage (Lee et al., 2012; Giallongo et al., 2016; Zang et al., 2019).

Digestibility of Nutrients and Urinary Excretion of Nitrogenous Metabolites

Feeding the RSF diets (RSF and RSF/MLH) increased the apparent total-tract digestibility of CP compared with the HS counterparts (HS and HS/MLH). This may have been related to the high quality of soyhulls (17.5% CP, 53.4% aNDF, and 39.2% ADF) in the present study. The wide ranges of CP (9.4 to 19.2%), NDF (53.4 to 73.7%), and ADF (39.6 to 52.8%) of soyhulls have been reported (Ipharraguerre and Clark, 2003). Nevertheless, an earlier review by Ipharraguerre and Clark (2003) demonstrated that feeding soyhulls as a replacement for grain did not often change apparent total-tract digestibility of CP. Moreover, the RSF diets had higher total-tract NDF and ADF digestibilities presumably because soyhulls is a source with highly digestible NDF and ADF (Ipharraguerre and Clark, 2003).

Our results demonstrated that RSF cows produced 24% more urine than HS cows presumably because of higher dietary CP level in the RSF vs. HS diets. According to Holter et al. (1982), increased N intake led to more urinary volume. In support, Olmos Colmenero and Broderick (2006) reported that urine volume showed a linear increase to increasing dietary CP (13.5 to 19.4%). Elevated urinary urea N (g/d, % of total urinary N, and % of N intake) and total N (g/d and % of N intake) for the RSF vs. HS treatments are consistent with enhanced dietary supply of CP and lower ruminally fermentable energy from starch. Olmos Colmenero and Broderick (2006) demonstrated that urinary excretion of urea N (g/d and % of total urinary N) and total N (g/d and % of N intake) increased linearly in response to incremental amounts of dietary CP fed to lactating dairy cows. Furthermore, fermentable energy from starch can optimize ammonia N utilization in the rumen and ultimately reduce ureagenesis in the liver (Oba and Allen, 2003b). In support, urinary urea N excretion (g/d, % of total urinary N, and % of N intake) decreased by elevated dietary starch level (Zang et al. unpublished).

Gaseous Fluxes

We observed that feeding the RSF diets improved feed efficiency and milk fat and TS yields. However, some concern exists about replacing fibrous byproducts with corn grain in dairy diets because it can increase greenhouse gas emissions and decrease energy utilization in dairy cows (Nielsen et al., 2013). The dairy industry contributes ~4% of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions with CH₄, N₂O, and CO₂ representing 63, 25, and 12% of total emissions from dairy systems, respectively (FAO, 2019).

In the present study, there were no differences in emissions of enteric CH_4 and CO_2 between the HS diets and RSF diets. On the contrary, Hammond et al. (2016) demonstrated that elevated dietary NDF concentration via replacing cracked wheat with barley straw and soyhulls increased CH_4 emissions in dairy cows. The lack of response in enteric CH_4 emissions to increased aNDF concentration herein may have been caused by replacing ground corn with soyhulls rather than a forage source. Heat production and CH_4 energy did not differ between the HS and RSF treatments due to similar production of CH_4 and CO_2

CONCLUSIONS

Substitution of ground corn with soyhulls and RP-fat increased feed efficiency and milk fat and TS yields in dairy cows fed MP-deficient diets. Compared with the HS diets (HS and HS/MLH), enhanced milk fat production for the RSF diets (RSF and RSF/MLH) may have been caused by elevated ruminal fiber fermentation and palmitic acid supply. However, feeding the RSF diets decreased milk N efficiency and increased urinary excretion of urea N and total N. Supplementation of MP-deficient diets with RP-MLH tended to increase milk true protein concentration; however, RP-MLH had limited effects on production performance, apparent totaltract digestibility of nutrients, and urinary excretion of N metabolites in lactating dairy cows. Furthermore, we did not observe any treatment effects on emissions of CO₂ and enteric CH₄, as well as heat production and energy losses as CH₄. Further research is needed to compare MPadequate diets and MP-deficient diets containing fibrous byproducts and RP-fat on production performance and balance of N and energy in lactating dairy cows.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Partial funding was provided by the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station (Durham, NH; Scientific Contribution Number 2809). This work was also supported by the USDA-National Institute of Food and Agriculture Hatch Multistate NC-2042 (Project Number NH00616-R; Project Accession Number 1001855). The authors extend their gratitude to Ajinomoto Co. Inc. (Kawasaki-shi, Japan) for plasma AA analyses and donating the Ajinomoto prototype RP-His supplement. We are grateful to the University of New Hampshire undergraduate students Nicole Dattolico, Cassandra Sleboda, Alyssa Boyd, Alexia Gianoulis, and Amanda Patev for assistance during feeding and sampling. A special thanks to Jon

Whitehouse and his farm crew at the University of New Hampshire Fairchild Teaching and

Research Center for research support and excellent animal care.

REFERENCES

- Allen, M., B. Bradford, and M. Oba. 2009. Board-invited review: The hepatic oxidation theory of the control of feed intake and its application to ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 87:3317-3334.
- Allen, M. S. 2000. Effects of diet on short-term regulation of feed intake by lactating dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1598-1624.
- Allen, M. S. and P. Piantoni. 2013. Metabolic control of feed intake: Implications for metabolic disease of fresh cows. Vet. Clin. Food Anim. Pract. 29:279-297.
- Bayat, A., A. Guinguina, and P. Huhtanen. 2019. Potential of CO₂ measurements for ranking of cows for feed efficiency. in ADSA. Cincinnati, Ohio.
- Bequette, B., M. Hanigan, A. G. Calder, C. Reynolds, G. Lobley, and J. MacRae. 2000. Amino acid exchange by the mammary gland of lactating goats when histidine limits milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 83:765-775.
- Boerman, J., S. Potts, M. VandeHaar, and A. Lock. 2015. Effects of partly replacing dietary starch with fiber and fat on milk production and energy partitioning. J. Dairy Sci. 98:7264-7276.
- Boldyrev, A. A., G. Aldini, and W. Derave. 2013. Physiology and pathophysiology of carnosine. Physiol. Rev. 93:1803-1845.
- Broderick, G. 2003. Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1370-1381.
- Broderick, G., M. Stevenson, and R. Patton. 2009. Effect of dietary protein concentration and degradability on response to rumen-protected methionine in lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 92:2719-2728.
- Broderick, G. A. and M. K. Clayton. 1997. A statistical evaluation of animal and nutritional factors influencing concentrations of milk urea nitrogen. J. Dairy Sci. 80:2964-2971.
- Cant, J., E. DePeters, and R. Baldwin. 1993. Mammary uptake of energy metabolites in dairy cows fed fat and its relationship to milk protein depression. J. Dairy Sci. 76:2254-2265.
- Castillo, A., E. Kebreab, D. Beever, and J. France. 2000. A review of efficiency of nitrogen utilisation in lactating dairy cows and its relationship with environmental pollution. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 9:1-32.
- Chen, X., Y. Chen, M. Franklin, E. Orskov, and W. Shand. 1992. The effect of feed intake and body weight on purine derivative excretion and microbial protein supply in sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 70:1534-1542.
- Chirgwin, D. L., N. L. Whitehouse, A. F. Brito, C. G. Schwab, and B. K. Sloan. 2015. Evolving the plasma free AA dose-response technique to determine bioavailability of Met in RP-Met supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 98(suppl. 2):144.
- Cochran, R., D. Adams, J. Wallace, and M. Galyean. 1986. Predicting digestibility of different diets with internal markers: evaluation of four potential markers. J. Anim. Sci. 63:1476-1483.

- Cunningham, K., M. Cecava, and T. Johnson. 1993. Nutrient digestion, nitrogen, and amino acid flows in lactating cows fed soybean hulls in place of forage or concentrate1. J. Dairy Sci. 76:3523-3535.
- Dorich, C., R. K. Varner, A. Pereira, R. Martineau, K. Soder, and A. F. Brito. 2015. Use of a portable, automated, open-circuit gas quantification system and the sulfur hexafluoride tracer technique for measuring enteric methane emissions in Holstein cows fed ad libitum or restricted. J. Dairy Sci. 98:2676-2681.
- Erickson, P. S., M. R. Murphy, and J. Clark. 1992. Supplementation of dairy cow diets with calcium salts of long-chain fatty acids and nicotinic acid in early lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 75:1078-1089.
- Fredin, S., M. Akins, L. Ferraretto, and R. Shaver. 2015a. Effects of corn-based diet starch content and neutral detergent fiber source on lactation performance, digestibility, and bacterial protein flow in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:554-565.
- Fredin, S., L. Ferraretto, M. Akins, S. Bertics, and R. Shaver. 2015b. Effects of corn-based diet starch content and corn particle size on lactation performance, digestibility, and bacterial protein flow in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:541-553.
- Giallongo, F., M. Harper, J. Oh, J. Lopes, H. Lapierre, R. Patton, C. Parys, I. Shinzato, and A. Hristov. 2016. Effects of rumen-protected methionine, lysine, and histidine on lactation performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:4437-4452.
- Hammond, K. J., A. Jones, D. J. Humphries, L. A. Crompton, and C. K. Reynolds. 2016. Effects of diet forage source and neutral detergent fiber content on milk production of dairy cattle and methane emissions determined using GreenFeed and respiration chamber techniques. J. Dairy Sci. 99:7904-7917.
- Harper, M., J. Oh, F. Giallongo, G. W. Roth, and A. N. Hristov. 2017. Inclusion of wheat and triticale silage in the diet of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100:6151-6163.
- Holter, J., J. Byrne, and C. Schwab. 1982. Crude Protein for High Milk Production1. J. Dairy Sci. 65:1175-1188.
- Huhtanen, P., K. Kaustell, and S. Jaakkola. 1994. The use of internal markers to predict total digestibility and duodenal flow of nutrients in cattle given six different diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 48:211-227.
- Ipharraguerre, I. and J. Clark. 2003. Soyhulls as an alternative feed for lactating dairy cows: a review. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1052-1073.
- Judy, J., G. Bachman, T. Brown-Brandl, S. C. Fernando, K. Hales, P. S. Miller, R. Stowell, and P. Kononoff. 2019. Reducing methane production with corn oil and calcium sulfate: Responses on whole-animal energy and nitrogen balance in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 102:2054-2067.
- Kauffman, A. and N. St-Pierre. 2001. The relationship of milk urea nitrogen to urine nitrogen excretion in Holstein and Jersey cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84:2284-2294.
- Kim, B. G. and H. H. Stein. 2009. A spreadsheet program for making a balanced Latin square design. Rev. Colomb. Cienc. Pec. 22:591-596.
- Lapierre, H., D. Pacheco, R. Berthiaume, D. Ouellet, C. Schwab, P. Dubreuil, G. Holtrop, and G. Lobley. 2006. What is the true supply of amino acids for a dairy cow? J. Dairy Sci. 89:E1-E14.
- Lee, C., A. Hristov, T. Cassidy, K. Heyler, H. Lapierre, G. Varga, M. De Veth, R. Patton, and C. Parys. 2012. Rumen-protected lysine, methionine, and histidine increase milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6042-6056.

- Lee, C., A. Hristov, K. Heyler, T. Cassidy, M. Long, B. Corl, and S. Karnati. 2011. Effects of dietary protein concentration and coconut oil supplementation on nitrogen utilization and production in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94:5544-5557.
- Mathews, A., J. Rico, N. Sprenkle, A. Lock, and J. McFadden. 2016. Increasing palmitic acid intake enhances milk production and prevents glucose-stimulated fatty acid disappearance without modifying systemic glucose tolerance in mid-lactation dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99:8802-8816.
- Maynard, L. M., G. A. Boissonneault, C. K. Chow, and G. G. Bruckner. 2001. High levels of dietary carnosine are associated with increased concentrations of carnosine and histidine in rat soleus muscle. J. Nutr. 131:287-290.
- Nielsen, N., H. Volden, M. Åkerlind, M. Brask, A. L. F. Hellwing, T. Storlien, and J. Bertilsson. 2013. A prediction equation for enteric methane emission from dairy cows for use in NorFor. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science 63:126-130.
- Oba, M. and M. Allen. 2003a. Effects of corn grain conservation method on feeding behavior and productivity of lactating dairy cows at two dietary starch concentrations. J. Dairy Sci. 86:174-183.
- Oba, M. and M. Allen. 2003b. Effects of diet fermentability on efficiency of microbial nitrogen production in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:195-207.
- Olmos Colmenero, J. and G. Broderick. 2006. Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on milk production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1704-1712.
- Omphalius, C., H. Lapierre, J. Guinard-Flament, P. Lamberton, L. Bahloul, and S. Lemosquet. 2019. Amino acid efficiencies of utilization vary by different mechanisms in response to energy and protein supplies in dairy cows: Study at mammary-gland and whole-body levels. J. Dairy Sci. 102:9883-9901.
- Omphalius, C., S. Lemosquet, D. Ouellet, L. Bahloul, and H. Lapierre. 2020. Postruminal infusions of amino acids or glucose affect metabolisms of splanchnic, mammary, and other peripheral tissues and drive amino acid use in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 103:2233-2254.
- Piantoni, P., A. Lock, and M. Allen. 2013. Palmitic acid increased yields of milk and milk fat and nutrient digestibility across production level of lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:7143-7154.
- Rabiee, A., K. Breinhild, W. Scott, H. Golder, E. Block, and I. Lean. 2012. Effect of fat additions to diets of dairy cattle on milk production and components: A meta-analysis and meta-regression. J. Dairy Sci. 95:3225-3247.
- Rius, A., M. McGilliard, C. Umberger, and M. Hanigan. 2010. Interactions of energy and predicted metabolizable protein in determining nitrogen efficiency in the lactating dairy cow. J. Dairy Sci. 93:2034-2043.
- Schepers, A. and R. Meijer. 1998. Evaluation of the utilization of dietary nitrogen by dairy cows based on urea concentration in milk. J. Dairy Sci. 81:579-584.
- Schwab, C., P. Huhtanen, C. Hunt, and T. Hvelplund. 2005. Nitrogen requirements of cattle. Pages 13-70 in Nitrogen and Phosphorus Nutrition of Cattle and Environment. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Urrutia, N., R. Bomberger, C. Matamoros, and K. J. Harvatine. 2019. Effect of dietary supplementation of sodium acetate and calcium butyrate on milk fat synthesis in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 102:5172-5181.

- Valadares, R., G. Broderick, S. Valadares Filho, and M. Clayton. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives1. J. Dairy Sci. 82:2686-2696.
- van Knegsel, A., H. van den Brand, J. Dijkstra, W. van Straalen, M. Heetkamp, S. Tamminga, and B. Kemp. 2007. Dietary energy source in dairy cows in early lactation: energy partitioning and milk composition. J. Dairy Sci. 90:1467-1476.
- West, J. W. 2003. Effects of heat-stress on production in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 86:2131-2144.
- Wildman, E., G. Jones, P. Wagner, R. Boman, H. Troutt, and T. Lesch. 1982. A dairy cow body condition scoring system and its relationship to selected production characteristics. J. Dairy Sci. 65:495-501.
- Williams, E. 1949. Experimental designs balanced for the estimation of residual effects of treatments. Aust. J. Chem. 2:149-168.
- Wu, Z. and J. Huber. 1994. Relationship between dietary fat supplementation and milk protein concentration in lactating cows: a review. Livest. Prod. Sci. 39:141-155.
- Yoder, P., X. Huang, I. Teixeira, J. Cant, and M. Hanigan. 2020. Effects of jugular infused methionine, lysine, and histidine as a group or leucine and isoleucine as a group on production and metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci.
- Zang, Y., S. S. Samii, W. Myers, H. Bailey, A. Davis, E. Grilli, and J. McFadden. 2019. Methyl donor supplementation suppresses the progression of liver lipid accumulation while modifying the plasma triacylglycerol lipidome in periparturient Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 102:1224-1236.

Item	Corn silage	Haylage ¹	Grass hay	Ground corn	Soyhulls	AminoMax ²	Soybean Meal	Urea
No. of samples	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
DM, % of fresh matter	29.9 ± 1.17	34.0 ± 0.67	82.1 ± 0.57	81.5 ± 1.90	86.2 ± 1.98	82.8 ± 1.23	85.3 ± 1.61	99.7 ± 0.17
СР	7.93 ± 0.05	16.5 ± 0.78	9.35 ± 0.66	8.80 ± 0.08	17.5 ± 1.27	43.6 ± 0.21	52.6 ± 0.29	290 ± 1.82
aNDF	41.8 ± 1.35	54.4 ± 1.45	67.3 ± 1.61	8.60 ± 0.61	53.4 ± 2.51	24.8 ± 0.50	10.8 ± 0.96	NA ³
ADF	24.7 ± 1.12	36.7 ± 1.26	42.2 ± 0.94	2.33 ± 0.26	39.2 ± 2.10	17.6 ± 0.75	7.85 ± 0.66	NA
Lignin	4.15 ± 0.74	7.20 ± 0.66	6.28 ± 0.50	1.05 ± 0.37	3.60 ± 1.55	7.38 ± 0.53	2.25 ± 1.57	NA
$\rm NFC^4$	42.7 ± 1.44	15.9 ± 0.97	16.8 ± 0.73	77.2 ± 1.20	17.1 ± 2.57	17.4 ± 0.80	27.4 ± 0.79	NA
Starch	34.3 ± 1.00	1.75 ± 0.30	0.50 ± 0.29	70.3 ± 1.83	2.95 ± 1.27	1.43 ± 0.30	1.23 ± 0.17	NA
Ether extract	3.70 ± 0.14	4.75 ± 0.26	1.95 ± 0.24	4.20 ± 0.22	7.05 ± 0.85	6.15 ± 0.54	1.30 ± 0.14	NA
NE _L , Mcal/kg of DM	1.62 ± 0.05	1.28 ± 0.03	1.03 ± 0.03	2.10 ± 0.01	1.72 ± 0.11	1.72 ± 0.04	1.78 ± 0.03	NA
Ash	3.86 ± 0.20	8.49 ± 0.82	4.65 ± 0.46	1.22 ± 0.43	5.09 ± 1.01	8.10 ± 0.73	7.94 ± 0.57	NA
Ca	0.17 ± 0.01	0.82 ± 0.04	0.40 ± 0.04	0.01 ± 0.01	0.51 ± 0.03	0.67 ± 0.01	0.58 ± 0.05	NA
Р	0.32 ± 0.01	0.35 ± 0.03	0.23 ± 0.01	0.32 ± 0.01	0.26 ± 0.01	1.00 ± 0.02	0.80 ± 0.02	NA
Mg	0.16 ± 0.01	0.27 ± 0.03	0.19 ± 0.02	0.11 ± 0.01	0.27 ± 0.01	0.52 ± 0.01	0.33 ± 0.01	NA
Κ	1.10 ± 0.05	2.56 ± 0.25	1.60 ± 0.20	0.40 ± 0.02	1.50 ± 0.10	1.74 ± 0.03	2.44 ± 0.05	NA
Na	0.01 ± 0.00	0.06 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	NA
S	0.11 ± 0.00	0.24 ± 0.02	0.15 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.00	0.18 ± 0.01	0.82 ± 0.02	0.43 ± 0.01	NA
Fe, mg/kg of DM	141 ± 20.7	248 ± 76.5	94.3 ± 20.5	40.0 ± 5.23	399 ± 25.6	177 ± 7.62	90.8 ± 6.65	NA
Zn, mg/kg of DM	22.5 ± 1.29	27.5 ± 1.73	25.8 ± 1.26	21.3 ± 0.96	51.8 ± 2.22	58.5 ± 1.73	49.0 ± 0.82	NA
Cu, mg/kg of DM	5.00 ± 2.00	5.25 ± 0.50	5.00 ± 0.82	0.00 ± 0.00	6.25 ± 0.50	8.50 ± 0.58	13.3 ± 0.50	NA
Mn, mg/kg of DM	13.5 ± 1.29	34.8 ± 4.99	49.8 ± 4.65	5.00 ± 0.00	19.3 ± 0.96	55.3 ± 1.26	36.3 ± 1.26	NA
Mo, mg/kg of DM	0.80 ± 0.00	4.85 ± 0.68	2.03 ± 0.13	0.70 ± 0.29	1.70 ± 0.54	3.08 ± 0.25	4.75 ± 0.42	NA

 Table 4.1. Nutrient composition of dietary ingredients (mean ± SD) used in the experimental diets (% of DM, unless otherwise noted)

 Souhean

¹Haylage = mixed mostly grass-legume haylage. ²AminoMax = a mix of soybean meal and canola meal.

 $^{3}NA = not analyzed.$

 4 NFC = 100 - (CP% + aNDF% + ether extract% + ash%).

Item	Corn silage	Haylage ¹	Grass hay	Ground corn	Soyhulls	AminoMax ²	Soybean Meal
EAA, % CP							
Arg	1.88	3.71	4.73	4.53	6.13	6.56	7.27
His	1.32	1.77	1.89	2.83	2.68	2.77	2.67
Ile	4.71	5.30	4.89	3.74	4.66	4.67	4.83
Leu	12.1	9.10	8.83	12.1	7.59	7.74	7.91
Lys	2.45	5.21	5.68	3.51	6.96	5.90	6.51
Met	2.07	1.94	1.89	2.04	1.40	1.89	1.42
Phe	4.52	5.83	5.68	4.98	4.85	4.77	5.32
Thr	3.20	4.77	4.89	3.51	3.83	4.31	3.90
Trp	0.56	0.97	0.95	0.68	0.89	1.37	1.46
Val	6.21	6.89	6.47	4.98	4.98	5.41	4.98
NEAA, %							
CP							
Ala	13.2	8.66	7.10	7.47	4.59	4.67	4.41
Asp	5.27	9.72	10.3	7.02	10.5	9.08	11.3
Cys	1.69	1.15	1.42	2.27	1.79	2.31	1.46
Gly	5.27	5.74	5.68	3.96	6.38	5.13	4.32
Glu	12.8	9.81	11.4	18.5	15.1	18.4	18.2
Orn	0.19	0.62	0.16	0.11	0.06	0.05	0.08
Pro	7.91	5.65	6.15	8.83	5.36	6.17	5.15
Ser	3.01	3.80	4.26	4.53	4.72	4.12	4.30
Try	2.07	3.27	2.52	2.72	3.83	3.43	3.92
Tau	2.07	1.06	2.05	1.25	1.08	0.25	0.19

Table 4.2. Amino acid composition of dietary ingredients used in the experimental diets (n = 1 composited sample per feedstuff)

¹Haylage = mixed-mostly grass-legume haylage. ²AminoMax = a mix of soybean meal and canola meal.

	Diet ¹				
Item	HS	RSF			
Ingredient, % of DM					
Corn silage	40.0	40.0			
Grass Haylage	5.00	5.00			
Grass Hay	5.00	5.00			
Ground corn	26.1	10.0			
Soyhulls	7.04	22.0			
AminoMax	8.00	8.01			
Soybean meal	5.81	5.59			
Mineral mix ³	2.00	2.00			
BergaFat F100 ²	-	1.50			
Urea	0.54	0.46			
Sodium bicarbonate	0.50	0.50			
Nutrient composition					
DM, % of fresh matter	46.7	47.0			
СР	15.9	16.8			
aNDF	31.4	38.0			
Forage NDF	22.8	22.8			
ADF	19.1	24.5			
$\rm NFC^4$	46.1	36.6			
Starch	32.6	21.7			
Ether extract	4.00	5.90			
NE _L , Mcal/kg DM	1.53	1.59			
Ca	0.60	0.60			
Р	0.40	0.40			

Table 4.3. Ingredient and nutrient composition (% of DM, unless otherwise noted) of the experimental diets

 1 HS = high-starch diet, RSF = reduced-starch + RP-fat diet.

²BergaFat F100 is a product containing 80% palmitic acid (Berg+Schmidt America, LLC, Libertyville, IL).

³Mineral and vitamin mix contained (as-fed basis): 269 mg/kg of monensin sodium, 13.8% Ca, 1% P, 11% Na, 5.50% Mg, 16 mg/kg of Co, 180 mg/kg of Cu, 8.4 mg/kg of Se, 1,280 mg/kg of Zn, 24.0 kIU/kg of vitamin A, 6.64 kIU/kg of vitamin D 3, and 0.29 kIU/kg of vitamin E. ⁴NFC = 100 - (CP% + aNDF% + ether extract% + ash%).

	Treatment ³							
Item ²	HS	HS/MLH	RSF	RSF/MLH				
NE _L , Mcal/d								
Requirement	43.6	43.6	43.5	43.5				
Supply	44.3	44.5	45.9	45.9				
Balance	0.7	1.0	2.4	2.4				
MP, g/d								
Requirement	3,154	3,160	3,148	3,148				
Supply	3,062	3,084	3,121	3,121				
Balance	-92	-76	-27	-27				
RDP, g/d								
Requirement	2,814	2,830	2,846	2,846				
Supply	2,909	2,925	3,007	3,007				
Balance	94	95	162	162				
RUP, g/d								
Requirement	1,827	1,822	1,817	1,817				
Supply	1,714	1,729	1,836	1,836				
Balance	-113	-94	-34	-34				
dHis, ² g/d								
Requirement ³	69	70	69	69				
Supply from the diet	66	66	67	67				
Supply from RP-His	0	3	0	3				
Balance	-3	0	-2	1				
dMet, ² g/d								
Requirement ³	69	70	69	69				
Supply from the diet	58	59	58	58				
Supply from RP-Met	0	7	0	7				
Balance	-11	-4	-11	-4				
dLys, ² g/d								
Requirement ³	208	208	208	208				
Supply	202	202	209	209				
Supply from RP-Lys	0	2	0	2				
Balance	-6	-4	1	3				

Table 4.4. NRC (2001) evaluation of the experimental diets with different energy sources (corn starch vs. RP-fat) with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹RP-MLH = 12 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 9 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 15 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan).

²All values were estimated using the NRC (2001) model with actual DMI and nutrient composition of dietary ingredients during the experiment and milk yield and components before the experiment.

 3 HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high-starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RSF = reduced starch + RP-fat diet, and RSF/MLH = reduced-starch + RP-fat diet supplemented with RP-MLH. 3 Requiements of dHis, dMet, and dLys were calculated as 2.2, 2.2, and 6.6% of MP requirements, respectively.

	Treatment ²				· · ·	<i>P</i> -value ³		
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RSF	RSF/MLH	SEM	ES	MLH	$\text{ES} \times \text{MLH}$
DMI, kg/d	29.0	29.2	28.9	28.9	0.66	0.45	0.66	0.62
Milk yield, kg/d	44.6	45.0	45.6	44.8	1.18	0.17	0.52	0.07
Milk yield/DMI, kg/kg	1.54	1.54	1.58	1.56	0.04	0.03	0.39	0.33
4% FCM, ⁴ kg/d	40.1	40.0	42.7	43.0	1.32	< 0.001	0.84	0.70
4% FCM/DMI, kg/kg	1.38	1.37	1.47	1.49	0.03	< 0.001	0.88	0.42
ECM, ⁵ kg/d	45.0	44.6	46.8	47.1	14.0	< 0.001	0.96	0.45
ECM/DMI, kg/kg	1.53	1.53	1.61	1.63	0.03	< 0.001	0.70	0.55
Milk fat, %	3.40	3.29	3.59	3.66	0.11	< 0.001	0.62	0.04
Milk fat, kg/d	1.52	1.47	1.64	1.65	0.06	< 0.001	0.48	0.15
Milk true protein, %	3.15	3.19	3.09	3.11	0.03	< 0.001	0.06	0.85
Milk true protein, kg/d	1.41	1.42	1.40	1.41	0.04	0.65	0.36	0.82
Milk lactose, %	4.99	4.99	4.95	4.93	0.03	< 0.01	0.49	0.26
Milk lactose, kg/d	2.22	2.24	2.26	2.23	0.06	0.53	0.85	0.46
Milk TS, %	12.5	12.4	12.6	12.6	0.12	< 0.001	0.96	0.14
Milk TS, kg/d	5.56	5.54	5.72	5.72	0.16	< 0.01	0.91	0.85
SCC, ×1,000 cells/mL	47.9	45.6	45.2	53.0	15.7	0.68	0.63	0.35
Milk N, % of N intake	30.4	30.7	28.9	29.2	0.61	< 0.001	0.38	0.99
MUN, mg/dL	12.0	12.2	14.7	15.0	0.41	< 0.001	0.33	0.90
PUN, mg/dL	12.4	12.1	15.4	15.7	0.46	< 0.001	1.00	0.29
BCS	3.13	3.14	3.08	3.11	0.09	0.15	0.39	0.70
BW, kg	776	779	773	775	12.3	0.16	0.20	0.73
BW change, kg/d	0.69	0.96	0.52	0.76	0.15	0.21	0.09	0.91

Table 4.5. Dry matter intake, milk yield and composition, plasma urea N (PUN), BCS, and BW in lactating dairy cows fed different energy sources (corn starch vs. RP-fat) with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹RP-MLH = 12 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 9 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 15 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high-starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RSF = reduced starch + RP-fat diet, and RSF/MLH = reduced-starch + RP-fat diet supplemented with RP-MLH. ^{3}ES = main effect of energy source (corn starch vs. RP-fat), MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and ES × MLH = interaction between energy source and RP-MLH. ⁴4% FCM = $(0.4 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (15 \times \text{kg of milk fat})$; Gaines and Davidson (1923).

 ${}^{5}\text{ECM} = (0.327 \times \text{kg of milk}) + (12.95 \times \text{kg of milk fat}) + (7.65 \times \text{kg of milk protein});$ Tyrrell and Reid (1965).

	1	Treat	ment ²	/	<i>P</i> -value ³			
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RSF	RSF/MLH	SEM	ES	MLH	$\text{ES} \times \text{MLH}$
ΕΑΑ, μ <i>Μ</i>								
Arg	76.0	73.1	81.6	83.4	3.33	< 0.01	0.86	0.41
His	56.0	57.5	49.8	56.4	3.02	0.06	0.04	0.18
Ile	122	114	134	130	5.56	< 0.001	0.11	0.62
Leu	145	142	134	132	7.74	< 0.01	0.56	0.99
Lys	80.8	78.8	83.7	88.0	4.17	0.08	0.74	0.35
Met	25.6	31.7	25.2	32.6	1.16	0.78	< 0.001	0.55
Phe	49.2	49.2	46.5	47.9	1.71	0.09	0.54	0.54
Thr	101	90.6	104	102	4.28	0.05	0.08	0.27
Trp	49.9	48.1	48.8	49.2	1.55	0.99	0.57	0.37
Val	248	244	261	252	10.9	0.09	0.29	0.71
NEAA, μM								
Ala	262	261	279	283	13.3	0.02	0.90	0.79
Asn	48.3	43.6	48.5	48.6	1.80	0.15	0.19	0.19
Asp	3.44	3.32	3.23	3.30	0.17	0.41	0.85	0.51
Gln	290	283	275	274	9.11	0.12	0.59	0.68
Glu	37.4	38.9	38.9	40.2	1.82	0.26	0.28	0.93
Gly	315	302	339	312	19.1	0.14	0.07	0.54
Pro	90.5	90.6	87.7	87.1	3.85	0.32	0.94	0.90
Ser	79.5	75.1	74.0	72.6	2.20	0.07	0.19	0.50
Tau	36.6	39.1	33.1	38.6	1.56	0.08	0.001	0.19
Tyr	51.8	48.9	50.8	51.8	2.78	0.56	0.54	0.20
Sum and ratio of A	AA							
$\sum EAA, \mu M$	953	930	975	974	35.3	0.13	0.58	0.61
\sum NEAA, μM	1,212	1,166	1,230	1,210	35.9	0.24	0.22	0.62
Total AA, ⁴ μM	2,178	2,092	2,201	2,184	50.5	0.19	0.24	0.42
Lys:Met	3.17	2.54	3.45	2.72	0.13	< 0.01	< 0.001	0.59
Carnosine, µM	19.3	18.5	17.6	17.8	0.87	0.01	0.55	0.33

Table 4.6. Concentrations of plasma AA and carnosine in lactating dairy cows fed different energy sources (corn starch vs. RP-fat) with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹RP-MLH = 12 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 9 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 15 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). ²HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high-starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RSF = reduced starch + RP-fat diet, and RSF/MLH = reduced-starch + RP-fat diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{3}ES$ = main effect of energy source (corn starch vs. RP-fat), MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and ES × MLH = interaction between energy source and RP-MLH.

 4 Total AA = EAA + NEAA.

	Treatment ²				,		<i>P</i> -value ³	
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RSF	RSF/MLH	SEM	ES	MLH	$\text{ES} \times \text{MLH}$
Apparent total-tract digestibility								
DM	66.6	66.8	66.9	67.0	0.52	0.60	0.77	0.94
OM	67.7	67.7	67.7	67.9	0.52	0.78	0.86	0.88
СР	66.7	67.2	68.0	68.2	0.65	0.03	0.56	0.81
aNDF	43.2	42.1	48.9	49.5	1.22	< 0.001	0.76	0.29
ADF	49.5	49.8	54.5	54.3	1.22	< 0.001	0.92	0.82
Urinary excretion								
Creatinine, mM	6.96	6.88	5.57	5.56	0.21	< 0.001	0.77	0.82
Volume, L/d	29.1	29.4	35.9	36.6	1.15	< 0.001	0.58	0.84
Urea-N, g/d	188	181	238	240	6.21	< 0.001	0.58	0.25
Total-N, g/d	284	273	336	334	7.25	< 0.001	0.18	0.37
Urea-N, % Total-N	66.6	66.1	71.8	72.1	1.03	< 0.001	0.93	0.67
Urea-N, % N intake	25.6	24.7	30.8	31.1	0.85	< 0.001	0.57	0.23
Total-N, % N intake	38.7	37.2	43.6	43.2	0.99	< 0.001	0.18	0.43
Uric acid, mmol/d	132	131	134	138	5.64	0.09	0.50	0.28
Allantoin, mmol/d	342	334	345	343	9.97	0.34	0.46	0.65
PD, mmol/d	472	465	479	481	13.8	0.14	0.70	0.53

Table 4.7. Apparent total-tract digestibility of nutrients and urinary excretion of nitrogenous compounds in lactating dairy cows fed different energy sources (corn starch vs. RP-fat) with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH¹)

¹RP-MLH = 12 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 9 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 15 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan).

 2 HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high-starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RSF = reduced starch + RP-fat diet, and RSF/MLH = reduced-starch + RP-fat diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{3}ES = main effect of energy source (corn starch vs. RP-fat), MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and ES × MLH = interaction between energy source and RP-MLH.$

Table 4.8. Consumption of oxygen (O_2), emissions of carbon dioxide (CO_2) and methane (CH_4)¹, CH_4 energy, and heat production in lactating dairy cows fed different energy sources (corn starch vs. RP-fat) with or without rumen-protected Met, Lys, and His (RP-MLH²)

	Treatment ³				_		<i>P</i> -value ⁴	
Item	HS	HS/MLH	RSF	RS/MLH	SEM	ES	MLH	$\text{ES} \times \text{MLH}$
O_2 , kg/d	12.6	12.6	12.8	13.0	0.25	0.14	0.72	0.71
CO ₂ , kg/d	16.2	16.3	16.0	16.2	0.33	0.30	0.52	0.73
CH ₄ , g/d	530	530	536	539	24.5	0.63	0.93	0.92
CH ₄ , g/kg of DMI	18.3	18.3	18.5	18.7	0.72	0.55	0.85	0.87
CH4, g/kg of ECM	11.9	11.8	11.4	11.4	0.47	0.25	0.95	0.89
CH ₄ energy, ⁵ Mcal/d	7.03	7.02	7.10	7.15	0.32	0.62	0.93	0.91
Heat production, ⁶ Mcal/d	37.9	38.1	37.3	37.7	0.74	0.28	0.56	0.75

¹Gases were measured using GreenFeed (C-Lock Technology Inc., Rapid City, SD). Data were derived from 8 individual measurements over 4-d period.

 2 RP-MLH = 12 g/d of RP-Met (Smartamine® M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA), 9 g/d of RP-Lys (AjiPro®-L; Ajinomoto Heartland, Inc., Eddyville, IA), and 15 g/d of RP-His (a prototype supplement; Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Kawasaki-shi, Japan). 3 HS = high starch diet, HS/MLH = high-starch diet supplemented with RP-MLH, RSF = reduced starch + RP-fat diet, and RSF/MLH = reduced-starch + RP-fat diet supplemented with RP-MLH.

 ${}^{4}ES$ = main effect of energy source (corn starch vs. RP-fat), MLH = main effect of RP-MLH supplementation, and ES × MLH = interaction between energy source and RP-MLH.

 ${}^{5}CH_{4}$ energy = CH₄ × 13.18 kcal/g (Judy et al, 2019).

⁶Heat production (MJ/d) = $0.0184 \times \text{QCO}_2 (\text{L/d}) + 7.50$ (Bayat et al., 2019).

APPENDIX I: THE IACUC APPROVAL FOR CHAPTER II

University of New Hampshire

Research Integrity Services, Service Building 51 College Road, Durham, NH 03824-3585 Fax: 603-862-3564

10-Mar-2017

Brito, Andre Fonseca De Biological Sciences Keener Dairy Research Durham, NH 03824

IACUC #: 170202 Project: Utilization of Endogenous Histidine Reserves in Dairy Cows Fed a Metabolizable Protein-Deficient Diet Approval Date: 23-Feb-2017

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) reviewed and approved the protocol submitted for this study under Category D on Page 5 of the Application for Review of Vertebrate Animal Use in Research or Instruction - *Animal use activities that involve accompanying pain or distress to the animals for which appropriate anesthetic, analgesic, tranquilizing drugs or other methods for relieving pain or distress are used.*

Approval is granted for a period of three years from the approval date above. Continued approval throughout the three year period is contingent upon completion of annual reports on the use of animals. At the end of the three year approval period you may submit a new application and request for extension to continue this project. Requests for extension must be filed prior to the expiration of the original approval.

Please Note:

- 1. All cage, pen, or other animal identification records must include your IACUC # listed above.
- Use of animals in research and instruction is approved contingent upon participation in the UNH Occupational Health Program for persons handling animals. Participation is mandatory for all principal investigators and their affiliated personnel, employees of the University and students alike. Information about the program, including forms, is available at http://unh.edu/research/occupational-health-program-animal-handlers.

If you have any questions, please contact me at 862-4629 or Julie Simpson at 862-2003.

For the IACUC ean Elder, D.V.M. Vice Chair

cc: File
APPENDIX II: THE IACUC APPROVAL FOR CHAPTER III

University of New Hampshire

Research Integrity Services, Service Building 51 College Road, Durham, NH 03824-3585 Fax: 603-862-3564

10-Apr-2018

Brito, Andre Fonseca De ANFS Keener Dairy Research Durham, NH 03824

IACUC #: 180305 Project: Feeding Rumen-Protected Amino Acids to Lactating Dairy Cows Given Diets with Different Energy Density Approval Date: 22-Mar-2018

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) reviewed and approved the protocol submitted for this study under pain or distress category C - *the research potentially involves minor short-term pain, discomfort or distress which will be treated with appropriate anesthetics/analgesics or other assessments.*

Approval is granted for a period of three years from the approval date above. Continued approval throughout the three year period is contingent upon completion of annual reports on the use of animals. At the end of the three year approval period you may submit a new application and request for extension to continue this project. Requests for extension must be filed prior to the expiration of the original approval.

Please Note:

- 1. All cage, pen, or other animal identification records must include your IACUC # listed above.
- Use of animals in research and instruction is approved contingent upon participation in the UNH Occupational Health Program for persons handling animals. Participation is mandatory for all principal investigators and their affiliated personnel, employees of the University and students alike. Information about the program, including forms, is available at http://unh.edu/research/occupational-health-program-animal-handlers.

If you have any questions, please contact either Dean Elder at 862-4629 or Julie Simpson at 862-2003.

For the IACUC,

suca Balle Jessica A. Bolker, Ph.D.

Chair

cc: File

APPENDIX III: THE IACUC APPROVAL FOR CHAPTER IV

University of New Hampshire

Research Integrity Services, Service Building 51 College Road, Durham, NH 03824-3585 Fax: 603-862-3564

19-Feb-2019

Brito, Andre Fonseca De Agriculture, Nutrition, & Food Systems Keener Dairy Research Building Durham, NH 03824

IACUC #: 190202 Project: Interactions between Rumen-Protected Amino Acids and Energy Source on Milk Production in Dairy Cows. Approval Date: 18-Feb-2019

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) reviewed and approved the protocol submitted for this study under Category C in Section V of the Application for Review of Vertebrate Animal Use in Research or Instruction - *the research potentially involves minor short-term pain, discomfort or distress which will be treated with appropriate anesthetics/analgesics or other assessments.*

Approval is granted for a period of three years from the approval date above. Continued approval throughout the three year period is contingent upon completion of annual reports on the use of animals. At the end of the three year approval period you may submit a new application and request for extension to continue this project. Requests for extension must be filed prior to the expiration of the original approval.

Please Note:

- 1. All cage, pen, or other animal identification records must include your IACUC # listed above.
- Use of animals in research and instruction is approved contingent upon participation in the UNH Occupational Health Program for persons handling animals. Participation is mandatory for all principal investigators and their affiliated personnel, employees of the University and students alike. Information about the program, including forms, is available at http://unh.edu/research/occupational-health-program-animal-handlers.

If you have any questions, please contact either Dean Elder at 862-4629 or Julie Simpson at 862-2003.

For the IACUC, Rebellon Nowe

Rebecca Rowe, Ph.D. Chair

cc: File